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Message from the CEO
Toward the end of the year, the finalization of our first new-build

Dear stakeholder,

facility at Le Quesnoy, France was swiftly followed by our
announcement of plans to strengthen our bottling operation in Fort
Gibson, Oklahoma with expanded production capacity and the

2019 was the year we began delivering on the

addition of 75 new jobs.

strong foundations we set in place in 2018,

Investments in our physical infrastructure have gone hand in hand

bolstering Refresco’s strength from the bottom

with efforts to strengthen our wider organization and way of working.

line up to reflect its growth and scale, and

roles: Chief Commercial Officer (CCO) and Chief Procurement Officer

pushing us closer to the ambitions of our 2025

complexity of our business, driving coherent thinking both internally

strategy. The integration of the former Cott’s

beverage solutions. Refresco’s CCO also oversees our sustainability

bottling business is nearly complete; with

needs of our customers, as well as the needs of consumers and

Our newly appointed Executive Committee includes two brand new
(CPO). These positions will enable us to address the growing
and externally and moving us closer to becoming a provider of
strategy, aligning our internal efforts with the growing sustainability
society in general.

unprecedented strength across two continents,

our route to 2025 and beyond

we are now well-positioned to deliver unrivaled

As we near our 20-year anniversary in 2020, we are larger in scale and

value and choice to our customers.

embraces complexity, meets new market developments head on, and

more innovative and agile than ever. A cross-continental business that
succeeds in satisfying an ever-evolving range of customer and
consumer needs.

year 2019 in summary

At the same time, the beverage industry – and the world at large – is

We finished the second year of the Cott integration ahead of schedule

changing more rapidly than ever. Historically, our ability to respond to

and having outperformed each of the synergy targets put in place in

change is one of our key strengths and will remain crucial in the

early 2018. I am delighted to see these synergies already bearing

coming two decades and beyond. Consumers are increasingly

fruit. Innovation and insight drawn from our new colleagues are

interested to know more about the products they buy and where they

delivering benefits directly to our company and our customers.

come from. As a sizable company in the beverage value chain, we

Knowledge, best practice, and talent are flowing between new and
existing Refresco locations and teams.

want to drive the industry forward by taking a greater stand on issues

This important milestone reinforces our confidence in our Group’s

environmental, social or ethical – are ‘moving targets’ and it will be

regarding sustainability. Many of these variables – whether

proven ‘buy & build’ strategy. We continued to add new assets

imperative to respond to them in an agile way. When we look into the

throughout 2019, including the beverage concentrate facility and R&D

future, our ambition is to grow while safeguarding future generations.

platform in Columbus, Georgia, the Coca-Cola European Partners’

We have already invested to minimize our environmental impact.

Milton Keynes site in the UK and the two PepsiCo manufacturing sites

Lower-energy equipment and 'light-weighting’ of packaging, as well as

in Spain. Furthermore, we announced the acquisition of US-based

minimizing road transport are just some of the initiatives in place.

AZPACK, which was completed at the start of 2020, as well as the
intended purchase of Britvic's three juice bottling facilities in France.

‘Reduce & Recycle’ is our motto: we reduce the quantity of packaging

Meanwhile, we have been developing our existing assets, having

for deposit return schemes in every country where we operate, to

and increase the levels of recycled materials they contain. We strive

replaced and upgraded many of our manufacturing lines and added

collect used packaging. Already committed to sourcing juice from

several new lines across both continents.

sustainable sources by 2030, we are also discovering new ways to
provide improved traceability and transparency.
These qualities are reflected in our financial results for 2019, with our
gross profit margin higher than it has ever been. This profitability puts
us in an excellent position as we work toward our 2025 ambition of
becoming a unique beverage solutions provider to retailers and Abrands worldwide. We look forward to having you with us on the next
stage of our journey.

Hans Roelofs
Chief Executive Officer
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Market developments:
adapting to a fast-changing
landscape

they simply want something new and exciting. Product by product, the
industry is finding new ways to meet these expectations.
In particular, consumers show growing preference for beverages that
align with healthy, natural lifestyles, and are opting increasingly for
natural ingredients and low-calorie alternatives to familiar favorites.

Refresco has a central role in the international

Furthermore, words such as ‘traceability’ and ‘clean label’ are now an
everyday part of brand-buyer conversations.

beverages value chain. Our position and the

To keep up with consumers, retailers and branded beverage

close dialogues we maintain with customers

companies are also taking a more holistic view of how products are
created and exerting tighter control over the entire process, from the

and suppliers provide a unique vantage point to

sourcing of ingredients to the designing and packaging of products.

observe emerging trends and developments

“We are in a prime position
to benefit from these
trends”

within the industry, and to drive change and
adapt as needed. Below, we highlight some of
the most important developments we see taking

••

place.

complexity is the new norm

market dynamics

As consumer tastes have become more complex and fragmented, the

Refresco operates in a relatively low-growth soft drinks market where

beverage category is adapting and speeding up its approach to

cost leadership and scale provide substantial competitive

product development, driving complexity and innovation at the same

advantages. Through our ‘buy and build’ strategy, we have been able

time. Gone are the days of static categories and slow innovation. The

to significantly strengthen our position in existing markets, expand

industry is continuously introducing new products and so-called

into new markets and make selective investments that complement

Stock-Keeping Units (SKUs), and trialing these products in shorter

our existing product portfolio.

runs to test viability in the market, looking to diversify their total
product offering.

We focus on customers in retail and contract manufacturing which are
expected to outperform the overall soft drinks market. Consumers

Accordingly, the traditional run-up time to the supermarket shelf is

increasingly see retailer brands as a quality alternative to branded

shorter, requiring greater alignment between suppliers,

products. This provides an opportunity for retailers to differentiate

manufacturers, and retailers. Rather than quarters or years, the time

themselves from the competition and drive customer loyalty.

from first concept to market is now measured in months, and
sometimes even in weeks.

The outsourcing trend of international A-brands is gathering pace with
greater emphasis on innovation, more unique products, and different

With their increased need for flexibility, efficiency, and scalability,

formats, and consequently the ability to handle greater complexity.

branded beverage companies are reassessing their business models

When outsourcing, A-brands typically look for manufacturers that can

focusing on building their brands and their marketing proposition and

ensure the high quality standards, scale, and footprint needed to

moving away from asset ownership in favor of working with

meet their geographical and service level needs, together with

manufacturing partners. This offers potential for focused and

requirements related to manufacturing quality, reliability, and

experienced manufacturers, such as Refresco, that have the right

flexibility.

scale and scope to provide the production flexibility required to meet
these customer needs in multiple markets.

Following the acquisition and integration of the former Cott's bottling
activities, we are in a prime position both in North America and

towards sustainability

Europe to benefit from these market trends, and together they form a

Public engagement with sustainability issues has never been as

key element of our growth strategy.

vibrant as it was in 2019. While this presents new opportunities for
beverage providers they are also under ever-greater scrutiny to

consumers: new tastes, new demands

provide evidence of the sustainability and traceability of their

Today’s consumers expect more: more choice, more sustainable

products. Standing in front of the shelf, consumers are more

products, greater accountability, deeper scrutiny, and better value. Or

Annual Report 2019
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not satisfied with what is being done to improve sustainability in the
supply chain.
One of the most exciting ways consumers are helping the industry
move toward a more sustainable future concerns the use of product
packaging. Public awareness around the prevalence of single-use
plastics, in particular, is evolving into a broader discussion about why
certain packaging is used and what happens to it at the end of its life
cycle. This trend is having a visible impact on our industry: we are
seeing a global tightening on the supply of aluminum cans, for
example, as consumers seek alternatives to PET bottles.
At the same time, with a combination of sustainable packaging
design, collection and recycling, PET bottles can be used responsibly.
In particular, there is growing industry awareness of the benefits of
consumer-focused recycling schemes such as bottle deposit return
systems. Manufacturers, meanwhile, increasingly understand the
sustainability value of choosing the most appropriate packaging for
specific products. With consumers and beverage companies properly
informed and working toward the same goal, we believe all beverage
packaging can have a place in a sustainable industry future.

“Complexity is the new
norm”

••

Annual Report 2019
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Integration at the heart of
our M&A strategy
Strategic acquisitions have been a core driver of Refresco’s
profitable growth over the past two decades. Since our
establishment in 1999, we have completed more than
25 acquisitions, enabling our company to grow in size by
twofold or more approximately every four years. However,

underpinning our ‘buy and build’ strategy is the careful
assimilation of new assets and expertise into our company.
By successfully integrating, and then optimizing, new
facilities and teams, we have been able to continue increasing
in value, as well as scale.

A clearly defined integration approach

culture as our guiding principle
Our skill in swiftly integrating new people and teams is one of our

We begin each new acquisition project by carefully selecting the right

central competencies, helping to activate new components of our

strategic target to grow our business. However, the true measure of

expanding portfolio and adding momentum to the company as a

success is how, one by one, each of these companies has become an

whole. At the core of this approach is aligning new colleagues and

integral part of Refresco. While we always prioritize careful

businesses with the Refresco values and our way of working. Equally,

management of the integration process, we value agility and

we make sure all our teams – existing and new – are set up to leverage

improvement over perfection. Our risk appetite is attuned to making

the opportunities presented by having larger services and the ability

acquisitions work, first and foremost; to improving over time, rather

to draw on and contribute to our collective knowledge.

than trying to find the perfect solution on day one. An effective

Once colleagues begin to see the Refresco Group as more than the

integration strategy is central to this way of working.

sum of its parts, exciting innovations and new ways of thinking start

During a 20-year track record in integrating new assets, we have

to emerge. This virtuous circle yields tremendous value in the long

developed a set of clear principles to support our ‘buy and build’

run.

approach. Over recent years, we have spent time looking at how the
integration process works and allocating resources accordingly.

Good communication is crucial at all stages of this process: we make

By taking note of successes and failures, and crystalizing the lessons

sure the path to success is clearly laid out for each member of our

learned along the way, we have increased our efficiency and

teams across our business, and that everyone is pulling in the right

developed a Group approach to fostering synergy through integration.

direction as quickly as possible. Only when each member of the team

Annual Report 2019
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“We now have a solid
foundation on which to
build our future growth
strategy toward becoming
a world-leading beverage
solutions provider”

is clear on what success looks like, and his or her role in the process,
can we move forward as a Group with our vision. By driving clear
alignment between our individual successes and those of the
company at large, employees at all levels can see the impact of their
contribution and find their path to achieving the right goals. We have
developed measures to support this: during every acquisition,
for example, specialists from our central and local teams spend time
with the new business, providing advice as well as access to the
institutional knowledge that Refresco holds.

unlocking cross-continental synergies
The successful integration of the former Cott’s bottling business over
2018 and 2019 is clear evidence that our approach is working,
including when it comes to large-scale acquisitions. This major
cross-continental project, involving dozens of assets in North America
and the UK, has integrated thousands of employees in total. As such,
it provides a blueprint to take our ‘buy and build’ approach to new
global markets, and to harness even larger, more complex growth
opportunities.
At the same time, every major acquisition is an opportunity to take a
step back, to gain an outside-in perspective on who we are and what
we represent. As we welcome new colleagues into our organization,
we recognize the uniqueness of our culture and the value it brings.
It is also a time to challenge our values and, if need be, revise them.
In early 2018, we initiated the Cott Beverages integration by bringing
together senior managers from the former Cott’s bottling business for
this very purpose. Our new colleagues noted that 'passion’ was
missing from the five values used to describe Refresco. This key
quality has since been included among our Group values, fitting for
the new Refresco emerging from the integration: a growing,
cross-continental organization with momentum behind it, but also
one that is more agile and innovative, and better equipped to
capitalize on new market opportunities.

learning from each other

Procurement, overheads and footprint present the main sources of

As part of the integration of our business units, our focus is on

synergy in any acquisition. We have achieved our synergy plan in full

building a team to face the future. An important part of this process

in all three main areas, and more. We also have a massive opportunity

involves enabling the transfer of skills, knowledge, and expertise

to leverage our improved cross-continental position through

between locations and geographies. In 2019, we drove further

cross-selling. As one organization, we provide our customers with

optimization of our production platforms in Europe and North America

access to greater scale, capabilities and technologies than ever

and an increased alignment and collaboration between the two

before. Exciting commercial opportunities have already been

continents. The two platforms regularly share operational

unlocked. In North America for example, our extended footprint has

assessments, challenges, and solutions. They work closely together

helped one of our contract manufacturing customers to achieve a

on their use of KPIs and align on reporting processes. Members of the

significant growth in market share. And our North American

respective Operations leadership teams as well as technical

customers are benefiting from the specialist technology and expertise

specialists also spent time in each other’s locations to learn from

of our cold-brew canning teams in the Netherlands as they tap into

each other and gain first-hand knowledge of their counterpart’s

strong US demand for this niche product. In the UK, our broad

operations and processes.

proposition now covers every conceivable format . And there are many
more opportunities to continue to leverage our improved customer

With the right infrastructure, people, and expertise in place, we now

offering. Our US-based concentrates business in Columbus, Georgia,

have a solid foundation on which to build our future growth strategy

which we acquired in February 2019, has given us first-mover

toward becoming a world-leading beverage solutions provider. As we

advantage in innovation and R&D across the two continents,

look to 2025 and beyond, we are ready to start the next chapter in our

including in emerging categories such as ‘water plus’.

integration story as we explore new growth opportunities on both
continents.

Annual Report 2019
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20 years and counting
20 years and counting

Refresco is the world’s largest independent

Our values

bottler for retailers and A-brands in Europe

The company values are at the heart of everything we do, guiding the

and North America. Operating in more than
60 locations across Europe, the US, Canada,
and Mexico, we produce more than 30 million

way we think and act. Our five values are: entrepreneurial, agile,
passionate, responsible and excellent. These values define how we
do business, how we interact with each other and with customers,
and how we weigh risks and make decisions. They have been
essential in getting us where we are today, and will continue to steer
us in the right direction, helping us achieve our ambitious goals.

liters of the world’s favorite drinks each day.

Entrepreneurial
We understand the market – We use this knowledge to take
initiative and benefit our customers.
Recognize chances – We move fast to capitalize on new
opportunities and shape the market.
Decisive – We act decisively even when we do not have all
the facts. Being decisive is more important than always being right.
A winning team – We are highly result-driven and focused
on goals.

We are building on this bedrock to become a unique beverage
solutions provider to retailers and branded beverage companies.
We grow our business alongside that of our customers, as we help
them to grow, maintaining our focus on operational excellence in our
role as the guardian of our customers’ brands.
Refresco’s vision is that, eventually, our drinks will be on every table
around the world. To realize this goal, we are continuously exploring

Agile

new categories and locations with the potential to generate growth,
capitalizing on these opportunities through our ‘buy and build’

Flexible – Being nimble and efficient we adapt smoothly to
meet changing market dynamics and customer needs.
Speed – We act fast in decision making and implementation.
Creative – We seek inventive and innovative solutions for
every challenge.

strategy. We seek out and acquire strategic assets with the potential
to add value to our business, and take steps to optimize each new
asset to ensure alignment with the Refresco values and culture.

Excellent
Strive for excellence – We want to be better tomorrow than
we were today.
Collaborative – We share best practices wherever possible
and encourage others to improve.
Always ahead – Our drive to excel distinguishes us from others.

Responsible
Trust – We are open, honest and transparent in all that we do.
Lead by example – We act responsibly towards our people,
the planet and our products.
Care as if it was your own – Our products carry the names of
our customers and we act on their behalf.
Employer of choice – We want to be a great place to work for
every employee.

Passionate
Energy – Our competitive edge lies in our determination
and drive to win.
Courage – We dare to make tough decisions that challenge
the status quo and benefit our business and our customers.
Empower – We give space and freedom to staff, encouraging them
to take ownership, responsibility and initiative.
Proud – We are proud of the products we manufacture,
our company and what we stand for.
Annual Report 2019
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our history
1999
Refresco’s history began in 1999 when Menken Beverages,
the predecessor of Refresco, was founded with a management
buyout of Menken Drinks and Refrescos de Sur Europa S.A. from
a major Dutch dairy group.

2000
In 2000 Menken Beverages acquired Krings Fruchtsaft in
Germany, gaining access to the German discount retail channel.
The formation of Refresco Holding followed with production
sites in the Netherlands, Spain and Germany. What followed for
Refresco was the start of an ambitious strategy to grow through
implementation of a buy & build strategy.

2002
In 2002 Refresco acquired Hardthof Fruchtsaft in Germany and
Délifruits in France. The acquisition of Delifruits delivered access
to aseptic PET production capacity and expertise.

2003
The acquisition of Interfruit Vital in Spain in 2003 reinforced
Refresco’s position in Spain and Portugal, as well as in the
discount channel. Refresco Holding was also purchased by
private equity house 3i in this year.

2004
2004 saw Refresco acquire Vip-Juicemaker in Finland, expanding
its manufacturing capability in Scandinavia.

2006
In 2006 3i sold its investment in Refresco to an Icelandic
investor consortium.

2007
Until 2007, Refresco was solely a fruit juice manufacturer.
In 2007 Refresco made the strategic choice to diversify its
business portfolio to also include carbonated soft drinks.
It acquired Kentpol in Poland, Histogram in the UK and Sun
Beverage Company (SBC) - that’s the combination of Winters,
St Alban and SunCo - with operations in the Benelux and Nuits
St George in France.

2009
The acquisition of Schiffers Food in 2009 was next,
consolidating the company’s position in the Benelux
retailer brands soft drinks and fruit juices market.

2010

In 2010 Refresco acquired Soft Drinks International (SDI), an
important step in completing its product portfolio in the German
market.

2011
Italy was the next target and in 2011 Refresco entered the Italian
market with the acquisition of Spumador followed by an add-on
investment in Sulmona (Campari), South Italy.

2012
In 2012 Refresco acquired Taja, a Polish retailer brands
manufacturer of CSDs and water.

2013
In 2013, Refresco merged with Gerber Emig. This was a
milestone event which significantly increased the size of the
company and enhanced it position in the UK. The successful
integration which followed triggered the search for fresh
capital to take advantage of the growth opportunities
in Europe and beyond.

2015
On March 27, 2015 Refresco became a publicly quoted company,
listed on the Euronext Amsterdam.

2016
In 2016, Refresco purchased the Dutch canning company DIS
which was primarily focused on contract manufacturing for
A-brands. Furthermore we invested in our production capacity
by acquiring the PepsiCo bottling facility in Hamburg, Germany
and Sanpellegrino manufacturing site in Recoaro Italy. In July
2016 we announced our first step into North America with the
acquisition of Whitlock Packaging.

2017
In 2017 we announced the acquisition of Cott’s bottling
activities, the single largest acquisition in the company’s
history, transforming Refresco into the world’s largest
independent bottler for retailers and A-brands with leadership
positions across Europe and North America. The acquisition was
completed in January 2018.

2018

Consortium of PAI and BCI launch a public offer of all shares
of Refresco, fueling the next phase of growth of the company.

2019
We acquired Cott’s concentrate manufacturing business in
Columbus. Furthermore we reached an agreement with PepsiCo
for the production of part of PepsiCo’s beverage volumes
in Spain, including the transfer of Pepsico’s manufacturing
activities in Tafalla and Seville. Also we announced the potential
acquisition of Britvic’s three juice manufacturing facilities in
France and we entered into an agreement with AZPACK (Arizona
Production & Packaging) to acquire their manufacturing
activities located in Tempe, Arizona, USA.

Annual Report 2019
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2019 strategic review: consistent execution of our strategy
We have identified three strategic priorities that

As we pursued greater commercial alignment with some of our larger

will support the continued growth of our

category products, including nitrogen cold-brew coffee out of our

business in the years to come: Drive profitable

ideas to the table in the growing water-plus category.

growth, Lead in operational excellence, and

Alcohol is another area holding significant potential for our business,

Organize to win. Below, we describe the

alcoholic products, including mixed drinks and low-calorie sparkling

different steps taken over the past year to

customers, during the year we invested in our capacity for growth
Calgary facility, and continued to bring new concepts and portfolio

both in Europe and in North America. Our focus is on a range of
waters, such as seltzers, which we see as a long-term growth
opportunity.

deliver on these priorities.

“Focus on dynamic growth
categories”

drive profitable growth

••

Adding value through mergers and acquisitions

The integration of the former Cott’s bottling business into Refresco
has enabled us to expand our ‘buy and build’ approach as we look to
fill key product and capability gaps in our markets worldwide. In
February 2019, we acquired Cott’s soft drink concentrate
manufacturing facility and R&D and innovation platform in Columbus,
Georgia. This strategic purchase has enabled us to develop a global
Center of Excellence (CoE) for our beverage concentrate manufacturing
activities, to support customers on both continents.
Several investments followed later in the year, starting in September
when we signed an agreement to purchase Coca-Cola European
Partners’ Milton Keynes site in the UK. The later addition of two
manufacturing sites in Seville and Tafalla, Spain (both acquired from
PepsiCo) provided a major boost to our Iberia organization. In
November 2019, we announced the purchase of the Arizona-based
packaging producer AZPACK and the intended acquisition of Britvic's
three juice bottling facilities in France. The AZPACK acquisition was
completed on January 2, 2020, strengthening our packaging expertise
and technology and, at the same time, better positioning Refresco to
service customers in the Southwestern United States across multiple
categories. The intended purchase of Britvic's three bottling facilities,
which is expected to be finalized in the first half of 2020, fits our
strategy for growth in contract manufacturing, in this case in France, a

Embracing complexity

Worldwide, production runs and lead times continue to get shorter,

while the number of requests for unique specialty drinks in packaging
with equally unique shapes or other characteristics is increasing day
by day. Our manufacturing and supply chain have the flexibility to
meet these increasing levels of complexity, while support must be
delivered at the right price and with the right cost structure.
In 2019, we took further steps to optimize our supply chains. We also
strengthened our innovation capacity by adding specialist facilities,
skills, and technologies to our business.
As part of our strategy, we have also introduced new monitoring
processes to better understand the complexity of our operations and
manufacturing activities. These insights, which we aim to support
with clear metrics, will help us respond to new demands and
challenges with increased speed and agility.

Leveraging procurement capabilities

We see procurement as a key driver of growth. As we expand, we
leverage our expertise and scale in this field to achieve strategic

market where we wish to continue to grow.

alignment across our input costs, terms and conditions and suppliers.

Focusing on growth categories

customers, by exploring opportunities to purchase raw materials for

carbonated soft drinks (CSDs) declining, we leverage our experience

demands around sustainable ingredients and packaging.

Our centrally-led procurement team also helps us add value to our

With certain traditional beverage segments such as juice and
in multiple markets to help our customers align their product offerings
with evolving consumer tastes, by developing interesting, easily

third parties, for example, or adapting to changing consumer

A clear indicator of our success in procurement in 2019 was the

integrated new products that generate strong returns.

achievement of synergies with the former Cott's bottling business.

In 2019, we remained focused on capturing opportunities in dynamic

the integration, the metrics were revised upward twice as we realized

‘growth’ categories, including water plus, organic, and alcohol. For
Refresco, this is typical of our ‘make what we can sell’ approach (as
opposed to ‘selling what we can make’).

Forming part of our wider internal synergy targets set at the start of
greater-than-anticipated savings across the business. Our
procurement management process was further strengthened during
the year with the appointment of a Chief Procurement Officer (CPO), a
new role within Refresco's Executive Committee.

Annual Report 2019
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Meanwhile, we have been working to build our procurement category

We also completed the construction of our greenfield site at Le

roadmaps across our organization, in order to plan our demand for the

Quesnoy, France, at the end of the year. Our first-ever new-build

next three years and harmonize our purchasing in the most effective

facility, the plant makes use of the latest automated technologies and

way. The result is a clear and well-aligned procurement strategy that

sustainable energy and wastewater treatment processes.

will enable better, more consistent purchasing decisions based on
best practice across our organization.

More widely, we have expanded our work in contract manufacturing by
developing our footprint on both continents. Several of our recent

As we move forward with our Group-wide procurement approach, our

expansion efforts have been geared toward contract manufacturing of

supplier relationships continue to be a key enabler of our success. In

products, supporting our ambition to deliver wide-reaching contract

May 2019, we brought together more than 200 suppliers from across

manufacturing capabilities to the world’s leading branded beverage

our value chain as part of our bi-annual Supplier Day event, which

customers. As these companies partly move away from asset

provided a platform to explain Refresco’s strategy and our plans for

ownership, we can add real value as an experienced, effective partner

the future.

to global license holders, and provide adaptable, cost-effective
capacity across entire regions.

lead in operational excellence

Operational excellence is at the core of our business; it is about being
excellent in everything we do, every single day.

Driving market innovation

Our focus on market-driven innovation allows us to deliver real value

Maintaining high-quality manufacturing standards

Our high standards are the result of customer focus, strong
leadership, teamwork, problem-solving, and a commitment to
continually improving activities in the workplace. It is something we
do, day in, day out, ensuring we are equipped to handle whatever
comes our way.

to our customers, by helping to make their category management
processes easier and advising them accordingly. We want to ensure
our efforts to support them in introducing new products to their
portfolios add as much value as possible. With our substantial total
investment in factories on both continents, we are well-equipped to
drive innovation and develop new capabilities and categories for our
partners around the world.

“Continually exploring new
areas of beverage
innovation”

To reinforce this approach, in 2019 we restructured and strengthened
our manufacturing leadership teams in both Europe and North
America. Our leadership teams are supported by task forces for our
main technologies – Aseptic PET, cans, and cartons – which have
been established to solve complex, urgent issues and drive quick
performance improvements.

••

A further key measure introduced in 2019 was the roll-out of our new
Center of Excellence (CoE) program, through which our highestperforming plants for specific production technologies are used as
examples of best practice for other Refresco teams to follow.

“Introduction of specialized
task forces and Centers of
Excellence”

••

Aligning with our ‘buy and build’ approach, in 2019 we undertook and
announced strategic acquisitions of specialist assets with the
potential to drive innovation and add value in key areas. These hightech facilities, which include the US-based Columbus and AZPACK
sites, will serve as ‘innovation incubators’ for our concentrates and
canning activities, respectively, enabling the development of new
product formulas and packaging combinations.
More widely, we continue to explore new areas of innovation within
the beverages category, from nutritional drinks to hard seltzers and
sustainable packaging concepts.

Investing in flexible manufacturing platform

organize to win

our customers deserve, and we have established the flexible

Building a stronger organization

We continually invest in our factories to meet the service standards
platforms we need to deliver complexity. We accelerated this

It is important to have strong leadership in place at all levels. This

approach over 2019 by refurbishing and upgrading our production

entails training the next generation of leaders, supporting succession

lines, and also introduced 12 new lines across Europe and North

planning and expansions into new countries and continents. It is also

America.

about building bridges to connect people across borders.
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In 2019, we strengthened our global leadership team from the top

Going forward, we are trialing new ways to drive employee

down by establishing Refresco’s Executive Committee, laying a strong

engagement. As part of this aim, in 2020 we will continue the roll-out

foundation to expand our scale and geographical reach, and to

of @Refresco, our online people portal focused on employee

support the growing complexity of our business. Moreover, the

evaluation, careers, and rewards, across our entire organization.

creation of new Group-wide executive positions allows us to focus on

“We launched a global
platform for collaboration
and communications”

specific areas of leadership. The new Chief Commercial Officer (CCO)
role serves to drive contract manufacturing growth by strengthening
our commercial relationships at a global level and promoting
alignment across our different business units, while our newly
appointed Chief Procurement Officer (CPO) will oversee our supplier
partnerships.

••

The expansion and restructuring of our Operations leadership teams
in Europe and North America are further evidence of our efforts to
install focused, coherent thinking across our organization from the
top down.

Becoming a great place to work

We are continually working to improve our work climate and create a
culture where our employees feel safe and supported, and people are

Strengthening our people capabilities

A strong pipeline of talented people is essential for our continued
growth and the continuation of the Refresco values. In 2019, we
progressed with the work we are doing to structurally improve how we
manage and develop our people. In particular, we are working to
further raise our internal promotion rate (now above 50%, up from
40% in 2018 and 20% in 2007-2016).

allowed to make mistakes in order to learn and develop more effective
behavior. We use the internationally highly acclaimed Great Place to
Work survey to measure employee engagement and track progress.
In 2019, we expanded the survey to include new colleagues joining us
from the former Cott's bottling business, putting in place a consistent
methodology across all of our business units and locations

To ensure our internal promotion targets are matched by a healthy
supply of talent, in 2019 we continued to develop our Leadership
Acceleration Program (LEAP), which is now in its third year. During the

worldwide. In 2020, we will take steps to address the insights we
receive from the survey to further support healthy, productive
workplace environments around the world.

year, 19 candidates were selected from across all areas of the
business to receive structured training. Along with our Leadership
Acceleration Program (LEAP), our industry-leading Refresco Academy
will be an important tool for training our next generation of leaders.
We are working to bring the Academy to the next level over the period
to 2025.
Parallel to our employee development programs, we encourage all our
people to engage with the wider scope of our business. Initiatives
such as the Happy Awards enable individuals at all levels to actively
contribute to our sustainability approach.

Improving performance

Regular performance evaluations help people to feel more valued and
recognized and to perform better, and to support the organization in
achieving its ambitious goals. ‘Town hall’ meetings and roadshows,
held at our different locations around the world, have also been part
of our employee engagement calendar for many years.
In 2019, we launched a new global digital communications and
collaboration platform, bringing colleagues from across the business
into one shared platform to drive further collaboration and share best
practice. We also prepared for the introduction of new tools in 2020,
to help Refresco’s leadership teams improve employee performance
and engagement.
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Sustainability: towards a
beverage solutions provider

Future-proof solutions
Refresco has grown enormously over the last 20 years and we
want to make our growth opportunities relevant for the world
in the next 20 years. The soft drinks industry – and the world
at large – is changing more rapidly and becoming more
complex than ever. Consumers are increasingly interested to
know more about the products they buy and where they come
from. Issues such as water usage, plastics production and the
importance of new technologies and recycling and a new
emphasis on healthier drinks are now headline news every
day.

The themes that determine our future are moving targets.
Whether environmental, social or ethical, the key is to be able
to respond to them adequately. And at Refresco we want to
grow while ensuring the future of generations to come.
Embracing change, as we have always done, and using our
unique network and portfolio of competencies, we are in a
good position to ‘future-proof’ our company. We want to
provide customers with value-adding products and services
that will help them and the company navigate the changing
world.

People

Planet

Products

Invest in our people, support
the communities around us,
and have a positive impact
on the people touched by
our operations across the
value chain

Minimize the impact of our
own operations on the
environment, optimize our
manufacturing footprint,
including our energy and
water consumption and
waste, and further improve
the efficiency of our
transport

Improve the sustainability of
our products and packaging,
focusing on sustainable
sourcing, naturalness, less
material usage, and
recycling
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Key figures 2019
Financial highlights

11,046

€1,731m

Total volume (millions of liters)

Gross profit
margin

€448m

€176m

Adjusted EBITDA

Invested in
production capabilities

In millions of €, unless otherwise stated
Volume (in millions of liters)
Revenue
Gross profit margin
Adjusted EBITDA1,2
Net profit / (loss)
Adjusted net profit / (loss)1,2
Net debt 3
1
2

3

2019

2017 - 2018

11,046
3,897
1,731
448
(16.0)
(0.8)
2,791

8,613
2,964
1,222
279
(55.2)
13.8
2,373.4

2018 pro-forma

10,888
3,737
1,530
323
(106.6)
16.4

Gross profit margin, adjusted EBITDA and adjusted net profit/(loss) are not a measure of our financial performance under IFRS.
We apply adjusted EBITDA and adjusted net profit to exclude the effects of certain exceptional charges that we believe are not indicative of our underlying operating performance.
Such adjustments relate primarily to substantial one-off restructurings, costs relating to acquisitions or disposals and refinancing and related tax effects.
Net debt in 2019 and 2017 - 2018 includes EUR 108.0 million and EUR 100.0 million shareholder funding, respectively.

Presentation of financial information in the Executive Board report
•

2019: Audited consolidated financial information of Refresco Group B.V. for the financial year January 1, 2019 - December 31, 2019.
The company name of the entity owning Refresco was changed from Sunshine Top B.V. to Refresco Group B.V. on October 2, 2019.

•

2017 - 2018: The 2017-2018 comparative information relates to the audited consolidated financial information of Sunshine Top B.V. for
the period October 20, 2017 - December 31, 2018. The results of Refresco were consolidated in the Sunshine Top B.V. financial
information as of March 29, 2018.

•

2018 pro-forma: To facilitate comparability of the consolidated financial information of the Group between the years 2019 and 2018,
Refresco Group B.V. has prepared certain pro-forma information for the year 2018, for more information see page 101 of the Financial
Review. This 2018 unaudited pro-forma information comprises the financial information of Refresco Group N.V. for the period January 1,
2018 - March 31, 2018 and the financial information of Sunshine Top B.V. for the period April 1, 2018 - December 31, 2018. Cott's
bottling business was consolidated in the financial information as of January 30, 2018.
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Adjusted EBITDA (in millions of euros)1

Volume (in millions of liters)1
0

4,000

8,000

12,000

2019

2019

2018

2018

2017

2017

2016

2016

2015

2015
0

4,000

8,000

12,000

Gross profit margin (in millions of euros)1
0

800

1,600

2,400
2019

2018

2018

2017

2017

2016

2016

2015

2015
800

200

400

600

0

200

400

600

Revenue (in millions of euros)1

2019

0

0

1,600

2,400

Volume per channel

0

1,500

3,000

4,500

0

1,500

3,000

4,500

Volume per region

(11,046 million liters in 2019)

(11,046 million liters in 2019)

Retailer brands

Europe

Contract
manufacturing

North America

31.1%
36.8%

63.2%
68.9%

Annual Report 2019

19

Key figures 2019

Executive Board Report

Two platforms for growth
North America

Employees

(average FTEs)

Europe

6,391
North America

3,858
Facilities*

Volume

Bottling lines

Our

Europe

6,986

Europe

North America

North America

61

manufacturing
locations are
strategically
located

(in millions of liters)

4,060

190
79

* as of January 2, 2020
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Europe

Group headquarters
Rotterdam
the Netherlands
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Financial results : synergies drive step up in profitability
presentation of financial information

The 2019 consolidated financial information of Refresco Group B.V.
concerns the financial year January 1, 2019 - December 31, 2019. The
company name of the entity owning Refresco was changed from
Sunshine Top B.V. to Refresco Group B.V. on October 2, 2019. The
2017-2018 comparative information relates to the consolidated
financial information of Sunshine Top B.V. for the period October 20,
2017 - December 31, 2018. The results of Refresco were consolidated
in the Sunshine Top B.V. financial information as of March 29, 2018.
To facilitate comparability of the consolidated financial information of
the Group between the years 2019 and 2018, Refresco Group B.V. has
prepared certain pro-forma information for the year 2018, for more

forma: 30.8%) in line with our ambition to grow this part of our
business.
Revenue totalled EUR 3,896.7 million in 2019 compared to
EUR 3,737.1 million in 2018 on a pro forma basis (2017-2018:
EUR 2,963.6 million). Changes in revenue are mostly driven by
fluctuations in input prices which are passed on to customers. As
such, revenue is not a representative indicator for the development of
our business. Our focus is on driving gross profit margin.

raw materials and packaging materials

Our main raw materials and packaging materials are orange juice,
apple juice, sugar, metal cans, liquid paperboard and PET.

information see page 101 of the Financial Review. This 2018 proforma information comprises the financial information of Refresco

Where feasible, we have a policy of purchasing forward raw materials

Group N.V. for the period January 1, 2018 - March 31, 2018 and the

and packaging materials to cover sales positions with customers.

financial information of Sunshine Top B.V. for the period April 1, 2018

Some of the raw materials we require are only priced in USDs and we

- December 31, 2018. Cott's bottling business was consolidated in the

mitigate the effect of exchange rate fluctuations by using USD

financial information as of January 30, 2018.

purchase options and forward contracts. A reference to fluctuations in
raw materials and packaging materials is made in 'Risk and risk

volume and revenue

Volume in 2019 totalled 11,045.5 million liters, an increase of 1.4%
compared to the same period last year (2018 pro-forma:
10,888.0 million liters, 2017-2018: 8,613.0 million liters). The
volume increase was driven mainly by January volumes from the

management' on page 35.

Volume per region in million of liters
(x 1 million liter)

2019

2017-2018

2018 proforma

former Cott's bottling business, investments in production

Europe

6,985.2

5,581.9

7,127.4

capabilities and new business we have contracted being helped by

North America

4,060.2

3,031.1

3,760.6

11,045.5

8,613.0

10,888.0

our enlarged coverage in North America, partly offset by market
developments and our decision to discontinue low margin products in
the retail channel.

Total Group

gross profit margin

Retailer brands volume in 2019 increased by 1.0% to 7,611.7 million
liters from 7,539.2 million liters in 2018 on pro-forma basis. Total
contract manufacturing volume increased from 3,348.9 million liters
on pro-forma basis in 2018 to 3,433.8 million liters in 2019, an
increase of 2.5%. As a percentage of total volume, contract
manufacturing comprised 31.1% of total Group volume (2018 pro-

We continued to add more value to our customers by moving towards
smaller packaging formats and more complex and innovative products
and packaging solutions. Furthermore, we saw added-value services,
such as warehousing and procurement to third parties, steadily
increasing in line with our strategy to transform the company from
bottler to beverage solutions provider.

Volume per product type

Volume per packaging type

(11,045.5 million liters in 2019)

(11,045.5 million liters in 2019)

2.0%

Aseptic PET

24.6%

24.7%

10.1%

PET

3.4%

Carbonated soft drin…
Waters

Carton

31.4%

7.6%

Cans
Other

Juices
Ready-to-drink teas
Still drinks
Sport drinks & energ…
Other

10.8%
9.8%

16.9%

38.9%
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Gross profit margin is our key financial metric. In 2019 gross profit

forma includes a write off of capitalized finance cost of

margin increased by 13.1% to EUR 1,730.8 million, compared to

EUR 43.6 million related to a new financing structure set up in 2018.

EUR 1,529.9 million in 2018 on pro-forma basis (2017-2018:

net profit

EUR 1,221.8 million). This significant increase was driven by
continued synergies from the acquisition of Cott's bottling business,
positive currency translation effects, product mix and price increases

Net loss was EUR 16.0 million (2018 pro-forma: net loss of
EUR 106.6 million, 2017-2018: net loss of EUR 55.2 million). Taking

and the continued shift in our customer offering.

into account one-off costs related to acquisitions, integration costs

Gross profit margin per liter totaled 15.7 euro cents compared to 14.0

adjusted net loss was EUR 0.8 million compared to adjusted net profit

and start up costs of the Le Quesnoy manufacturing site in France, the

euro cents in 2018 on pro-forma basis.

of EUR 16.4 million on pro-forma basis in 2018 (2017-2018:
EUR 13.8 million).

input costs and operating costs

capex and working capital

Employee benefits expenses amounted to EUR 540.9 million
compared to EUR 493.2 million on pro-forma basis in the same period
last year (2017-2018: EUR 382.5 million). The increase is mainly
explained by the 2019 acquisitions. Depreciation, amortization and
impairment costs in 2019 totaled EUR 288.0 million compared to
EUR 173.9 million in 2018 pro-forma (2017-2018: EUR 142.7 million).
The increase reflects the Cott acquisition and an IFRS 16 impact of
EUR 68.9 million in a shift from other operating expenses to

We continued to invest in our production technology and warehouse
capabilities both in our newly acquired business in North America and
the UK as well as elsewhere in our network. We spend on average
3-4% of revenue per year on capital expenditures, which is key for us
to stay ahead of competition.
Capital expenditures accounted for EUR 176.0 million compared to

depreciation, amortization and impairment.

EUR 133.7 million in 2018 on pro-forma basis. Capex was invested in

Other operating expenses were EUR 762.0 million compared to

optimization of the existing manufacturing sites and warehousing

the installation of several new production lines and in the
facilities. In Europe, main projects included extension of warehousing

EUR 834.7 million in the same period last year (2017-2018:
EUR 652.4 million).

capacity, new canning capacity, expansion of Aseptic PET capacity

operating profit

investments included further expansion of canning capacity and

Operating profit amounted to EUR 139.9 million compared to

replacing and upgrading existing technology to increase efficiency.

EUR 28.1 million in the same period last year on pro-forma basis

Integration-related capex was EUR 17.4 million compared to

(2017-2018: EUR 44.2 million). The increase is largely attributable to

EUR 14.0 million in the same period last year and is part of the total

the higher overall gross margin and the synergies from the Cott

expenditure of EUR 176.0 million in 2019.

and transfer of capacity within our network. In North America,

acquisition.
Working capital at the end of 2019 was EUR 70.1 million excluding
EBITDA was EUR 427.9 million in 2019 compared to EUR 201.9 million
in the same period last year (2017-2018: EUR 186.9 million). The
increase was driven by the higher overall gross margin, synergies from

asset held for sale, compared to EUR 40.4 million at the end of 2018.

balance sheet

the Cott acquisition and IFRS 16 impact of EUR 74.2 million.

Total assets amounted to EUR 4,972.3 million as at December 31,

Reconciliation of operating profit to adjusted EBITDA

to EUR 3,775.4 million compared to EUR 3,379.4 million in 2018.

2019 (2018: EUR 4,579.5 million). Total non-current assets amounted

2019

2017-2018

2018 proforma

Operating profit

139.9

44.2

28.1

D&A and impairment costs

288.0

142.7

173.9

EBITDA

427.9

186.9

201.9

8.3

37.0

46.6

11.9

55.0

74.8

448.1

278.8

323.3

(x 1 million euro)

Acquisition cost
Other
Adjusted EBITDA

Preliminary goodwill arising on acquisitions totaled
EUR 1,685.5 million (2018: EUR 1,667.5 million) and is derived
mainly from the acquisition of Refresco Group N.V. by Sunshine
Investments B.V., and includes the acquisition of Cott's bottling
business by Refresco. Total intangible fixed assets amounted to
EUR 2,210.7 million (2018: EUR 2,227.7 million).
Cash and cash equivalents (net of overdrafts) at the end of 2019 were
EUR 282.9 million compared to EUR 139.7 million at year-end 2018.

finance result

Until the end of March 2019 Refresco utilized the RCF facility up to

to EUR 160.4 million in the same period last year (2017-2018:

Loan B facility by EUR 150.0 million and by a further USD

Net finance costs for 2019 amounted to EUR 156.0 million compared
EUR 105.4 million) including IFRS 16 interest expense of
EUR 13.1 million. The EUR 160.4 million net finance costs in 2018 pro-

Annual Report 2019
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and Europe. At the year-end the Term Loan B facility totalled
EUR 2,149.5 million (2018: EUR 1,981.9 million) and the RCF of
EUR 200.0 million was fully un-drawn.
Net debt at the end of the year amounted to EUR 2,790.8 million
(2018: EUR 2,373.4 million) consisting of EUR 2,616.7 million in
loans and borrowings, EUR 34.7 million of capitalized finance costs, a
EUR 383.8 million of IFRS 16 Leases, EUR 108.0 million of shareholder
loan and net of EUR 282.9 million in cash and cash equivalents.

credit ratings as of december 31, 2019

Moody's

Long term rating

Outlook

Sunshine Mid B.V.

B2

Stable

S&P

Long term rating

Outlook

Sunshine Mid B.V.

B+

Stable

Sunshine Investments B.V.

B+

Stable

distribution of profits

The Executive Board's proposal is that the Annual Meeting of
Shareholders deducts the net loss from retained earnings. The
balance sheet presented in this report for the period ended December
31, 2019, is before appropriation of the result.

events after the review period

On January 2, 2020 Refresco completed the acquisition of AZPACK
(Arizona Production & Packaging) based in Tempe, Arizona, US.
AZPACK specializes in manufacturing complex products for branded
beverage companies. With the addition of AZPACK, Refresco will be
better positioned to service customers in the Southwestern USA
across many categories, including energy drinks and sports drinks.
On November 15, 2019, Refresco announced the placement of an
additional USD 150 million add-on to the existing USD Term Loan B in
Refresco Holding B.V. The funding was completed early January 2020.

looking ahead

We anticipate capital expenditures will increase in 2020 compared to
the level of 2019 as a result of our acquisitions and the continued
upgrading of our manufacturing capabilities. We expect that our
capital expenditures will be driven by our continuing efforts to
optimize production at our facilities through investment in new
technologies and production capabilities and normal maintenance
activities, which amount to approximately EUR 1 million per facility
per year. We expect our average number of employees to increase as
we progress in our buy & build strategy, which will be partly offset by
ongoing optimization of our manufacturing footprint. We expect
economical, political and other uncertainties in raw material and
packaging material markets to remain high.

Annual Report 2019
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A new-build investment
built on green thinking

Refresco’s first new-build facility has been completed in
Le Quesnoy in the north of France. This is a very substantial
investment and a departure from our usual ‘buy and build’
strategy. The decision was made to align our capacity with
long-term A-brand manufacturing contracts from major
customers in the region. As well as a fully automated
warehouse, the plant is equipped with four carton lines and
two PET lines, and can easily be extended with the addition
of new lines or specialist container capacity.

Manufacturing &
logistics platform

37,000 m²
with automated
warehousing capacities

In line with our focus on sustainability, the plant is designed
to be best-in-class for minimizing running costs, chemical
consumption, energy consumption and wastewater discharge.
The facility plant will also use an anaerobic wastewater
treatment system that will help to power parts of the factory,
reducing energy costs and delivering positive environmental
benefits simultaneously. By thinking of our factory in a wider
context, we have found a way to make use of our typical
wastewater, given its suitability to fermentation-driven
treatments.

Over

State-of-the-art
technology:

employees

bottling lines

200
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Sustainability: towards a beverage solutions provider
Our responsibility to take a greater stand on

Managing our responsibilities

industry sustainability issues goes hand in

Refresco’s footprint is considerably larger than that of two years ago:

hand with our transition toward becoming a

potential human impact by our operations has also grown

total beverage solutions provider. In this

society at large, we must address their needs and requirements,

chapter, we explain our sustainability strategy,

sustainability. More widely, with our leading industry position comes

including our policy regarding our personnel

issues, from sustainable supply chains and employee safety to

and our local communities and environments,
as well as our commitment to innovation and to

With the recent integration of the former Cott’s bottling business,
our product portfolio is broader, drawing on more resources, while the
significantly. To generate long-term value for our customers and the
whether in terms of product development, supply chain solutions, or
a responsibility to drive change and to take the lead on key industry
recycling and environmentally-friendly packaging.
Today, we focus our efforts on three core areas:
•

Planet: we minimize the impact of our own operations on the
environment, working to optimize our manufacturing footprint,

making high-quality, sustainable products.

including our energy and water consumption and waste, and to
further improve the efficiency of our transport;
•

Products: we improve the sustainability of our products and
packaging, focusing on sustainable sourcing, naturalness, less
material usage, and recyclability; and

•

People: we invest in our people, support the communities around
us, and have a positive impact on the people touched by our
operations across the value chain.

Sustainability and future growth

As we continue to grow, our teams around the world must pursue a
clear, cohesive approach to these critical concerns. To place our
sustainability focus at the center of our 2025 strategy we decided to
appoint a Group Sustainability Manager, effective October 1, 2019.
This newly created position and our sustainability strategy is overseen
by Refresco’s Group Chief Commercial Officer (CCO).
Beyond our buy & build strategy, we are in a process of transition from
being a bottler to being a full-service beverage solutions provider.
This means that we want to service customers across the entire
production chain, from R&D to procurement and transportation to the
customer’s warehouse. It is a way of adding value to customers and
becoming an integral part of their business model in the long term.
While we are confident that we can maintain our growth, the industry
and the world at large are changing. Consumers are increasingly
interested to know more about the products they buy and where they
come from. Issues such as water usage, plastics production and the
importance of recycling as well as a new emphasis on healthier drinks
are now headline news daily. In response to sustainability concerns
like these, governments are set to introduce new regulations while
investors are likely to refocus investment criteria. And a combination
of geopolitics, globalization and scarcity of resources will have a
significant impact our supply chain. There is, in fact, so much more
that will change without anyone knowing exactly what that will be, at
this point in time. Whether environmental, social or ethical, the key is
to be able to respond to sustainability themes adequately.
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Even today, this changing landscape is redefining the way we do

process, such as rinsing PET bottles and cans with air rather than with

business in ways we would not have anticipated twenty years ago.

water.

But, by embracing change as we have always done, investing in
sustainable solutions, and by using our unique network and portfolio

Controlling our energy consumption is also very important: it enables

of competencies, we are in a good position to ‘future-proof’ ourselves.

us to maintain our cost leadership and to minimize the negative
environmental impact of our operations. Cooling, warming,

To support this, we are introducing clear and consistent performance

machinery, and compressed air form the bulk of our energy

metrics for sustainability for all of our locations, and we aim to finalize

consumption. We aim to optimize, and we have implemented an

our Group metrics for sustainability over the coming year. With this

energy-saving program that includes upgrading our steam and

process still in progress, the details in the following paragraphs

condensate installations across our facilities, as well as improving our

mainly relate to our business in Europe.

monitoring systems, decreasing changeovers, and carefully managing

“We are embracing change,
as we have always done”

••

run sizes.
We have set strict energy-reduction targets for our production
facilities, which include reducing the energy ratio of our Europe
operations to below 0.45 megajoules (MJ) per lpb by end-2020. To get
there, we have introduced specific energy-reduction plans for our
existing production facilities. Meanwhile, our new-build site in Le
Quesnoy, France is energy-efficient by design.

Planet

“ With our leading industry
position comes a
responsibility to drive
change”

Monitoring – and minimizing – our environmental impact
Our expansion following the acquisition of Cott's bottling business
has required us to take a critical look at our organizational footprint
on both continents. In North America, in particular, we have been
exploring ways to rationalize our manufacturing and warehousing
operations, partly as a means of increasing our proximity to our
customers and reducing our transportation needs. Similarly, we are
analyzing the utilization of our production lines to find scope for

••

further optimization. While considering individual business units, this
process also involves looking at our production methods as a whole
and increasing coordination between teams and facilities.
Meanwhile, we are working across both continents to reduce our
environmental impact on four fronts: reducing our energy usage and
water consumption, minimizing waste, and working together with our
third parties to improve the efficiency of our transport.

Our European approach is consistent with our energy-reduction
strategy in North America. With the former Cott’s bottling business
integration now complete, we are focusing on upgrading our newly
acquired infrastructure; for example, by retrofitting plants with LED
lighting to reduce energy usage.

Minimizing waste

Managing our water and energy use

Water is a key ingredient for many of the products we manufacture for
our customers. However, with scarcity a growing problem globally, we
are working to improve our water management processes on both
continents. We own several water wells, and protecting these is
crucial to our ability to provide high-quality products to our
customers. We closely monitor the water/product ratio in our
manufacturing processes, with the aim of reducing our water
consumption on site.

We examine the waste outputs of our manufacturing locations as part
of Group-wide efforts to reduce our impact on the environment and
safeguard the health of local communities. Reducing our waste is one
of core KPIs supporting our operations strategy in Europe. To realize
our goals, we are intensifying our day-to-day waste monitoring efforts
by establishing dedicated ‘waste hunter’ teams and ‘waste ministers’
at our individual sites.
Alongside these activities, we are steadily upgrading our wastewater

For our Europe operations, we have set a short-term water
consumption target of 1.9 liters for every liter of produced beverage
(lpb). To meet this goal by end-2020, we are pursuing a water
reduction program that includes close day-to-day monitoring of water
usage, decreasing overfilling of containers, and investments in more
accurate filling technology. We are also applying sustainable

treatment processes, including at our new-build facility at Le Quesnoy.
The new plant is fitted with an anaerobic wastewater treatment
system that generates gas and heat, powering parts of the factory or
offsetting heating costs. By thinking of our factory in a wider context,
we have also found a way to make use of our typical wastewater,
which is highly suited to fermentation-driven treatments.

approaches to reduce water consumption in the manufacturing
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Transport

When working with trading partners that buy raw and packaging

A key part of our efforts to minimize our environmental footprint

materials for their own manufacturing processes, we require them to

includes improving the efficiency of our transport and logistics

ensure their own suppliers comply with the same conditions and

activities worldwide. Due to the broad geographical spread of our

standards Refresco expects of them.

manufacturing sites, we are able to ensure short transportation lines
and provide our customers with the close proximity they need. By
combining different customer and product deliveries, we aim for fully

Toward 100% sustainably sourced juice by 2030

Refresco is co-founder of the Sustainable Juice Covenant led by the

loaded trucks and optimal pallet usage at all times. In our search for

IDH Sustainable Trade Initiative (IDH) to make the sourcing,

optimal-efficiency transportation with minimum impact on the

production, and trade of juices, purees, and concentrates 100%

environment, we place a high priority on identifying like-minded

sustainable by 2030. With our production volumes having increased

suppliers that can make a meaningful contribution to a sustainable

significantly on the back of the acquisition of Cott’s bottling business

supply chain.

in North America and the UK, we are working toward the next

“Improving the efficiency of
transport and logistics”

••

milestone in our 2030 objective: reaching the 30% point of our target
in 2020.

Requirements and demands on suppliers

We require all of our suppliers to comply with local legislation and
sign the Refresco Supplier Code of Conduct. Refresco expects its
suppliers to embed this Code of Conduct into their organization and
their supply chain by developing and implementing appropriate

In 2019, we maintained close control over our European transport and
logistics footprint by collecting and analyzing our transport-related
carbon emissions data as part of the ‘Lean & Green Europe’ program.
The optimization of our transportation footprint in North America was
also a key focus, as we worked to rationalize our operations in the

internal business processes. Each supplier must be able to
demonstrate compliance with the Code of Conduct on request.
Refresco buys its juice raw materials according to the SGF-IRMA
guidelines that are generally accepted in the global fruit juices

region as part of the Cott integration.

industry. SGF stands for 'Sure-Global-Fair' and is a non-profit

Products

certifications that cover the vast majority of raw materials used in the

organization that carries out supplier audits and grants SGF-IRMA

Building sustainable supply chains

European fruit juice industry.

Refresco's strong customer relationships are based on our
effectiveness as our customers' supply chain: we make sure excellent
products are delivered to locations around the world, acting as a
custodian of our customers' brands all the way to the shelf. However,
our role requires us to work hard to embed sustainability deeper into
our own supply chain. This entails making sure the products we make
are fit for the future, and that our product development processes
support our ultimate ambition to purchase sustainable ingredients
and secure the long-term availability of key raw materials.
In realizing our objectives, we are in turn working and communicating
more closely with our suppliers to improve social compliance and
environmental standards across our supply chains; for example,
through the continued roll-out of our Supplier Code of Conduct. In May
2019, we introduced our ‘Reduce & Recycle’ theme at our bi-annual
Supplier Day, which also touched on wider issues around
sustainability and traceability. We have also continued to reduce the
use of materials in our primary and secondary packaging by
introducing lightweighting and other new solutions.
Creating supply-chain alignment on sustainability also involves
careful selection of suppliers and trading partners. Our aim is to work
closely with producers of raw materials and we aim to decrease our
dependency on certain regions in a world where economic or political
turmoil and extreme weather can severely disrupt our supply chain.

Annual Report 2019

Ensuring traceability

Traceability is an important concern for Refresco customers as well as
for consumers, and it begins with local suppliers of ingredients and
raw materials. Indeed, traceability was among the key topics
discussed at Refresco’s 2019 suppliers’ conference, and we are
working to ensure all our partners are on board with our efforts to
ensure clear and transparent supply lines.
We proudly highlight the success of our blockchain-driven producttracing program in partnership with Dutch supermarket chain Albert
Heijn and leading orange juice suppliers. With the support of our
technology partner Supply Chain Information Management (SIM), we
will continue to extend the platform across our business in 2020, with
the inclusion of additional customers and suppliers.

Sustainable packaging

Packaging is a central theme within our wider sustainability approach.
Our motto is Reduce & Recycle, we want to deliver a significant
change in the reduction and recyclable content of packaging across
all products we provide to our customers. Specifically, we work
continuously to make our primary and secondary packaging lighter,
which results in less materials being used and in a lower carbon
footprint. Furthermore, we have increased our target for recycled PET
(RPET) content in our beverage containers from 25% to 50% by 2025.
As demand for RPET has increased significantly in the market, driving
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up prices, we are having to take concerted action to meet our targets,

Food safety

including: 1) designing our packaging specifically for recycling; 2)

Food safety encompasses actions aimed at ensuring our products are

reducing the total amount of plastic used in our packaging and

fit for consumption by the end-user and have no adverse health

including more recycled plastic in our PET bottles and secondary

effects. Maintaining high food safety standards is our license to

packaging; and 3) working with industry partners to increase

operate, and we do not compromise on this under any circumstances.

collection rates, with a special focus on setting up deposit return

In Europe, all our manufacturing sites are certified to a recognized

systems across all markets. Furthermore we are participating in a

Global Food Safety Initiative Standard (GFSI), which, depending on

project to develop sustainable PET bottle packaging from bio-based

the country, is the Global Food Standard (BRC), FSSC 22000, or the

materials and we actively recruit new packaging technologies.

International Features Standard Food (IFS Food). To ensure food safety

“Target for recycled PET
content is 50% by 2025”

••

and quality, every manufacturing site has implemented its own quality
system tailored to the critical control and quality aspects applicable
to its manufacturing processes. Quality control forms part of each
production line. In North America, our manufacturing sites are
regulated through the US Food & Drug Administration and certified
under the Safe Quality Food (SQF) Program or FSSC 22000. To respond
to changing customer needs and requirements, several manufacturing
sites across both continents are also certified to produce under
Bio/EKO/Organic, UTZ/Rainforest Alliance, and Fairtrade, among
other schemes. Our sites are also regularly audited by our customers.

People

Health & safety are always top of mind
As we grow, we want to make sure Refresco remains a great place to
work, starting with maintaining a safe and healthy working
environment for all Refresco employees around the world. While
complying with the requirements set out in local legislation and thirdparty certificates, we have developed our own safety standards that
are coordinated centrally as part of our continuous improvement
program, and implemented locally. The standards seek to ensure
occupational safety at our manufacturing and warehouse
locations. We improve our safety record by identifying best practices
from across the Group and replicating these in locations where we
could improve.

Monitoring site safety

Our Group-wide site-based health and safety programs play a central
role in our Safety, Quality, Delivery, Cost (SQDC) approach that
supports our Operations vision and strategy. After all, we can only
deliver excellent service and quality to our customers if our people
arrive at work and leave at the end of the day in the best possible
condition.
In 2019, we audited all of our European plants for safety, making the
wellbeing of our staff a central feature of all operational evaluations.
Specifically, we measure workplace safety through monitoring our
lost-time-accident (LTA) levels. In 2019, several of our locations set
records for the number of consecutive days without experiencing an
LTA, and the accident ratio in Europe decreased from 1.7 in 2018, to
1.1 in 2019 per 100FTEs: a significant reduction. Meanwhile, we are
targeting an LTA ratio of less than 1 LTA per year for every 100
employees working in our European business units, en route to our
ultimate target of zero.
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We have also introduced new initiatives to further support our Group-

ensure the talented people who work with us – and who will be

wide health and safety agenda. These included the Behavioral Safety

joining us this year – are keen to stay.

Program, a pilot initiative rolled out across all six sites in the United

“2019 showed an increased
participation rate in Great
Place to Work survey: from
77% to 83%”

Kingdom that has helped bring about a 25% reduction in safety
incidents. By learning from this and other positive examples, we can
identify strategies that may be effective across our wider Group.
Equally, we want to empower our individual business units to pursue
their own initiatives to improve safety performance as part of a host of
sustainability metrics. We can then implement those examples of
excellence elsewhere, in the same way.

“Behavorial Safety Program
pilot shows 25% reduction
in safety incidents”

••

••

Contributing to our communities

While having a strong top-down approach to sustainability is crucial,
we also realize that good corporate citizenship starts from the ground
up. Around the world, each of our locations has a role to play in the
surrounding community. Under the umbrella of Happy People, Happy
Products, Happy Planets, every Refresco manufacturing site seeks to

Great place to work

initiate at least one community initiative a year with a clear and direct

We believe being a great place to work is a result of several factors:

link to the business. For example, the 2019 Happy Awards,

company culture, the working environment, and how we develop and

highlighted an educational outreach project led by employees in

recognize everyone’s contribution. It also involves all the social

France that supports local children by helping them with schoolwork,

activities and community involvement taking place across the

and providing career advice and job interview training.

business. But above all, it is about how we do things together. This
means that, next to providing our employees with a safe place work,
we have a responsibility to ensure our workplace is a supportive,
collaborative environment built on mutual trust, where people enjoy
working with their colleagues and take pride in what they do.
Refresco's bi-annual Great Place to Work survey measures our
performance in relation to these various criteria.

Building on two-way communication and employee engagement
Our 'buy & build' strategy means we are regularly integrating new

businesses into Refresco. To keep our company culture and values
alive, we keep our employees closely informed of what Refresco
stands for and what is happening across the business through a
combination of annual 'town hall' meetings, regular communications
updates, and local employee communications initiatives.
Building our two-way communication channels is a key focus, and in
2019 we launched our third, and largest ever, company-wide
measurement of the Refresco work climate using the Great Place to
Work Trust Model. We are pleased to report that, in 2019, 83% of
colleagues across the business shared their views and feedback in
the survey, compared to 77% in the previous (2017) survey. The Trust
Index, which is based on the average of all survey responses,
increased to 56% in 2019 (2017: 55%), and is in line with our
ambition to improve each year.
Insight from the survey will be discussed across the business to
highlight areas for improvement in 2020. The results also help us
make the right adjustments to company policies and practices to
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Sustainable packaging:
reduce & recycle

Our key packaging materials are PET, liquid paperboard and
cans. Our motto for all of these is relatively simple: Reduce &
Recycle. We work closely with our suppliers to reduce the total
amount of material used and aim for a higher proportion of
recycled materials in all of our packaging. In addition, we are
participating in a project to develop sustainable plastic bottle
packaging from bio materials. We are also continually
innovating together with our suppliers to reduce the weight of
the aluminum cans and lids we use in our production.

Regions with
deposit systems

40

including
10 US states

Plastics have made our supply chain much safer than it ever
was, but we have to take care of the material so that it can be
recycled for new bottles. For PET bottles, separate collection
for recycling is necessary, for these to be collected without
contamination from other types of waste in a household
recycling bin. That will allow us to use the recycled PET
material for bottles. We see a need for deposit return systems
(DRS) on all PET bottles to achieve this. DRS is a process
known as closed-loop recycling and will significantly increase
the availability of recycled materials, which reduces reliance
on new raw materials needed to produce new beverage
containers.

Recycling rates
up to

98%
in regions with
deposit systems
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saves about

90%

of the energy it takes
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Governance
Refresco has a strong executive team with broad experience in the industry and a proven track record. This is supported throughout the
organization by the entrepreneurial mindset of the employees and the focus on operational excellence and generating profitable growth.

Hans Roelofs
CEO

Aart Duijzer
CFO

Brad Goist
COO North America

Hans Roelofs joined Refresco in March 2007

Aart Duijzer is one of the founders of the

Brad Goist joined Refresco with the acquisition

and since then has driven rapid growth of the

company. Prior to joining Refresco in 2000,

of Cott’s bottling activities in 2018. He was

company. Before joining Refresco, Hans was

Aart worked as Finance Director of the

formerly President of Cott’s bottling business

CEO of Dumeco, a private label meat producer

Continental European division of Hazlewood

in North America. Prior to this, he held several

and processor. He started his career at

Foods Plc. Aart started his career at KPMG and

executive positions at the Kellogg Company

Nutreco, rising to Managing Director of the Agri

holds a Master’s degree in business

between 2009 and 2016. Until 2009, Brad

Food business. Hans is a graduate of

economics from the Erasmus University in

held several positions with the Coca-Cola

Wageningen University, the Netherlands.

Rotterdam, the Netherlands. He is a Dutch

Company. He holds a Master’s in Business

Chartered Accountant.

Administration from Ohio State University and
is a graduate of University of Michigan.

Dieter Schulz
COO Europe

Vincent Delozière
CCO

Coert Michielsen
CPO

Dieter joined Refresco from ICL and is an

CCO Vincent Delozière joined Refresco in 2002

CPO Coert Michielsen joined Refresco in 2008

experienced consumer goods executive. He

when Refresco acquired Délifruits. He has

as Group Director Procurement. His previous

has built an international career at such FMCG

fulfilled several managerial and commercial

experience includes Director Procurement at

companies as Mars, Mondelez and Danone,

positions within the Refresco Group including

DSM Food Specialities, Director Procurement

leading various business units across Europe,

his latest position as Group Managing

at General Nutrition Companies and Nutreco

Americas and Asia. Dieter is a graduate from

Director. Vincent holds a Master’s degree in

S.A. Coert is a graduate of Tilburg University,

Webster Vienna University and holds an MBA

Engineering from the Institut Supérieur

the Netherlands.

from RSM Erasmus University. Mr. Schulz

d’Agriculture, Lille, France and an MBA from

joined Refresco on January 13, 2020.

EMLYON business school, Lyon, France.
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Organizational structure

appointment procedures for and assessment of the functioning

Refresco Group B.V. is the parent company of the Refresco Group. An

of Executive Board members and the regional management

overview of all the subsidiaries owned by Refresco Group B.V. can be

teams.

found on page 105 of this report. The Executive Board comprising the
CEO and the CFO, together with four directors, acts as the Executive
Committee of the Refresco Group. The Executive Board is responsible
for the overall performance of Refresco Group and the implementation
of its strategy. The Executive Board is supervised by the Supervisory
Board. At an operational level, the organization is split into Europe
and North America. Both regions are headed by an Operating Board,

Where relevant, time is allocated during Supervisory Board meetings
for the committee chairmen to report on the work done by their
respective committees.

Diversity

The company strives for the right composition of its corporate bodies.

comprising the COO for the respective region and regional Directors

Having the right experience and knowledge of the industry are the key

representing Finance, HR, Operations, Purchasing, and Sales. The

appointment criteria for the Executive Board. The members of the

Operating Boards report to and advise the Executive Board on

Executive Board have been with the Company for a long time.

operational and commercial matters in relation to Europe and North

Regarding the Supervisory Board, four of the seven members are

America, respectively.

representatives of the shareholders. For the three other members, the

Executive Board and Executive Committee

The Refresco Group is managed on a day-to-day basis by the Executive
Committee, consisting of the Executive Board members, being the
CEO and the CFO, plus the COO Europe, the COO North America, the
CPO and the CCO. The composition of the Executive Committee and its
members’ key employment history are presented on page 32. As of
January 13, 2020. Mr. Dieter Schulz joined Refresco's Executive

key selection criterion is relevant industry knowledge. In case of new
vacancies to be filled within either the Executive Board or the
Supervisory Board, we strive for 30% of the seats to be allocated to
women and therefore give equal opportunities to both men and
women. However, the best candidate for the role concerned will be
appointed.

Change of control

Committee as COO Europe. Where the Executive Board is the formal

An affiliate of the Company, Sunshine Mid B.V., has issued

platform responsible for the expansion strategy of the company, the

EUR 445 million Senior Secured Notes. Upon certain events defined

Executive Committee is responsible for running the business and

as constituting a change of control, Sunshine Mid B.V. will be required

delivering on our growth plans.

to make an offer to purchase the outstanding notes at a purchase
price equal to 101% of their principal amount, plus accrued and

Supervisory Board

The Supervisory Board supervises the Executive Board, the policies
carried out by the Executive Board, and the general affairs of the
company and its affiliates. This includes, among other things, the
effectiveness of the company's internal risk management and control
systems, and the integrity and quality of the financial reporting. The
Supervisory Board reviews the strategy and supervises the Executive
Board in this regard.

unpaid interest and additional amounts, if any, to the date of
purchase. The definitions used in respect of a change of control
expressly permit a third party to obtain control of Sunshine Mid B.V. in
certain defined transactions without any obligation to make an offer.
It is not uncommon in our industry to have change of control
provisions in commercial agreements.

The Supervisory Board is supported by:
•

An Audit Committee: this committee supervises the effectiveness
of the company's internal risk management and control systems
and the integrity and quality of the financial reporting by the
company. It furthermore supervises the relations with internal
and external auditors and compliance with the recommendations
and following up of comments.

•

A Mergers and Acquisitions Committee: this committee supports
the Executive Board in the execution of its acquisition strategy
and makes recommendations about the strategy to the
Supervisory Board. This committee has the authority to approve
minor acquisitions and monitor major acquisitions on behalf of
the Supervisory Board.

•

A Remuneration and Nomination Committee: this committee is
responsible for advising the Supervisory Board on the
remuneration of the Executive Board, reviewing the Executive
Board’s proposals concerning remuneration policies for higher
management within the Refresco Group, and advising on
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Tax policy

Our business strategy is to grow alongside our customers in the
markets where we currently operate, to enter new products and
packaging categories in selected markets and to expand
geographically. We consider the management of taxes as an integral
part of this strategy. We understand that collecting and paying tax is
an important contribution to the economies and societies in which our
businesses operate. Our tax strategy is approved by the Executive
Board and ensures that taxes and related risks are managed to
provide sustainable outcomes within the parameters of our strategic
and commercial objectives, and that all tax obligations are complied
with in all countries where we operate.
We have established a tax risk management framework. This
framework sets out the process for defining tax risk appetite, and for
the monitoring, reporting and escalation of tax risks. Our approach to
taxes is on one hand supportable to the business needs and the
company’s strategy and on the other hand compliant with (case) law
and regulations. The group’s commercial needs are paramount and
thus ‘tax follows the business’. Where alternative routes exist to
achieve the same commercial goals we will take the most tax efficient
approach in the interest of all stakeholders, while remaining
compliant with all relevant laws, regulations and international
standards. Where tax laws do not give clear guidance, prudence and
transparency shall be the guiding principles. We will act in line with
the spirit of the tax law and will not operate on the edge of it. We do
not use artificial structures, instruments or tax havens solely for tax
avoidance.
Whilst applying the OECD guidelines on transfer pricing we report
income in the countries where the value is created, applying the arm’s
length principle. Where possible we will create and maintain a
relationship with local Tax Authorities and work closely together in an
open and transparent dialogue, creating mutual understanding and
trust. In The Netherlands we have entered into a Horizontal Monitoring
relationship with the Dutch Tax Authorities, which is based upon
proactively disclosing of uncertain tax positions, tax risks and
transparency to obtain as much upfront certainty of our Dutch tax
position as possible. This sets the example for how we want to work
with tax authorities around the globe: we will act transparently by
disclosing all relevant facts and circumstances and we aim to enhance
clarity and upfront certainty of tax consequences.
We support the global initiative of the OECD to promote tax
transparency and responsible tax management. We comply with
disclosure requirements to the tax authorities and are transparent in
reporting our tax position and approach to tax towards other
stakeholders as well.
See note 2.8 on page 55 of this report for the tax policy.
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Risks and risk management
Refresco's risk appetite

Operational risks

taking risks. We expect our employees to be entrepreneurial, but also

Ensuring the high quality standards of our products, customer service

As a basic principle, we believe that doing business comes with

Refresco has a prudent approach to operational risk management.

to act responsibly. This means that our employees should be able to

and continuity of our production have the highest priority

make their decisions by carefully considering both the risks and the
opportunities while taking into account the interests of all

Financial risks

stakeholders. Having a culture of openness, transparency and

Refresco seeks to identify, assess and, if necessary, mitigate financial

integrity supports our employees in addressing any potential risks

risks, which include currency and interest rate risks, in order to

they see.

minimize potential adverse effects on our financial performance

To frame our approach towards the various risks our company is

Legal and regulatory risks

facing, we categorize risks in four types. Each category comes with its

Refresco believes that compliance with laws is essential for doing

own risk appetite:

business and for that reason, we strive for full compliance with
applicable laws

Strategic risks

Entrepreneurship is one of Refresco’s values. We see a certain level of
risk-taking as part of our nature and we are willing to take a carefully
weighted risk/return approach when doing business

Key risks
Risk

Mitigation

strategic risks
Changes in customer and consumer preferences
Refresco produces products for its customers who in turn sell these

We aim for diversification in terms of product, packaging, customers

products to consumers. Should there be a reduction in consumer

and geography. This helps us to better anticipate changes in consumer

demand or customer requirements change in such a way that we are demand or customer requirements in a timely manner. Our flexible
not able to meet the new requirements, this may have an adverse

manufacturing processes also enable us to quickly adapt to changing

effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. customer requirements.
Buy & build strategy
We may not be able to execute this strategy due to a lack of suitable The Executive Board is directly responsible for the execution of the
targets. Furthermore, acquisitions may turn out to be less successful acquisition strategy. We are continuously looking for companies with
than anticipated.

the potential to fulfil our growth strategy.

If we are unsuccessful in the performance of our buy & build

Every acquisition process is supported by a team of dedicated and

strategy, it will be difficult for the Group to grow. Unsuccessful

experienced in-house professionals and external consultants who

acquisitions may lead to higher costs for the company.

perform due diligence to capture a proper assessment of the risks.
Any acquired business is integrated into the relevant jurisdiction as
quickly as possible because we believe that local integration is the best
way to facilitate a cultural fit into our organization.
Finalization of the integration of Cott's bottling activities into the
Refresco organization is being overseen by the members of the
Executive Board. We established an Integration Monitoring Office to
track day-to-day progress and ensure a smooth transition. The leader of
this team reports directly into the Executive Board.

Change in societal expectations around industry responsibility for
public health and environment
There is a continued high level of media and government scrutiny on We take various initiatives to address the concerns of society around
health and environmental concerns of consumers. Expectations from our impact on the environment and public health. More information
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Risk

Mitigation

industry taking responsibility in tackling health issues (such as

customers should they look for innovative solutions addressing these

obesity) and environmental issues (such as plastics) may grow,

concerns. Additionally, we believe that addressing these concerns also

leading inter alia to changes in regulations impacting our product

require an industry wide approach. We are a member of certain industry

portfolio and manufacturing processes.

bodies in which - among other things - these concerns are being

consumers and governmental and non-governmental bodies on the

about these initiatives can be found on pages 26 to 30. We support our

discussed.

operational risks
Fluctuations in the prices of raw and packaging materials
The prices of raw and packaging materials fluctuate due to factors

Our exposure to price fluctuations mostly impacts our retailer brands

beyond the Group’s control. While the company aims to purchase

business. In contract manufacturing we more often operate on the basis

sufficient raw and packaging materials to meet our estimated sales

of a tolling fee so the price risk is typically carried by the customer.

volumes, these estimates may prove inaccurate. If the raw and
packaging materials costs increase, it may not be possible to pass

The Group has a centralized procurement department that closely

the increase on to customers through price adjustments or in a

monitors price developments of raw and packaging materials. We have

timely manner. This could have a material adverse effect on the

a policy to wherever possible purchase forward contracts that match

business, financial condition and results of operations.

sales in volume as well as in time. The Group’s exposure is therefore
limited to under- or over-coverage by corresponding forward purchase
contracts.
A small percentage of input material cost fluctuations can sometimes
incur delay in being passed on to customers, resulting in a small upside
or downside deviation of gross profit margin per liter over time.
Occasionally, we may decide not to fully increase the prices of the
products we manufacture in order to sell a greater volume of these
products.

Dependency on a limited number of suppliers
Our manufacture of products is highly dependent on an adequate

This risk mainly applies for retailer brands, as these products are more

supply of certain raw materials including FCOJ, apple juice and sugar dependent on the Group’s own sourcing than contract manufacturing,
as well as certain packaging materials including liquid paperboard,

where the customer more often sources the raw materials.

aluminum cans and PET, most of which are only available from a
limited number of suppliers. The limited number of suppliers for

We attempt to ensure that we always have sufficient raw and packaging

these materials may undermine our negotiating position. The loss of materials in stock. To ensure we can cover sales positions with the
or delay in delivery by any one of these suppliers could lead to a

Group’s customers, we have adopted a policy to enter into forward

disruption in our supply chain, which could reduce the utilization

purchase contracts – up to 12 months in advance – for most raw and

rate of manufacturing sites and deliveries to customers, and in turn

packaging materials. If there are not sufficient raw materials or

have a material adverse effect on the business, financial condition

packaging, we discuss with our customers how to mitigate the impact.

and results of operations.
Additionally, to ensure we have alternatives when needed, the Group is
continuously looking to broaden its supplier base for the most
important raw and packaging materials.

Costs of utilities
Our manufacturing and distribution processes include a high usage

The risk of fluctuating utility costs such as gas and energy are mitigated

of utilities like gas, energy and transport costs. Utility costs may

by entering into longer term utility contracts. Where possible, we

fluctuate significantly representing a financial risk to our operations. include other utility costs in our contracts with customers and agree a
mechanism pursuant to which these costs are reviewed on a quarterly
basis.
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Risk

Mitigation

Health, safety and environment
Our reputation could be jeopardized by a failure to maintain high

To mitigate against the risks of quality and safety, each of our sites have

quality standards for our products or high ethical, social and

implemented a quality system based on the critical control and quality

environmental standards for our activities, including human rights

points.

related challenges in our supply chains.
All our European manufacturing sites are certified to a recognized
Our manufacturing sites are subject to a number of environmental

Global Food Safety Initiative Standard (GFSI) – which, depending on the

laws and other regulations relating to environmental control, fire

country, is Global Food Standard (BRC), FSSC 22000 or the International

safety, sanitation, and water consumption and treatment.

Features Standard Food (IFS Food). Furthermore, the majority of our
manufacturing sites in Europe are ISO14001 certified. In North America
our manufacturing sites are Safe Quality Food (SQF) certified. Our sites
are also regularly audited by our retail and A-brand customers. Where
relevant, we have taken out insurance for customary risks to cover any
negative financial consequences of the events insured to the maximum
amount possible.
We request our suppliers of raw materials and packaging to respect the
Refresco Supplier Code of Conduct. The code provides clear guidance on
how we expect our suppliers to act in the areas of compliance with laws
and regulations, integrity, gifts, hospitality & bribes, environment,
product safety and quality, health and safety, labor conditions & human
rights, confidentiality, privacy and intellectual property.
If a supplier fails to uphold the principles set out in the Supplier Code of
Conduct, Refresco has the right to either propose corrective actions or
to terminate the relevant agreement.
In signing up to the Sustainable Juice Covenant in 2017, we have
committed to work on a series of practical actions to increase the
sustainability of our supply chain, including labor conditions and
human rights related challenges.

Production contingency
Operations at our sites could be adversely affected by extraordinary We continue to invest significantly in our manufacturing sites and to
events which could materially reduce our production and have a

strive for improvement of our health, safety and environmental practice.

material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and

Together with our insurance broker we have a program to regularly

results of operations.

review our housekeeping, fire protection and environmental
management to mitigate business interruption.
We have contingency plans in place pursuant to which we can move
production to other locations in case of emergencies.
Furthermore, we have a crisis management programmes for dealing with
crises and certain identified staff have been trained in crisis
management.

Dependency on a relatively small number of customers
A significant portion of our revenue is concentrated with a relatively We have long-term relationships with the majority of our customers and
small number of customers; although we have multiple contracts

a high level of customer integration on supply chain, new product

with each of our customers. The Top-10 customers count for

development and customer service. We believe this mitigates the Group

approximately 50% of total revenue. The loss of such a customer

sufficiently against this risk.

could have a material adverse effect on our operating result and
cash flow.

Annual Report 2019

37

Risks and risk management

Executive Board Report

Risk

Mitigation

Loss of senior management or key employees
Human capital is one of our key assets. The performance of senior

We continue to invest time and resources in developing and training our

management and other key employees is critical to our success.

senior management and key employees. Furthermore, we continue to

There can be no assurance that Refresco will be successful in

invest in our leadership acceleration program LEAP because we believe

attracting or retaining highly qualified senior management and other that developing talent internally is preferable to attracting people
key employees needed in the future, which could have an adverse

externally. To remain attractive, we encourage international mobility

effect on the business.

and, where appropriate, we give our employees the opportunity to work
in another business unit.
We regularly perform employee surveys. The findings help us to
understand what our employees think about our leadership style,
organizational culture, working environment and the way we manage,
develop and recognize our people’s contribution.

Cybersecurity
The Group’s operating results may be adversely affected by a

In 2019 we reviewed internally and via external engagement the IT

breakdown of its information technology systems or a failure to

security level in various areas and we take actions reduce

develop those systems. The Group depends on key information

vulnerabilities across the business. For security around mail traffic we

systems to conduct its business, to provide information to

use specialized partner on Email Security to protect the company on

management and to prepare financial reports.

mail threats. For Office 365 we established and improved monitoring by
engaging an external partner. For 2020 we have established a new

We rely on reputable third party providers for the majority of our key position of Security Officer to create additional scope on IT security and
information systems and business processing services supporting

run further IT security initiatives.

our operations in several different countries. A system failure, could
therefore have serious consequences for the Group’s entire
business.

financial risks
Currency risk
The Group is exposed to currency risk mainly on purchases

At any point in time, the Group hedges 80 to 100% of its foreign

denominated in USD. With expanding the operations in the United

currency exposure on contracted forecasted purchases. The Group uses

States and the recent developments in the United Kingdom, the

currency option contracts and forward exchange contracts to hedge its

exposure to USD, GBP and CAD risks has become a higher priority.

currency risks, most of which have a maturity date of less than one year
from the reporting date. When necessary, foreign currency contracts are
rolled over on maturity.
In respect of other monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies, the Group ensures that its net exposure is kept to an
acceptable level by buying or selling foreign currencies at spot rates, as
necessary, to address short-term imbalances. See note 3 to the financial
statements on page 69 for more detail.

Other financial risks
Note 3 to the financial statements on page 66 gives more detail
regarding the company’s approach towards financial risk
management and addresses certain identified risks.

legal and regulatory risks
Non-compliance with laws
The Group may fail to comply with any laws and regulations that are Refresco operates a Code of Conduct. Our customers perform audits in
applicable to its business and production facilities and/or supply

which compliance with food and safety legislations are also addressed.
Where relevant, we monitor legislation to ensure compliance. Finally, we

Annual Report 2019

38

Risks and risk management

Executive Board Report

Risk

Mitigation

increased costs.

can address non-compliant situations.

chains. This may lead to fines, interruptions in operations and

have whistleblowing processes in place pursuant to which employees

Additionally, the Group may have to recall products manufactured for We give clear guidance in Refresco's Supplier Code of Conduct about
third parties which may lead to significant harm to the Group’s

how we expect our suppliers to act in the areas of compliance with laws

reputation.

and regulations, integrity, gifts, hospitality & bribes, environment,
product safety and quality, health and safety, labor conditions & human
rights, confidentiality, privacy and intellectual property.

The above table gives an overview of the risks that we believe may have an adverse impact on the Group. Additional risks and uncertainties of which we are
not aware or that we currently believe are less material, may also adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations. We have

High

included the risks in the risk grid below. The table and the grid are not exhaustive.

Changes in customer and end-consumer preferences
Buy & build strategy
Production contingency
Dependency on a relatively
small number of customers

Availability of credit

Fluctuations in the prices of raw materials
and packaging materials

Dependency on a limited number of suppliers
Health, safety and environment

Loss of senior management or key employees
Currency risk

Medium

impact

Cybersecurity

Low

Non-compliance with laws

Low

Medium

likelihood

Risk management

We believe that risk management starts with the creation of an open
culture in which employees are empowered to optimize the balance
between maximization of business opportunities and managing the
risks involved. Refresco's Code of Conduct informs employees
throughout the organization what we expect from them in terms of
ethical behaviour.

High

In addition to creating the right culture, we have a program of internal
control and reporting procedures. Internal audit procedures play a key
role in providing the Operational Boards and the Executive Board an
objective view on, and ongoing assurance as to, the effectiveness of
risk management and related control systems throughout the Group.
By drawing up an annual Internal Audit Plan, the systematic
assessment of the design and effectiveness of internal risk

Our whistleblowing procedure details the exact process to be followed
if an irregularity is identified and outlines the roles and
responsibilities of the different parties involved. Both the Code of
Conduct and the whistleblowing procedure are available on the
company's website.
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internal control and reporting procedures, we bring them into the

The Executive Board is responsible for establishing and monitoring

Group’s governance structure as soon as is practically possible. We

the Group’s internal risk management and control systems. It is also

typically aim for integration to be completed by the end of the first full

responsible for identifying risks and implementing its risk

year of operations within the Group.

management policies, internal controls and reporting procedures. The
Executive Board reports regularly to the Supervisory Board and the

We also have various measures in place to mitigate operational risks.

Audit Committee on issues relating to risk management and internal

All our manufacturing sites in Europe are certified to a recognized

control and on the effectiveness of these programs.

Global Food Safety Initiative Standard (GFSI) – which, depending on
the country, is Global Food Standard (BRC), FSSC 22000 or the

In 2019, we discovered no major failings in the internal risk

International Features Standard Food (IFS Food). Furthermore, the

management and control systems. The risk of fraud and IT security

majority of our manufacturing sites in Europe are ISO14001 certified.

received attention during the Internal Audit, but there were no

In North America our manufacturing sites are Safe Quality Food (SQF)

material risks identified.

certified. Our sites are also regularly audited by our retail and A-brand
customers. Where relevant, we have taken out insurance for
customary risks to cover for negative financial consequences of the
events insured to the maximum amount possible.
Finally, in addition to the above organizational mitigation measures,
we have a strong financial position which can act as a cushion against
an economic downturn in our company due to any of the outlined
risks materializing.
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Product innovation:
a value-adding product
in every sense

Value-added water has been growing as a beverages category
around the world. In North America, this was a strong
component of Refresco’s recent success, as consumers have
demonstrated a clear preference for healthy, lower-calorie
alternatives to traditional carbonated soft drinks.
As this category expands, more of our customers have relied
on the support of our specialists to help them launch whole
ranges of value-added-water products, and to develop new
and interesting additions to existing portfolios of retail
brands. By tailoring recommendations to retailers’ customer
profiles, Refresco has helped to deploy whole ranges of
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exciting new products that are helping to drive growth in this
market.
In 2019, Refresco’s innovation team held an internal tasting
event where it presented a menu of new flavors to customers’
Sales Directors, based on the company’s view of what would
appeal to consumers. Our recently acquired concentrates
facility in Columbus, Georgia, US, developed a range of
botanical and spiced flavors, ranging from ginger-oaked
blackberry to orange blossom cardamom sparkling waters.
The event was extremely successful, and several retailers are
set to launch products in 2020.
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Chairman’s foreword

with integrating recently acquired assets. With

Supervisory Board activities in
2019

the integration of the former Cott's bottling

In 2019, the Supervisory Board of Refresco Group B.V. held seven in-

business being nearly complete, Refresco is

pre-set schedule. All of the above meetings were held with the CEO

In 2019, Refresco again proved its excellence

well on its way to creating a cross-continental
business that is able to meet new market
developments and satisfy an evolving range of
customer and consumer needs. The Supervisory

person meetings and a number of teleconferences according to its
and the CFO present. Depending on the agenda and location of the
meeting, one or more other members of the Executive Committee were
also present. None of the members of the Supervisory Board were
frequently absent. The Supervisory Board visited the Group's
operations in Bridgewater (UK), Wharton, NJ (US) and Caslino (Italy).
During the regular Supervisory Board meetings, the Supervisory Board
was updated – where applicable – on the operational and financial

Board fully supports Refresco in its journey to

performance of Refresco, any relevant activities regarding the

become one of the world’s largest independent

EUR 5 million. Where applicable, the Chairmen of the sub-committees

bottling solutions providers. Toward the end of

of the sub-committee meetings held. Recurring items on the annual

the year, the Supervisory Board welcomed Ms.

Report, the three year plan, and the budget for the next calendar year.

Brown as a new Member, replacing Mr. Brugère.

In 2019, the Supervisory Board continued to track the integration of

On behalf of the Supervisory Board, I would like
to thank all of the employees and the Executive
Committee for their commitment to realizing the
ambitions of our 2025 strategy.

company’s 'buy & build' strategy and any CAPEX proposals above
were given the opportunity to report on the deliberations and findings
calendar of the Supervisory Board are the approval of the Annual

the former Cott's bottling activities. It approved and closely monitored
the acquisition projects which completed in 2019, being the beverage
concentrate facility and R&D platform in Columbus, Georgia, the CocaCola European Partners’ Milton Keynes site in the UK and the two
PepsiCo manufacturing sites in Spain. The acquisition of US-based
AZPACK, which was completed at the start of 2020, as well as the
intended purchase of Britvic's three juice bottling facilities in France
were fully supported by the Supervisory Board as well. Another topic
discussed by the Supervisory Board was the extension of the
Executive Committee with the Chief Commercial Officer (CCO) and the
Chief Procurement Officer (CPO). The Supervisory Board shares the

Luis Bach,
Chairman of the Supervisory Board

view of the Executive Committee that these additions will enable
Refresco to accelerate its growth strategy and its transformation from
bottler to beverage solutions provider. Finally, sustainability has been
an area of continuous focus for the Supervisory Board, which believes
it is the Group's responsibility as a beverage solution provider to align
its efforts with the sustainability needs of its customers as well as
consumers.

Committees
Audit Committee

The Audit Committee comprises Messrs. Guimaraes (chairman),
Golden, and Pittman, whereas Mr. Brugère was replaced during the
year by Mrs. Brown.
In 2019, the Audit Committee met four times. Two of the meetings
were held by teleconference. Meetings were held in the presence of
the CFO and the Group Director Finance. The external auditor attended
all four meetings. The internal auditor attended one meeting.
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The Audit Committee reviewed and discussed the performance of the

The Committee had three in-person meetings in 2019. During these

Internal Audit Plan in 2019. It was determined to continue the review

meetings, the Committee discussed inter alia the Company's strategy.

regarding the exposure of the company to fraud risks as fraud remains

The Supervisoy Board approved a change in the governance allocating

an area of attention. In 2019 the financial impact of the acquisition of

certain authorities to the Executive Board and the Committee,

Cott's bottling activities and refinancing of the company's current

enabling shorter decision processes around smaller acquisitions.

debt, the increased leverage ratio as a result thereof were also areas
of attention for the Audit Committee. Every quarter, the Audit

Remuneration and Nomination Committee

Committee is informed about the developments in the market based

The Remuneration and Nominating Committee was composed of Mr.

on the data made available by a third-party market research specialist

Stévenin as chairman and Messrs. Bach, Guimaraes, and Remedios as

and the Audit Committee reviews press releases reporting on the

members.

results in the quarter concerned. In its final meeting in 2019, the
Audit Committee discussed, among other items, the audit plan of the

The Remuneration and Nominating Committee convened four times.

external auditor for the financial statements included in this Annual

There were two in-person meetings, and two meetings were held by

Report, the outcomes of the interim audit – including the internal

teleconference. The meetings were attended by the CEO and Group

control environment – performed by the external auditor.

Director of Human Resources. In the case of topics concerning the
remuneration of the CEO, these were discussed without the CEO being

The Audit Committee also discussed the findings of the internal

present.

audits in 2019 and the internal audit plan for 2020. Some
recommendations were made regarding the review on fraud risks, but

The Remuneration and Nominating Committee dedicated time to

it was concluded that – to date – fraud does not qualify as a major

review the People Agenda and Succession Planning process for

risk to the company’s operations.

Group’s Senior Management. The Remuneration and Nominating
Committee also conducted (i) a Performance & Development Review

Mergers and Acquisitions Committee

for all members of the Top 20 and (ii) a benchmark of the

Until the resignation of Mr. Brugère, the Mergers and Acquisitions

remuneration of the Executive Committee.

Committee was composed of Mr. Golden as chairman and Messrs.
Bach, Brugère, and Remedios as members. In 2019, Mr. Brugère was
replaced by Mr. Stévenin.

Composition of the Supervisory Board

The Supervisory Board consists of Messrs. Bach, Golden, Guimaraes, Pittman, Remedios, and Stévenin, and Ms. Brown.

The Supervisory Board consists of members representing the shareholders of the Company and independent members. Relevant industry
knowledge is the key appointment criterion for the independent members and will be the decisive factor in determining the most suitable
candidate. In 2019, Mr. Nicolas Brugère left PAI Partners to pursue other opportunities. He was replaced by Ms. Maud Brown. The Supervisory
Board would like to thank Mr. Brugère for his dedication to and work done for the Company as a member of the Supervisory Board.
The table below reflects the members of the Supervisory Board and their respective committee memberships as of December 31, 2019. Their
biographies are presented on pages 45 and 46 of this Annual Report.
Name

Position

Initial appointment

Committees

Mr. Luis Bach

Chairman

July 2018

Member of the M&A Committee
Member of the Remuneration and Nomination Committee

Ms. Maud Brown

Member

November 2019

Member of the Audit Committee

Mr. Bob Golden

Member

July 2018

Chairman of the M&A Committee
Member of the Audit Committee

Mr. Enderson Guimaraes

Member

July 2018

Chairman of the Audit Committee
Member of the Remuneration and Nomination Committee

Mr. Jim Pittman

Member

July 2018

Member of the Audit Committee

Mr. Julian Remedios

Member

July 2018

Member of the M&A Committee
Member of the Remuneration and Nomination Committee

Mr. Frédéric Stévenin

Member

July 2018

Chairman of the Remuneration and Nomination Committee
Member of the M&A Committee
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Financial statements 2019
The Financial Statements were audited by Ernst & Young Accountants
LLP. Their independent auditor’s report can be found on pages 109 to
114 of this Annual Report. The Audit Committee and the Supervisory
Board reviewed and discussed the Annual Report for the financial year
2019 in their respective meetings. The external auditor attended
these meetings to present their audit findings. The meeting by the
Audit Committee was held in the presence of the CFO. The relevant
Supervisory Board meeting was held in the presence of the CEO and
the CFO. The Supervisory Board endorses the financial statements.
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Supervisory Board

Luis Bach
(1955, Male, Spanish)

Maud Brown
(1975, Female, French)

Mr. Bach previously held various positions within

Ms. Brown is a Partner with PAI Partners and in charge

Martini & Rossi, Bacardi, Orangina-Schweppes, and

of the firm’s activities in North America. Prior to joining

Suntory. His most recent executive role was Chairman

PAI, Ms. Brown spent 18 years with Investcorp, most

and CEO of Orangina Schweppes. He is also Chairman

recently as a Managing Director and Member of the

of Samson & Surrey Holdings and a member of the

firm’s Investment Committee, based in New York. Prior

board at Tous Jewelry.

to joining Investcorp, Ms. Brown began her career in
M&A, at Merrill Lynch and Salomon Brothers in London.

Robert Golden
(1960, Male, American)

Enderson Guimaraes
(1959, Male, Brazilian)

Mr. Golden is Chief Operating Officer of Continental

Mr. Guimaraes previously held various positions within

Grain Company and a member of the company's

the beverage, semi-durables, and education industries.

Management Committee and Board of Directors. He

His most recent roles were President and COO of

retired as VP of Mergers & Acquisitions for AB InBev in

Laureate Education Inc, President of PepsiCo, CEO

January 2018 following a near-30-year career covering a

PepsiCo Europe and Sub-Sahara Africa, CEO of

range of executive responsibilities, including

Electrolux EMEA, and member of the executive

leadership of AB InBev's global acquisition program

committees of Electrolux, PepsiCo, and Laureate. Mr.

following the combination of Anheuser-Busch and

Guimaraes is currently an independent board member

InBev.

of AutoZone Inc.
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Jim Pittman
(1963, Male, Canadian)

Julian Remedios
(1970, Male, Canadian)

Mr. Pittman joined BCi April 2016 and currently serves

Mr. Remedios is a Senior Portfolio Manager in the

as Executive Vice President of Global Private Equity.

Private Equity Group of BCi. He has been involved in

Prior to this, Mr. Pittman was Managing Director of

most all aspects of BCi’s Private Equity activities over

Private Equity for PSP Investments, a position he held

the past ten years with particular focus on the

since 2005. Mr. Pittman is a CPA in Canada and is

international portfolio and direct investing activities.

currently a board member for Hayfin Financial in

Among other current responsibilities, he leads BCi’s

London.

Private Equity Healthcare sector team.

Frédéric Stévenin
(1966, Male, French)
Mr. Stévenin is the partner in charge of the Food &
Consumer and Healthcare sector teams, and Chief
Investment Officer at PAI. He currently serves as
member of several boards, including Froneri and
Labeyrie. He first joined PAI in 1993 and spent five
years in the Food & Beverage Sector Team. From 1998
to 2001, he worked for Deutsche Bank / Bankers Trust
in the European Acquisition Finance Group as a
Director, and subsequently as Managing Director.
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Consolidated income statement

For the financial period ended December 31

(x 1 million euro)

Note

Revenue from contracts with customers
Other income
Raw materials and consumables used
Employee benefits expense
Depreciation, amortization and impairments
Other operating expenses
Operating profit

4.2
4.3
4.4
4.5
4.6
4.7

3,896.7
1.3
(2,167.2)
(540.9)
(288.0)
(762.0)
139.9

2,963.6
25.6
(1,767.4)
(382.5)
(142.7)
(652.4)
44.2

Finance income
Finance expense
Net finance costs

4.8
4.8
4.8

0.8
(156.8)
(156.0)

0.4
(105.8)
(105.4)

Profit/(loss) before income tax
Income tax (expense) / benefit
Profit/(loss)

4.9

(16.1)
0.1
(16.0)

(61.2)
6.0
(55.2)

(23.3)
7.3
(16.0)

(62.7)
7.5
(55.2)

Profit/(loss) attributable to:
Owners of the Company
Non-controlling interest
Profit/(loss)
The notes on page 53 to page 101 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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2019

2017-2018

Consolidated statement of other comprehensive income

For the financial period ended December 31

(x 1 million euro)
Profit / (loss)

Note

2019

2017-2018

(16.0)

(55.2)

5.9
5.9

(12.0)
2.9
(9.1)

1.5
(0.7)
0.8

5.9
5.9
5.9

(17.5)
4.3
2.9
0.1
(10.2)

(15.4)
34.9
6.0
25.5

Other comprehensive income / (loss)

(19.3)

26.3

Total comprehensive income / (loss)

(35.3)

(28.9)

Attributable to:
Equity holders of the Company
Non-controlling interest
Total comprehensive income / (loss)

(42.4)
7.1
(35.3)

(36.0)
7.1
(28.9)

Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss
Remeasurements of post employment benefit obligations
Income tax (expenses)/benefits
Total
Items that may be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss
Cashflow hedges
Foreign currency translation differences for foreign operations
Income tax (expenses)/benefits
Other
Total

The notes on page 53 to page 101 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated balance sheet

As at December 31

(x 1 million euro)

Assets
Property, plant and equipment
Right-of-use assets
Intangible assets
Non-current financial assets
Deferred income tax
Total non-current assets
Inventories
Derivative financial instruments
Current income tax receivable
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Total current assets

Note

December 31, 2019

December 31, 2018

5.1
5.2
5.3
5.4
5.5

1,180.1
369.6
2,210.7
14.9
0.1
3,775.4

1,138.7
2,227.7
12.7
0.3
3,379.4

5.6
3.1/3.3

383.8
5.3
524.5
282.9
1,196.5

396.9
2.7
25.7
548.1
226.3
1,199.7

0.4

0.4

4,972.3

4,579.5

5.7
5.8

Assets classified as held for sale
Total assets
Equity
Issued share capital
Share premium
Other reserves
Retained earnings
Result for the financial period
Equity attributable to equity holders of the Company
Non-controlling interests
Total equity

5.9
5.9
5.9
5.9

5.9

Liabilities
Loans and borrowings
Lease liability
Derivative financial instruments
Employee benefits provisions
Other provisions
Deferred income tax
Total non-current liabilities
Loans and borrowings
Lease liability
Derivative financial instruments
Trade and other payables
Deferred payments acquisition
Current income tax liabilities
Provisions
Total current liabilities

2,684.8
319.4
26.3
62.1
33.9
99.0
3,225.5

2,509.4
10.5
51.3
14.0
124.3
2,709.5

5.10
5.11
3.1/3.3
5.14
6.1

3.1
66.4
3.5
814.4
29.3
13.7
10.8
941.2

90.3
1.9
897.0
26.2
7.8
1,023.2

4,166.7
4,972.3

3,732.7
4,579.5

Total liabilities
Total equity and liabilities
The notes on page 53 to page 101 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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0.0
882.4
20.2
(62.7)
839.9
6.9
846.8

5.10
5.11
3.1/3.3
5.12
5.13
5.5

5.13
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882.4
1.1
(60.8)
(23.3)
799.4
6.2
805.6

Consolidated balance sheet

Consolidated statement of changes in equity

For the financial period ended December 31

Note

(x 1 million euro)
January 1, 2019

Issued
Share
share
premium
capital

Other Retained
reserves earnings

-

882.4

Other comprehensive income / (loss)
Profit / (loss)
Total comprehensive income / (loss)

-

-

Appropriation of result

-

-

-

(62.7)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

882.4

1.1

-

-

26.7
26.7

-

-

882.4
-

(6.5)
-

-

-

882.4

(6.5)

-

-

882.4

20.2

-

Dividends paid / repayment of share premium
Other
Total transactions with owners recognized directly in
equity

5.9

December 31, 2019

20.2

-

(19.1)
(19.1)

-

Result
for the
period

NonTotal controlling
interest

Total
Equity

(62.7)

839.9

6.9

846.8

(23.3)
(23.3)

(19.1)
(23.3)
(42.4)

(0.2)
7.3
7.1

(19.3)
(16.0)
(35.3)

62.7

-

1.9

-

1.9

(7.8)
-

(7.8)
1.9

1.9

-

1.9

(7.8)

(5.9)

(60.8)

-

-

(23.3)

799.4

6.2

805.6

(62.7)
(62.7)

26.7
(62.7)
(36.0)

(0.4)
7.5
7.1

26.3
(55.2)
(28.9)

-

882.4
(6.5)
-

(20.6)
20.4

882.4
(20.6)
(6.5)
20.4

-

875.9

(0.2)

875.7

839.9

6.9

846.8

October 20, 2017
Other comprehensive income / (loss)
Profit / (loss)
Total comprehensive income / (loss)
Share capital issued
Dividends paid / repayment of share premium
Other
Non-controlling interest arising on business combinations
Total transactions with owners recognized directly in
equity

5.9
5.9

December 31, 2018

(62.7)

The notes on page 53 to page 101 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated statement of cash flows
For the financial period ended December 31

(x 1 million euro)

Note

Profit/(loss) after tax
Adjustments for:
Depreciation, amortization and impairments
Net change in fair value derivative financial instruments
Other net finance costs
(Gain) / loss on sale of property, plant and equipment
Income tax expense / (benefit)
Movement in employee benefit provisions and other provisions
Cash flow from operating activities before changes in working capital

4.6
4.8
4.8
4.3
4.9

Changes in:
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Trade and other payables
Total change in working capital
Interest received
Interest paid
Payments interest portion leases
Income taxes paid
Net cash generated from operating activities

5.2/5.11

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment
Purchase of intangible assets
Purchase of other non-current financial assets
Proceeds non-current financial assets
Acquisition of subsidiary, net cash acquired
Disinvestment of branded activities Columbus
Net cash used in investing activities

5.3

6.1
6.1

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds of new issued shares
Dividend payment
Proceeds from loans and borrowings
Repayment of loans and borrowings
Financing costs
Payments principal portion leases
Net cash (used in)/from financing activities

5.9
5.10
5.10
4.8
5.2/5.11

Net cash (used in)/from operating, investing and financing activities
Translation adjustment
Movement in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents as at January 1
Bank overdraft as at January 1
Cash and cash equivalents as at December 31
Bank overdraft as at December 31
Cash movement

5.8
5.8
5.8
5.8

The cash flow statement is prepared according to the indirect method.
The notes on page 53 to page 101 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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2019

2017-2018

(16.0)

(55.2)

288.0
(1.1)
157.1
(1.3)
(0.1)
(6.1)
420.5

142.7
(0.8)
106.2
(25.6)
(6.0)
(16.2)
145.1

37.0
48.2
(87.2)
(2.0)

31.7
16.2
127.9
175.8

0.8
(125.3)
(12.9)
(8.0)
273.1

0.4
(81.2)
(24.3)
215.8

(198.0)
6.1
(4.3)
(0.4)
0.6
(44.1)
35.8
(204.3)

(116.0)
44.1
(2.4)
15.6
(1,513.3)
(1,572.0)

(7.8)
300.0
(159.4)
(59.3)
73.5

882.4
(20.6)
3,029.8
(2,326.1)
(43.6)
1,521.9

142.3
0.9
143.2

165.7
(26.0)
139.7

226.3
(86.6)
282.9
0.0
143.2

226.3
(86.6)
139.7

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
1

General information

The consolidated financial statements of Refresco Group B.V.
(‘Refresco Group’ or the ‘Company’ ) and its group companies
(collectively, the 'Group') concern the financial year 2019 as from
January 1, 2019 until December 31, 2019. The consolidated financial
statements were approved for issuance by both the Supervisory Board
and Executive Board on March 11, 2020.

from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect
those returns through its power over the investee.
Specifically, the Group controls an investee if, and only if, the Group
has:
•

Refresco Group has been consolidated by Sunshine Top B.V. as from
acquisition date March 29, 2018. Sunshine Top B.V. was incorporated
on October 20, 2017 and domiciled in the Netherlands, with its
registered office at Fascinatio Boulevard 270, 3065 WB Rotterdam,
trade register number 69880670. As per October 2, 2019, Sunshine
Top B.V. was renamed to Refresco Group B.V. The shareholder and
ultimate controlling party is Sunshine Equity B.V.

Power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give it the
current ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee)

•

Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with
the investee

•

The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights result
in control. To support this presumption and when the Group has less
than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group

The activities of the Group consist of the manufacturing of fruit juices
and soft drinks for retailers and A-brands. Sales and production are
made both domestically and abroad, Europe and North America being
the most important markets.

2

achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns

Significant accounting policies

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently
to all periods presented in these consolidated financial statements,
and have been applied consistently by the Group.

considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it
has power over an investee, including:
•

The contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the
investee

•

Rights arising from other contractual arrangements

•

The Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights

The Group re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of
the three elements of control. Consolidation of a subsidiary begins
when the Group obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when

2.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as
adopted by the European Union. Refer to note 2.20 for an overview of
new standards and amendments effective as of January 1, 2019 which
have been applied by the Group. The consolidated financial
statements have been prepared on the historical cost convention
except for derivative financial instruments which are measured at fair
value. The consolidated financial statements are presented in euros
and all values are rounded to the nearest million with one decimal,
unless stated otherwise.

the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Assets, liabilities, income
and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year
are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date
the Company gains control until the date the Group ceases to control
the subsidiary.
Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income
(OCI) are attributed to the equity holders of the parent of the Group
and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the noncontrolling interests having a deficit balance. When necessary,
adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to

Since Sunshine Top B.V. (renamed to Refresco Group B.V. as per
October 2, 2019) was incorporated on October 20, 2017, the
comparative figures in this financial statements concerns the
extended financial period as from October 20, 2017 until December
31, 2018.
The company financial statements are part of the consolidated
financial statements of Refresco Group B.V. The Company makes use
of the option provided in section 2:402 of the Dutch Civil Code, under
which the income statement in the company financial statements can
be simplified.

bring their accounting policies into line with the Group’s accounting
policies.
A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of
control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.
If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognizes the
related assets (including goodwill), liabilities, non-controlling interest
and other components of equity while any resultant gain or loss is
recognized in profit or loss. Any investment retained is recognized at
fair value.
The Group uses the acquisition method of accounting to account for

2.2 Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial
statements of the Group and its subsidiaries as at balance sheet date.
The companies in note 3.1 of the company financial statements have

business combinations. The consideration transferred for a subsidiary
is the fair value of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred and
the equity interests issued by the Group.

all been included in the consolidated financial statements. Control is
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The consideration transferred includes the fair value of any asset or

Euros at the exchange rate at the reporting date. The income and

liability resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement.

expenses of foreign operations are translated into Euros at the

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred. Identifiable

exchange rates at the dates of the transactions (or at an average rate

assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a

if this is not an unreasonable approximation).

business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the
acquisition date.

Foreign currency differences arising thereon are recognized, in other
comprehensive income, in the foreign currency translation reserve.

Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealized income

When a foreign operation is disposed of, either in part or in full, the

and expenses arising from intra-group transactions, are eliminated in

associated cumulative amount in the foreign currency translation

preparing the consolidated financial statements. Unrealized losses

reserve is transferred to profit or loss as an adjustment to the profit or

are eliminated in the same way as unrealized gains, but only to the

loss on disposal.

extent that there is no evidence of impairment.
Foreign exchange gains and losses arising on a monetary item

2.3 Foreign currency

receivable from or payable to a foreign operation, the settlement of
which is neither planned nor likely in the foreseeable future, are

Functional and presentation currency

considered to form part of the net investment in the foreign operation

The Group’s consolidated financial statements are presented in euros,

and are recognized in other comprehensive income in the foreign

which is also the Refresco Group B.V. functional currency. For each

currency translation reserve.

entity, the Group determines the functional currency and items
included in the financial statements of each entity are measured
using that functional currency which is the Euro, except for UK (GBP),
US (USD), Canada (CAD), Poland (PLN) and Mexico (MXN).

2.4 Revenue from contracts with customers
Products sold

Revenue from the sale of products is recognized at an amount that

Transactions and balances in foreign currency

reflects the consideration to which The Group expects to be entitled in

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the respective

exchange for transferring goods to customers, net of returns, trade

functional currencies of Group entities at the exchange rates at the

discounts and volume rebates. The five-step model of IFRS 15 is

dates of the transactions.

applied for revenue arising from contracts with customers. Revenue is
recognized when both parties have approved the contract, the Group

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are

can identify each party's rights regarding the goods or services to be

translated at the functional currency spot rates of exchange at the

transferred, the Group can identify the payment terms for the goods or

reporting date.

services to be transferred, the contract has commercial substance and
it is probable that the Group will collect the consideration to which it

Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary items are

will be entitled in exchange for the goods or services that will be

recognized in profit or loss with the exception of monetary items that

transferred to the customer.

are designated as part of the hedge of the Group’s net investment of a
foreign operation. These are recognized in OCI until the net

The Group has two main revenue streams: (1) Manufacturing of goods

investment is disposed of, at which time, the cumulative amount is

for retailer brands and (2) Filling of beverages for contract

reclassified to profit or loss. Tax charges and credits attributable to

manufacturing customers.

exchange differences on those monetary items are also recorded in
The performance obligation identified in retailer brands contracts is

OCI.

the delivery of the finished product at a specified location (e.g.
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a

distribution center or warehouse). This performance obligation

foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the dates

(delivery of finished goods) is generally met when the goods are

of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value

delivered at the customer. At this point in time control is transferred

in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the

and the customer has:

date when the fair value is determined. The gain or loss arising on

•

legal title to the asset

translation of non-monetary items measured at fair value is treated in

•

physical possession of the asset

line with the recognition of the gain or loss on the change in fair value

•

significant rights and rewards of ownership of the asset

of the item i.e. translation differences on items whose fair value gain

•

accepted the asset

or loss is recognized in OCI or profit or loss are also recognized in OCI
or profit or loss, respectively.

This is also the moment revenue is recognized.

Foreign operations

The performance obligation identified in contract manufacturing

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations, including goodwill

contracts is the filling of beverages. This performance obligation is

and fair value adjustments arising on acquisition, are translated into

satisfied directly after production or at delivery, depending on what is
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agreed in the contract. This is also the moment the service is

local customers, the segment Europe has eight regionally focused

completed, control is transferred and revenue is recognized.

business units, which focus on (local) sales and production.

For both performance obligations the transaction price is allocated to

The core functions for North America are performed separately from

individual goods. Other performance obligations identified are not

the Europe operations. North America is centrally organized, with the

material.

headquarter in Tampa, Florida, United States. The focus is on (local)
sales and production.

Contract manufacturing

Contract manufacturing consists of the provision of manufacturing

The segments’ performance is evaluated against several measures, of

services and sale of the resultant product. The nature and the risk

which operating income is the most important. Intersegment sales are

profile of the contract with the customer are key in determining

executed under normal commercial terms and conditions that would

whether the Group is providing a manufacturing service or is selling a

also be available to unrelated third parties. Net sales are attributed to

product. The revenue is recognized solely for the activities,

geographic regions based on the location of stores.

ingredients and materials for which the Group is the principal and has
the control.

The segment reporting is disclosed in note 4.1.

Considerations in measurement of revenue from contracts with
customers

2.6 Government grants

Government grants are recognized at their fair value when it is

The Group considers whether there are other promises in the contract

reasonably assured that the Group will comply with the conditions

that are separate performance obligations to which a portion of the

attached to them and that the grants will be received. Government

transaction price needs to be allocated. In determining the

grants relating to property, plant and equipment are deducted from

transaction price for products sold and contract manufacturing, the

the carrying amount of the asset. Government grants relating to

Group considers the effects of variable consideration, the existence of

period costs are deferred and recognized in the income statement

significant financing components, noncash consideration, and

over the period necessary to match them with the costs they are

consideration payable to the customer. In general, aforementioned is

intended to compensate.

not applicable.
The Group receives short-term advances from its customers. Using the

2.7 Finance income and expense

Finance income comprises interest income on bank deposits and fair

practical expedient in IFRS 15, the Group does not adjust the

value gains on interest hedging instruments that are recognized in

promised amount of consideration for the effects of a significant

profit or loss. Interest income is recognized in profit or loss as it

financing component if it expects, at contract inception, that the

accrues, using the effective interest method. Finance expense

period between the transfer of the promised good to the customer

comprises interest expense on borrowings including derivative

and when the customer pays for that good will be one year or less.

financial instruments, the unwinding of discount on provisions and
fair value losses on interest hedging instruments that are recognized

2.5 Segment reporting

in profit or loss.

The Group's management defines the operating segments Europe and
North America in the context of IFRS 8. The Group's operating
segments - Europe and North America - engage in business activities

2.8 Income tax

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax

from which they earn revenues and incur expenses. The operating

expense is recognized in profit or loss except to the extent that it

results are regularly reviewed by the Executive Board, being the Chief

relates to items recognized in equity or other comprehensive income

Operating Decision Maker, for decisions about resource allocation

in which case the income tax expense is also recognized in equity or

and to assess segment performance.

other comprehensive income.

The core functions for Europe are performed at the headquarters in

Current tax is the income tax expected to be payable on the taxable

Rotterdam and the Group applies the Pan-European approach to its

profit for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at

Europe operations. Europe is centrally organized to maximize

the reporting date, together with any adjustment to tax payable in

operational efficiencies, synergies and funding through its

respect of previous years.

headquarters in Rotterdam.
Deferred tax is recognized using the balance sheet method, providing
The central activities include decisions related to allocating resources,

for temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and

(central) sales, operations and footprint, financing of the Group,

liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for

procurement, major investments and acquisitions, human resources,

taxation purposes. Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all

treasury, reporting and ICT. In order to use its European footprint for

taxable temporary differences, except:

reduction of production and transportation costs, and to be close to

•

When the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition
of goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a
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business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
•

flows that are ‘solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI)’ on the

neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss

principal amount outstanding. This assessment is referred to as the

In respect of taxable temporary differences associated with

SPPI test and is performed at an instrument level.

investments in subsidiaries, associates and interests in joint
ventures, when the timing of the reversal of the temporary

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets refers to

differences can be controlled and it is probable that the

how it manages its financial assets in order to generate cash flows.

temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future

The business model determines whether cash flows will result from
collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both.

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be
applied to temporary differences in the reporting period they reverse,

For purposes of subsequent measurement, financial assets are

based on the laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by

classified in four categories:

the reporting date.

1.

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

2.

Financial assets at fair value through OCI with recycling of

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset:
•
•

cumulative gains and losses (debt instruments)

If there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax

3.

Financial assets designated at fair value through OCI with no

liabilities and assets, and

recycling of cumulative gains and losses upon derecognition

If they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on

(equity instruments)

the same taxable entity or on different taxable entities which
intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or
the tax assets and liabilities of which will be realized
simultaneously

4.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at amortised cost
The first category is the most relevant to the Group. The Group’s
financial assets at amortised cost includes non-current financial

A deferred tax asset is recognized to the extent that it is probable that
future taxable profits will be available against which the temporary
difference can be utilized. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each

assets and trade receivables. The Group measures financial assets at
amortised cost if both of the following conditions are met:
•

objective to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual

reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that the related tax benefit will be realized.

The financial asset is held within a business model with the
cash flows;

•

The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and

2.9 Financial instruments

interest on the principal amount outstanding

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial
asset of one entity and a financial liability or equity instrument of
another entity.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using

Financial assets

Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is

the effective interest (EIR) method and are subject to impairment.

Financial assets comprise non-current financial assets, trade and
other receivables and cash and cash equivalents. Financial assets are
classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently measured at
amortised cost, fair value through other comprehensive income (OCI),
and fair value through profit or loss.
The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on
the financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics and the
Group’s business model for managing them. With the exception of
trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or for which the Group has applied the practical
expedient, the Group initially measures a financial asset at its fair
value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through
profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not contain
a significant financing component or for which the Group has applied
the practical expedient are measured at the transaction price
determined under IFRS 15. Refer to the accounting policies in section
Revenue from contracts with customers.

derecognised, modified or impaired.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include financial
assets held for trading, financial assets designated upon initial
recognition at fair value through profit or loss, or financial assets
mandatorily required to be measured at fair value. Financial assets
are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of
selling or repurchasing in the near term. Derivatives, including
separated embedded derivatives, are also classified as held for
trading unless they are designated as effective hedging instruments.
Financial assets with cash flows that are not solely payments of
principal and interest are classified and measured at fair value
through profit or loss, irrespective of the business model.
Notwithstanding the criteria for debt instruments to be classified at
amortised cost, as described above, debt instruments may be
designated at fair value through profit or loss on initial recognition if
doing so eliminates, or significantly reduces, an accounting
mismatch.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at
amortised cost or fair value through OCI, it needs to give rise to cash
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Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the
statement of financial position at fair value with net changes in fair
value recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Derecognition
A financial asset is primarily derecognised when:
•
•

The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or
The Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement
The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables,
loans and borrowings including bank overdrafts, and derivative
financial instruments. Financial liabilities are classified, at initial
recognition, as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss,
loans and borrowings, payables, or as derivatives designated as
hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate.

asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the received cash
flows in full without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass-

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the

through’ arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred

case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly

substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the

attributable transaction costs. The measurement of financial liabilities

Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the

depends on their classification, as described below.

risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the
asset
When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from
an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement, it evaluates
if, and to what extent, it has retained the risks and rewards of
ownership. When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially
all of the risks and rewards of the asset, nor transferred control of the
asset, the Group continues to recognise the transferred asset to the
extent of its continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also
recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and the
associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights
and obligations that the Group has retained.

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include financial
liabilities held for trading and financial liabilities designated upon
initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss.
Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are
incurred for the purpose of repurchasing in the near term. This
category also includes derivative financial instruments entered into by
the Group that are not designated as hedging instruments in hedge
relationships as defined by IFRS 9. Separated embedded derivatives
are also classified as held for trading unless they are designated as
effective hedging instruments. Gains or losses on liabilities held for
trading are recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Impairment of financial assets
The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses (ECLs)
for all debt instruments not held at fair value through profit or loss.
ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual cash flows
due in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive, discounted at an approximation of the
original effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will include
cash flows from the sale of collateral held or other credit
enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms.
ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which
there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from
default events that are possible within the next 12-months (a 12month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss
allowance is required for credit losses expected over the remaining
life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default (a lifetime
ECL).
For trade receivables, lease receivables and contract assets, the
Group applies a simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Therefore,
the Group does not track changes in credit risk, but instead
recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting
date. The Group has established a provision matrix that is based on
its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking
factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment.
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Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition at fair value
through profit or loss are designated at the initial date of recognition,
and only if the criteria in IFRS 9 are satisfied. The Group has not
designated any financial liability as at fair value through profit or loss.

Loans and borrowings
This is the category most relevant to the Group and applies to interestbearing loans and borrowings. After initial recognition, interestbearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the EIR method. Gains and losses are recognised
in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as
through the EIR amortisation process.
Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or
premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of
the EIR. The EIR amortisation is included as finance costs in the
statement of profit or loss.

Derecognition
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the
liability is discharged or cancelled or expires. When an existing
financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on
substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are
substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as
the derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new
liability. The difference in the respective carrying amounts is
recognised in the statement of profit or loss.
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Offsetting financial instruments

The fair values of various derivative instruments used for hedging

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported

purposes are disclosed in note 3.3. Movements of the hedging

in the consolidated balance sheet when there is a legally enforceable

reserve in other comprehensive income are shown in note 5.8. The full

right to offset the recognized amounts and there is an intention to

fair value of a hedging derivative is classified as a non-current asset or

settle on a net basis or realize the asset and settle the liability

liability when the remaining maturity of the hedged item is more than

simultaneously.

12 months and as a current asset or liability when the remaining

Derivative financial instruments and hedging accounting

The Group holds derivative financial instruments (interest rate swaps,
commodity hedges and forward exchange contracts) to hedge its

maturity of the hedged item is less than 12 months.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are obligations to pay for goods or services

foreign currency, commodity and interest rate risk exposures. The

that have been acquired in the ordinary course of business from

Group seeks to apply hedge accounting in order to minimize the

suppliers.

effects of fluctuations of foreign currencies and interest rates in the
profit or loss.

Accounts payable are classified as current liabilities if payment is due
within one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the

Derivative financial instruments are initially recognized at fair value

business if longer). If not, they are presented as non-current

on the date a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently

liabilities.

re-measured at fair value. The method of recognizing the resulting
gain or loss depends on whether the derivative financial instrument is

Trade and other payables are recognized initially at fair value and

designated as a hedging instrument, and if so, the nature of the item

subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest

being hedged. The Group applies cash flow hedge accounting.

method.

At the inception of a hedge relationship, the Group formally

2.10 Property, plant and equipment

designates and documents the hedge relationship to which it wishes
to apply hedge accounting and the risk management objective and

Recognition and measurement

Items of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less

startegy for undertaking the hedge.

accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. Cost
The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivative financial

includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of

instruments that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges is

the asset. The cost of self-constructed assets includes the cost of

recognized in other comprehensive income. The gain or loss relating

materials and direct labor, any other costs directly attributable to

to the ineffective portion is recognized in the income statement

bringing the assets to a condition suitable for their intended use, and

immediately.

the costs of dismantling and removing the items and restoring of the
site on which they are located. Borrowing costs that are directly

When the hedged item is a non-financial asset, the amount

attributable to the acquisition or construction of a qualifying asset are

recognized in other comprehensive income is transferred to the

allocated to the assets when incurred.

carrying amount of the asset when it is recognized. In other cases the
amount recognized in other comprehensive income is transferred to

When elements of an item of property, plant and equipment have

the same line of profit or loss in the same period that the hedged item

different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate items (major

affects profit or loss. Where the financial instruments are held to

components) of property, plant and equipment.

hedge foreign currency purchases of raw materials and consumables,
the changes are included in raw materials and consumables used.

Gains and losses on disposal of an item of property, plant and
equipment are determined by comparing the net proceeds of disposal

Where the instruments are held to hedge interest rate risk exposure,

with the carrying amount and are recognized on a net basis in other

the changes are included in finance income and expense.

income in profit or loss.

If the hedging instrument no longer meets the criteria for hedge

Subsequent costs

accounting, expires or is sold, terminated or exercised, then hedge

The cost of replacing part of an item of property, plant and equipment

accounting is discontinued. The cumulative unrealized gain or loss

is recognized in the carrying amount of the item if it is probable that

previously recognized in other comprehensive income and presented

the future economic benefits embodied within the part will flow to the

in the hedging reserve in equity, is recognized in profit or loss

Group and its cost can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of

immediately, or when a hedging instrument is terminated. If the

the replaced part is derecognized. The costs of the day-to-day

hedged transaction is still expected to occur, the cumulative gain or

maintenance of property, plant and equipment are recognized in profit

loss at that point remains in other comprehensive income and is

or loss as incurred.

recognized in accordance with the above-mentioned policy when the
transaction occurs.
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Depreciation

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit (CGU)

Depreciation is recognized in profit or loss on a straight-line basis

and part of the operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill

over the estimated useful lives of each element of an item of property,

associated with the disposed operation is included in the carrying

plant and equipment. Land is not depreciated.

amount of the operation when determining the gain or loss on
disposal. Goodwill disposed in these circumstances is measured

The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative periods are

based on the relative values of the disposed operation and the

as follows:

portion of the cash-generating unit retained.

•

Buildings: 25 years

•

Machinery and equipment: 5-10 years

The Group assesses, at each reporting date, whether there is an

•

Other fixed assets: 3-10 years

indication that an asset may be impaired. If any indication exists, or
when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Group

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed

estimates the asset’s recoverable amount. An asset’s recoverable

at each reporting date. An asset’s carrying amount is written down

amount is the higher of an asset’s or CGU’s fair value less costs of

immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount

disposal and its value in use. The recoverable amount is determined

is greater than its estimated recoverable amount.

for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash
inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or

2.11 Intangible assets

groups of assets. When the carrying amount of an asset or CGU
exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and

Business combinations and goodwill

is written down to its recoverable amount.

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The cost of an acquisition is measured as the aggregate of

Impairment losses of continuing operations are recognised in the

the consideration transferred, which is measured at acquisition date

income statement in expense categories consistent with the function

fair value, and the amount of any non-controlling interests in the

of the impaired asset, except for properties previously revalued with

acquiree. For each business combination, the Group elects whether to

the revaluation taken to OCI. For such properties, the impairment is

measure the non-controlling interests in the acquiree at fair value or

recognised in OCI up to the amount of any previous revaluation.

at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.
Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred and included in

Other intangibles

administrative expenses. When the Group acquires a business, it

Software acquired by the Group is measured at cost less accumulated

assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate

amortization and accumulated impairment losses. Subsequent

classification and designation in accordance with the contractual

expenditure is capitalized only to the extent that it increases the

terms, economic circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the

future economic benefits embodied in the specific asset to which it

acquisition date. Any contingent consideration to be transferred by

relates. All other expenditure, including expenditure on internally

the acquirer will be recognised at fair value at the acquisition date.

generated goodwill and brands, is recognized in profit or loss as
incurred. Amortization is recognized in the income statement on a

Goodwill is initially measured at cost (being the excess of the

straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives, generally 3 years

aggregate of the consideration transferred and the amount recognised

and for ERP systems 6 years.

for non-controlling interests and any previous interest held over the
net identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed). If the fair

Brands acquired, separately or as part of a business combination, are

value of the net assets acquired is in excess of the aggregate

capitalized if they meet the definition of an intangible asset and the

consideration transferred, the Group re-assesses whether it has

recognition criteria are satisfied. Brands acquired as part of a

correctly identified all of the assets acquired and all of the liabilities

business combination are valued at fair value based on the relief from

assumed and reviews the procedures used to measure the amounts to

royalty method. Brands are amortized on an individual basis over the

be recognised at the acquisition date. If the reassessment still results

estimated useful life of the brand, generally 20 years for Refresco

in an excess of the fair value of net assets acquired over the aggregate

brands and 10 years for other brands.

consideration transferred, then the gain is recognised in profit or loss.
Customer and sales channel-related and contract-based intangibles
After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any

are capitalized if they meet the definition of an intangible asset and

accumulated impairment losses. For the purpose of impairment

the recognition criteria are satisfied. The relationship between brands

testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the

and customer and sales channel-related intangibles is carefully

acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating

considered so that brands and customer and sales channel-related

units that are expected to benefit from the combination, irrespective

intangibles are not both recognized on the basis of the same cash

of whether other assets or liabilities of the acquiree are assigned to

flows. Customer and sales channel-related and contract-based

those units.

intangibles acquired as part of a business combination are valued at
fair value and amortized over the period of the contractual
arrangements or the remaining useful life of the customer
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relationships, generally 10 years for customer relationships and 15

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group uses its

years for contract manufacturing.

incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement date because
the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After

2.12 Leases

the commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or

to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments

contains, a lease. That is, if the contract conveys the right to control

made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is

the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for

remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the lease term, a

consideration.

change in the lease payments or a change in the assessment of an
option to purchase the underlying asset.

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach
for all leases, except for leases of low-value assets. The Group
recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use
assets representing the right to use the underlying assets.

Leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the lease of low-value assets recognition
exemption to leases that are considered to be low value. Lease
payments on low-value assets are recognised as expense on a

Right-of-use assets

straight-line basis over the lease term.

The Group recognises right-of-use assets at the commencement date
of the lease (i.e., the date the underlying asset is available for use).
Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated

2.13 Impairment of non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of non-financial assets, other than inventories

depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any

and deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date to

remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets

determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such

includes the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs

indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.

incurred, and lease payments made at or before the commencement

For goodwill and intangible assets that have indefinite lives or that are

date less any lease incentives received.

not yet available for use, the recoverable amount is estimated
annually.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the
lease term.

The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the

•

Buildings & warehouses: 6 years

greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs of disposal. In

•

Machinery: 4 years

assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are

•

Cars & lift trucks: 3 years

discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that

•

Other: 2 years

reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the asset. For the purpose of impairment testing,

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group at the end of

assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately

the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise of a purchase option,

identifiable cash inflows from continuing use that are largely

depreciation is calculated using the estimated useful life of the

independent of the cash inflows of other assets or groups of assets

underlying asset.

(the ‘cash-generating units’).

•

Buildings & warehouses: 25 years

•

Machinery: 5-10 years

For the purpose of impairment testing, the goodwill acquired in a

•

Cars & lift trucks: 3-10 years

business combination is allocated to cash-generating units that are

•

Other: 3-10 years

expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination.

The right-of-use assets are also subject to impairment. Refer to the

An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount of an asset or

accounting policies in section 2.13.

its cash-generating unit exceeds its estimated recoverable amount.
Impairment losses are recognized in profit or loss. Impairment losses

Lease liabilities

recognized in respect of cash-generating units are allocated first to

At the commencement date of the lease, the Group recognises lease

reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the units and

liabilities measured at the present value of lease payments to be

then to reduce the carrying amount of the other assets in the unit (or

made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments

group of units) on a pro rata basis.

(including insubstance fixed payments) less any lease incentives
receivable. The lease payments also include the exercise price of a

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. In respect of

purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and

other assets, impairment losses recognized in prior periods are

payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term

assessed at each reporting date for indications that the loss has

reflects the Group exercising the option to terminate. Variable lease

decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed if there

payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised as

has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable

expenses in the period in which the event or condition that triggers

amount.

the payment occurs.
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An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s

2.17 Non-controlling interest

carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have

The Group recognizes any non-controlling interest in the acquiree on

been determined, net of depreciation or amortization, if no

an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, either at fair value or at the non-

impairment loss had been recognized.

controlling interest’s proportionate share of the recognized amounts
of acquiree’s identifiable net assets.

2.14 Inventories

Inventories are measured by cost or net realizable value, depending

Subsequently profits are allocated to non-controlling interest based

on which is lower. The cost of inventories is based on the first-in first-

on their net effective interest in the subsidiary.

out method, and includes expenditure incurred in acquiring the
inventories, production and conversion costs and other costs incurred

2.18 Employee benefits

in bringing them to their existing location and condition. The cost of

The Group operates various post-employment schemes, including

finished goods and work in progress includes an appropriate share of

both defined benefit and defined contribution pension plans.

production overheads based on normal operating capacity. Net
realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of

Defined contribution plans

business, less the estimated costs of completion and selling

A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which the Group

expenses.

pays fixed contributions into a separate entity. The Group has no legal

2.15 Assets classified as held for sale and discontinued operations

The Group classifies non-current assets (or disposal groups) as held

or constructive obligations to pay further contributions if the fund
does not hold sufficient assets to pay all employees the benefits
relating to employee service in the current and prior periods.

for sale when the carrying amounts will be recovered principally
through a sale transaction and a sale is highly probable. Immediately

For defined contribution plans, the Group pays contributions to

before classification as held for sale, the assets are re-measured in

publicly or privately administered pension insurance plans on a

accordance with the accounting policies of the Group. Thereafter the

mandatory, contractual or voluntary basis. The Group has no further

assets are generally measured at the lower of their carrying amount

payment obligations once the contributions have been paid.

and fair value less costs to sell. Impairment losses on initial
classification as held for sale and subsequent gains or losses on re-

The contributions are recognized as employee benefit expense when

measurement are recognized in profit or loss. Gains are not

they are due. Prepaid contributions are recognized as an asset to the

recognized in excess of any cumulative impairment loss.

extent that a cash refund or a reduction in the future payments is
available.

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets are not
depreciated or amortized once classified as held for sale.

Defined benefit plans

A defined benefit plan is a pension plan that is not a defined
Assets and liabilities classified as held for sale are presented

contribution plan. Typically defined benefit plans define an amount of

separately in the statement of financial position.

pension benefit that an employee will receive on retirement, usually
dependent on one or more factors such as age, years of service and

A disposal group qualifies as discontinued operation if it is a

compensation.

component of an entity that either has been disposed of, or is
classified as held for sale, and:

The liability recognized in the balance sheet in respect of defined

•

Represents a separate major line of business or geographical

benefit pension plans is the present value of the defined benefit

area of operations

obligation at the end of the reporting period less the fair value of plan

Is part of a single coordinated plan to dispose of a separate

assets. The defined benefit obligation is calculated annually by

major line of business or geographical area of operations; or

independent actuaries using the projected unit credit method.

•
•

Is a subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to resale
The present value of the defined benefit obligation is determined by

Discontinued operations are excluded from the results of continuing

discounting the estimated future cash outflows using interest rates of

operations and are presented as a single amount as profit or loss after

high-quality corporate bonds that are denominated in the currency in

tax from discontinued operations in the statement of profit or loss.

which the benefits will be paid, and that have terms to maturity
approximating to the terms of the related pension obligation.

2.16 Issued share capital

Issued share capital is classified as equity. Incremental costs directly

In countries where there is no deep market in such bonds, the market

attributable to the issue of ordinary shares are recognized as a

rates on government bonds are used.

deduction from equity, net of any tax effects.
For pension plans whereby a limit on the employer’s future
contribution to the pension plans exist, the Group will reflect this limit
in its calculations. For these plans the Group will apply a liability cap
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in case the present value of the future service cost exceeds the

2.19 Other provisions

present value of the future maximum employer contributions and the

A provision is recognized if, as a result of a past event, the Group has

defined benefit obligation exceeds the asset value. The liability cap

a legal or constructive obligation that can be reliably estimated and it

does not exceed the difference between the defined benefit obligation

is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to

and the asset value.

settle the obligation. Provisions are determined by discounting the
expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current

Actuarial gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and

market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific

changes in actuarial assumptions are charged or credited in other

to the liability.

comprehensive income in the period in which they arise.
Past-service costs are recognized immediately in income.

Restructuring

A provision for restructuring is recognized when the Group has
approved a detailed and formal restructuring plan, and the

Multi-employer plans

restructuring has either commenced or been publicly announced.

The Group also facilitates multi-employer plans, in which various
employers contribute to one central pension union.
In accordance with IAS 19, as the pension union managing the plan is
not able to provide the Group with sufficient information to enable the

Future operating costs are not provided for.

2.20 New standards and interpretations
New standards and amendments effective as of January 1, 2019

Group to account for the plan as a defined benefit plan, the Group

The following new standards and amendments became effective as of

accounts for its multi-employer defined benefit plan as if it were a

January 1, 2019:

defined contribution plan.

•

IFRS 16 Leases

•

IFRIC Interpretation 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatment

•

Amendments to IFRS 9: Prepayment Features with Negative

Other long term employee benefits

Compensation

The net obligation in respect of long term employee benefits other
than pension plans is the amount of future benefit that employees

•

Settlement

have earned in return for their service in the current and prior years;
that benefit is discounted to determine its present value, and the fair

•

Amendments to IAS 28: Long- term interests in associates and
joint ventures

value of any related assets is deducted. The discount rate is the yield
at the reporting date on AA credit-rated bonds that have maturity

Amendments to IAS 19: Plan Amendment, Curtailment or

•

Annual improvements 2015-2017 cycle

dates approximating the terms of the obligations of the Group.
The Group applied IFRS 16 Leases for the first time. The nature and
The calculation is performed using the projected unit credit method.

effect of the changes as a result of adoption of this new accounting

Actuarial gains or losses are recognized in profit or loss in the period

standard is described below. Several other amendments and

in which they arise.

interpretations apply for the first time in 2019 and do not have an
impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Group. Also,

Termination benefits

the Group has not early adopted any standards interpretations or

Termination benefits are employee benefits provided in exchange for
the termination of an employee’s employment as a result of either an
entity’s decision to terminate an employee’s employment before the

amendments that have been issued but are not yet effective.

IFRS 16

normal retirement date; or an employee’s decision to accept an offer

IFRS 16 replaces IAS 17 Leases, IFRIC 4 Determining whether an

of benefits in exchange for the termination of employment. A liability

Arrangement contains a Lease, SIC-15 Operating Leases-Incentives

is recognized at the earlier of the following dates: when the entity can

and SIC-27 Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving the

no longer withdraw the offer of those benefits; and when the entity

Legal Form of a Lease. IFRS 16 sets out the principles for the

recognizes costs for a restructuring and involves the payment of

recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases and

termination benefits.

requires lessees to account for all leases under a single on-balance
sheet model similar to the accounting for finance leases under IAS 17.

Short term benefits

At the commencement date of a lease, a lessee will recognise a

Short term employee benefit obligations are measured on an

liability to make lease payments (i.e., the lease liability) and an asset

undiscounted basis and are expensed as the related service is

representing the right to use the underlying asset during the lease

provided. A liability is recognized for the amount expected to be paid

term (i.e., the right-of-use asset). Lessees will be required to

under short term cash bonus or profit-sharing plans if the Group has a

separately recognise the interest expense on the lease liability and

legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of past

the depreciation expense on the right-of-use asset. Lessees will be

service provided by the employee and the obligation can be reliably

also required to remeasure the lease liability upon the occurrence of

estimated.

certain events (e.g., a change in the lease term, a change in future
lease payments resulting from a change in an index or rate used to
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determine those payments). The lessee will generally recognise the

•

not to separate non-lease components from lease components

amount of the remeasurement of the lease liability as an adjustment

•

to exclude initial direct costs from the measurement of the right-

to the right-of-use asset.

of-use asset at January 1, 2019
•

to rely on a previous assessment of whether leases are onerous

The Group adopted IFRS 16 using the modified retrospective method,

in accordance with IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and

with the date of initial application of January 1, 2019. At initial

Contingent Assets immediately before the date of initial

recognition, the right-of-use asset is measured based on the initial

application as an alternative to performing an impairment

recognition of the lease liability. The Group elected to grandfather the
leases that were previously identified as leases applying IAS 17 and

review; and
•

to use hindsight in determining the remaining lease term as per

IFRIC 4. Also, the Group elected to use the exemption proposed by the

January 1, 2019 if the contract contains options to extend or

standard on lease contracts for which the underlying asset is of low

terminate the lease

value. The Group has leases of certain office equipment that are
considered of low value. In addition, the Group elected not to use the

The effect of adopting IFRS 16 is, as follows:

short term lease exemption and the transition exemption for short
term leases. The Group applies the following practical expedients:

(x 1 million euro)
Assets
Right-of-use assets
Property, plant and equipment
Other
Total assets

Note

Liabilities
Lease liability
Finance lease
Total non-current liabilities
Liabilities
Lease liability
Finance lease
Total current liabilities

(x 1 million euro)
Other operating expenses
Depreciation
Operating profit
Interest expense
Net finance costs

5.2
5.1

329.7
(3.0)
0.9
327.6

5.11

267.0
(2.0)
265.0

5.11

63.6
(1.0)
62.6

Note

2019

4.7
5.2

74.2
(70.6)
3.6
(13.1)
(13.1)

4.8/5.11

(x 1 million euro)
Interest paid
Net cash flows from operating activities
Lease payments
Net cash flows from financing activities

January 1, 2019

2019

(12.9)
(12.9)
(59.3)
(59.3)
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For the year ended December 31, 2019:

As at January 1, 2019:
•

‘Right-of-use assets’ were recognised and presented separately

•

in the consolidated balance sheet. Lease assets recognised
previously under finance leases, which were included under
‘Property, plant and equipment’, were reclassed to 'Right-of-use

are still in other operating expenses.
•

assets'.
•

‘Depreciation’ increased because of the depreciation of
additional assets recognised (i.e., increase in right-of-use assets,

Additional lease liabilities were recognised and presented
seperately in the consolidated balance sheet as 'lease liability'

net of the decrease in ‘Property, plant and equipment’).
•

under non-current liabilities and current liabilities.
•

‘Other operating expenses’ decreased due to the increase in
depreciation and interest. Low value leases and variable leases

The amount booked in Other of EUR 0.9 million pertains to

‘Interest expense’ increased relating to the interest expense on
additional lease liabilities recognised.

•

Cash outflows from operating activities decreased and cash

sublease contracts and lease incentives received, and are

outflows from financing activities increased by the same amount,

accounted for as a net increase of the Right-of-use asset.

relating to decrease in operating lease payments and increases
in principal and interest payments of lease liabilities.
The reconciliation of operating lease commitments as per December
31, 2018 to the Initial recognition of the lease liability per January 1,
2019 is as follows:

(x 1 million euro)

Operating lease commitments as at December 31, 2018
Weighted average incremental borrowing rate as at January 1, 2019
Discounted operating lease commitments as at January 1, 2019
less:
Commitments related to leases of low-value assets
add:
commitments relating to leases previously classified as finance leases (current & non-current)
Lease liability as at January 1, 2019

Note

2019

5.11

394.3
3.7%
328.8

Non-current lease liability
Current lease liability

(1.1)
2.9
330.6
267.0
63.6

Disclosures on leases can be found in the following notes:

income and expenses, especially the periodical review of useful lives

•

Note 4.6: Depreciation, amortization and impairments

and residual values of property plant and equipment. Estimates and

•

Note 4.7: Other operating expenses

underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions

•

Note 4.8: Net finance costs

to accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which the

•

Note 5.2: Right-of-use assets

estimates are revised and in any subsequent periods affected.

•

Note 5.11: Lease liability

New standards and amendments not yet effective

Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on
historical experience and other factors, including expectations of

Below the standards and interpretations that are issued, but not yet

future events that are believed to be reasonable under the

effective as of December 31, 2019. The Group intends to adopt these

circumstances.

standards and interpretations, if applicable, when they become
effective:

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,

•

Amendments to IFRS 3: definition of a business

management has made the following judgements, which have the

•

Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8: definition of material

most significant effect on the amounts recognized in the consolidated

•

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts, effective January 1, 2021

financial statements: segmentation and contract manufacturing. Both
are addressed below.

The Group is reviewing the impact of these standards and
amendments on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

The group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future.
The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal

2.21 Use of estimates and judgments

the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS as

significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying

adopted by the European Union requires management to make

amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are

judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of

addressed below.

accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities,
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Segmentation

each year. This is the interest rate that should be used to determine

The Group's management defines the operating segments Europe and

the present value of estimated future cash outflows expected to be

North America in the context of IFRS 8. Because of the high level of

required to settle the pension obligations. In determining the

centralization and integration within Europe, the Group considers

appropriate discount rate, the Group considers the interest rates of

Europe as one segment. The core functions for Europe are performed

high-quality corporate bonds that are denominated in the currency in

at the headquarters in Rotterdam and the Group applies the Pan-

which the benefits will be paid and that have terms to maturity

European approach to its Europe operations. The core functions for

approximating the terms of the related pension obligation. Other key

North America are performed in Tampa (US).

assumptions for pension obligations are based in part on current
market conditions. Additional information is disclosed in note 5.12.

Contract manufacturing

Contract manufacturing consists of the provision of manufacturing

Information for other areas of estimation and critical judgment used in

services and sale of the resultant product. The nature and the risk

applying accounting policies can be found in the following notes:

profile of the contract with the customer are key in determining

•

Note 3: Financial risk management

whether the Group is providing a manufacturing service or is selling a

•

Note 5.1: Property plant and equipment

product. The revenue is recognized solely for the activities,

•

Note 5.2: Right-of-use assets

ingredients and materials for which the Group is the principal.

•

Note 5.11: Lease liability

•

Note 5.13: Other provisions

Estimated goodwill and impairment of goodwill

The group estimates the fair values of assets and liabilities acquired
by acquisitions. This measurement is provisional and can be adjusted
within 12 months after the date of each acquisition. The acquisitions
are recorded in note 6.1.
The Group tests annually whether goodwill has suffered any
impairment, in accordance with the accounting policy stated in note
2.13.
The recoverable amounts of cash-generating units have been
determined based on value-in-use calculations and are recorded in
note 5.3. These calculations require the use of estimates.

Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in numerous jurisdictions.
Significant judgment is required in determining the provision for
income taxes. The Group recognizes liabilities for anticipated tax
audit issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be
due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the
amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact the
current and deferred income tax assets and liabilities in the period in
which such determination is made.

Fair value of derivatives and other financial instruments

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active
market (for example, over-the-counter derivatives) is determined by
using valuation techniques. The Group uses its judgment to select a
variety of methods and make assumptions that are mainly based on
market conditions existing at the end of each reporting period.

Pension benefits

The present value of the pension obligations depends on a number of
factors that are determined on an actuarial basis using a number of
assumptions. The assumptions used in determining the net cost
(income) for pensions include the discount rate. Any changes in these
assumptions will impact the carrying amount of pension obligations.
The Group determines the appropriate discount rate at the end of
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3

Financial risk management

3.1 Financial risk

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk (including foreign currency risk, interest
rate risk and price risk). The Group’s overall risk management program focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to
minimize potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance. The Group uses derivative financial instruments to hedge certain risk
exposures.
The Executive Board has the responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the risk management framework of the Group.
Risk management policies of the Group are established to identify and analyze the risks faced by the Group, to set appropriate risk limits and
controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. All derivative activities for risk management purposes are carried out by specialist teams
that have appropriate skills, experience and supervision. It is the Group's policy that no trading in derivatives for speculative purposes might be
undertaken. Risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and in the activities of the
Group.
Through its training program and its management standards and procedures, the Group aims to develop a disciplined and constructive control
environment in which all employees understand their roles and responsibilities.
The Supervisory Board oversees management’s monitoring of compliance with the risk management policies and procedures of the Group and
it reviews the adequacy of the risk management framework in relation to the risks faced by the Group.

3.1.1Credit risk

Credit risk represents the risk that counter parties fail to meet their contractual obligations, leading to a financial loss. It arises principally in the
receivables from customers, cash and cash equivalents, derivative financial instruments and deposits with banks and financial institutions. In
order to reduce the exposure to customer credit risk, the Group carries out ongoing credit evaluations of the financial position of customers, but
generally does not require collateral. Use is made of a combination of independent ratings and risk controls to assess the credit quality of the
customer, taking into account its financial position, past experience and other factors. Sales are subject to payment conditions which are
common practice in each country. The Group evaluates the concentration of risk with respect to trade receivables as low, as its customers are
located in various countries and operate in largely independent markets.
Credit risk from balances with banks and financial institutions is managed by the Group's treasury departent in accordance with the Group's
policy. The banks and financial institutions used as counterparty for holding cash and cash equivalents and deposits and in derivative
transactions can be classified as high credit quality financial institutions (minimal A rating Standard & Poor’s).
The Group has policies that limit the amount of credit exposure to individual financial institutions. Management believes that the likelihood of
losses arising from credit risk is remote, particularly in the light of the diversification of activities.

Exposure to credit risk
The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure at the reporting date:

(x 1 million euro)

Carrying amount
Note

Non-current financial assets
Trade and other receivables
Derivative financial instruments (current assets)
Cash and cash equivalents

5.4
5.7
3.3
5.8
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14.9
524.5
282.9
822.3
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December 31, 2018

12.7
548.1
2.7
226.3
789.8
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The maximum exposure to credit risk for trade and other receivables at the reporting date by currency is as follows:

(x 1 million euro)

Carrying amount
December 31, 2019

Euro-zone countries (EUR)
UK (GBP)
Poland (PLN)
Mexico (MXN)
Canada (CAD)
US (USD)

268.4
118.9
14.0
3.8
14.9
104.5
524.5

December 31, 2018

289.5
127.4
13.7
3.4
15.9
98.2
548.1

Aging trade and other receivables and expected credit loss:

(x 1 million euro)

2019
Gross

Not past due
Past due 0 - 30 days
Past due 31 - 60 days
Past due more than 60 days

465.1
39.5
7.5
16.1
528.2

2017-2018
Impairment

3.7
3.7

Gross

Impairment

2019

2017-2018

0.8
2.9
3.7

0.8
0.8

462.8
56.8
11.6
17.7
548.9

0.8
0.8

The movements in the expected credit loss in respect of trade and other receivables during the year as follows:

(x 1 million euro)
January 1
Impairment loss recognized
Write-off
December 31

The Group determines the expected credit losses on the basis of specific estimates of losses incurred in respect of trade and other receivables.
Based on historic default rates, the Group believes that no further impairment loss has occurred in respect of trade receivables not past due or
past due by up to 60 days.

3.1.2Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The approach of the Group to managing
liquidity risk is to ensure, as far as possible, that it always has sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and more
extreme conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the reputation of the Group. The Group has a clear focus on
financing long term growth as well as current operations. Strong cost and cash management and controls over working capital and capital
expenditure proposals are in place to ensure effective and efficient allocation of financial resources.
The contractual maturities of financial liabilities, including estimated interest payments and excluding the impact of netting agreements, if
applicable, are as shown based on undiscounted contractual cash flows in the following table. As far as these cash flows depend on future
floating interest rates, which were unknown on the balance sheet date, the cash flows have been estimated on the basis of rates prevailing on
the balance sheet date.
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December 31, 2019
(x 1 million euro)
Non-derivative financial
liabilities
Syndicated loan
High Yield Bonds
Shareholder Loan
Mortgage
Revolving credit facility
Capitalized finance costs
Lease liability
Other loans
Trade and other payables
Current income tax
liabilities
Provisions
Derivative financial
liabilities
Interest rate swaps
Aluminium swaps

Carrying
amount

Contractual
cash flows

12 months or
less

1 – 2 years

2 – 3 years

3– 4 years

4 – 5 years

> 5 years

2,602.0
628.3
179.0
21.3
13.1
456.8
2.5
814.3

86.3
28.9
8.6
3.3
2.1
80.9
0.6
814.3

86.3
28.9
8.6
3.3
2.1
77.4
0.6
-

86.3
28.9
8.6
3.3
2.1
71.8
0.5
-

86.3
28.9
8.6
3.3
2.1
53.1
0.5
-

86.3
28.9
8.6
3.3
2.1
40.5
0.3
-

2,170.5
483.8
136.0
4.8
2.6
133.1
-

13.7

13.7

13.7

-

-

-

-

-

10.8
3,912.6

10.8
4,741.8

10.8
1,049.5

207.2

201.5

182.8

170.0

2,930.8

26.3
0.1
26.4

26.6
24.0
50.6

9.5
24.0
33.5

7.0
7.0

4.6
4.6

4.2
4.2

1.3
1.3

-

2,149.5
445.0
108.0
17.7
(34.7)
385.8
2.4
814.4

The Group has an undrawn revolving credit facility (RCF) maturing in 2024 of EUR 200.0 million (2017-2018: EUR 200.0 million)
EUR 150.0 million was drawn and re-paid during the year and EUR 90.0 million was drawn and re-paid during the comparative year. The
contractual cash flows for the revolving credit facility relate to the commitment fee of the revolving credit facility of EUR 200.0 million
(2017-2018: EUR 200.0 million).

December 31, 2018
(x 1 million euro)
Non-derivative financial
liabilities
Syndicated loan
High Yield Bonds
Shareholder Loan
Mortgage
Revolving credit facility
Capitalized finance costs
Finance lease and other
loans
Trade and other payables
Current income tax
liabilities
Provisions
Derivative financial
liabilities
Interest rate swaps
Aluminium swaps

Contractual
cash flows

12 months or
less

1 – 2 years

2 – 3 years

3– 4 years

4 – 5 years

> 5 years

2,482.7
657.4
173.9
23.7
13.2
-

80.2
29.0
8.0
3.2
2.2
-

80.2
28.9
8.0
3.2
2.1
-

80.2
28.9
8.0
3.2
2.1
-

80.2
28.9
8.0
3.2
2.1
-

80.2
28.9
8.0
3.2
2.1
-

2,081.7
512.8
133.9
7.7
2.6
-

5.9

5.9

1.5

1.4

1.6

0.6

0.5

0.3

897.0

897.0

897.0

-

-

-

-

-

26.2

26.2

26.2

-

-

-

-

-

7.8
3,444.1

7.8
4,287.8

7.8
1,055.1

123.8

124.0

123.0

122.9

2,739.0

10.5
1.9
12.4

24.5
39.1
63.6

8.6
37.3
45.9

7.1
1.9
9.0

5.1
5.1

2.0
2.0

1.5
1.5

0.2
0.2

Carrying
amount

1,981.9
445.0
100.0
19.3
(39.0)
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3.1.3Market risk

Market risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices. Market
risk comprises of three types of risk: foreign currency risk, interest rate risk and price risk.

Foreign currency risk
The Group is exposed to currency risk mainly on purchases denominated in USD and GBP. At any point in time the Group hedges 80 to 100% of
its foreign currency exposure on contracted forecasted purchases. The Group uses currency option contracts and forward exchange contracts to
hedge its currency risks, most of which have a maturity date of less than one year from the reporting date. When necessary, foreign currency
contracts are rolled over on maturity.
In respect of other monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies, the Group ensures that its net exposure is kept to an
acceptable level by buying or selling foreign currencies at spot rates, as necessary, to address short term imbalances.
In order to minimize the impact of accounting mismatches in the profit or loss account, the Group applies cash flow hedge accounting. The
effectiveness of the hedge relationship is measured based on changes in intrinsic value of options and fair value of forward contracts. Per yearend the cash flow hedge accounting relationships were fully effective. There are no forecasted transactions for which hedge accounting has
been applied, but which are no longer expected to occur. The fair value of foreign currency instruments per reporting date is EUR 3.4 million
credit (2017-2018: EUR 2.7 million debit).
The Group records a hedge reserve of EUR 12.4 million loss (2017-2018: EUR 9.2 million loss) net of deferred taxes in equity relating to the
effective part of the intrinsic value changes of the foreign currency option contracts and the fair value of the forward contracts. During the year,
no amounts were recorded in raw material costs due to ineffectiveness.
The amounts deferred in equity at year-end are expected to occur and to affect profit or loss for majority in 2020. All of the resulting fair value
estimates are included in Level 2.
The notional amounts of exposure to significant foreign currency risks were as follows:

December 31, 2019
(x 1 million euro)

Trade payables
Estimated forecast
purchases
Gross exposure
Forward exchange
contracts / Currency
option contracts
Net exposure

December 31, 2018
(x 1 million euro)

Trade payables
Estimated forecast
purchases
Gross exposure
Forward exchange
contracts / Currency
option contracts
Net exposure

USD
EUR/USD
162.0

USD
GBP/USD
12.6

USD
PLN/USD
1.0

USD
CAD/USD
8.5

USD
Total USD
184.1

EUR
GBP/EUR
12.0

EUR
PLN/EUR
2.7

EUR
Total EUR
14.7

51.8

76.4

8.0

-

136.2

67.4

4.7

72.1

213.8

89.0

9.0

8.5

320.3

79.4

7.4

86.8

(49.4)

(73.2)

(6.4)

(129.0)

(64.7)

(3.8)

(68.5)

164.4

15.8

2.6

8.5

191.3

14.7

3.6

18.3

USD
EUR/USD
187.2

USD
GBP/USD
16.0

USD
PLN/USD
0.2

USD
CAD/USD
10.1

USD
Total USD
213.5

EUR
GBP/EUR
14.5

EUR
PLN/EUR
3.1

EUR
Total EUR
17.6

58.6

67.8

8.4

-

134.8

68.2

14.4

82.6

245.8

83.8

8.6

10.1

348.3

82.7

17.5

100.2

(54.2)

(60.3)

(6.0)

(120.6)

(71.5)

(11.4)

(82.9)

191.6

23.5

2.6

227.7

11.2

6.1

17.3

-

10.1

The change in fair value of the financial instruments used to hedge currency risk is included in raw materials and consumables in the income
statement, except for the instruments for which hedge accounting is applied.
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The following significant exchange rates were applied during the year:
Average

Value of EUR 1
USD
GBP
PLN
CAD
MXN

2019
1.12
0.88
4.30
1.49
21.54

Year-end

Average

2019
1.12
0.85
4.26
1.46
21.06

2018
1.18
0.89
4.26
1.53
22.69

Year-end

2018
1.14
0.90
4.30
1.56
22.46

Sensitivity analysis
A 10% strengthening or weakening of the EUR against the USD, the GBP against the USD, the GBP against the EUR, the PLN against the USD, the
PLN against the EUR, the CAD against the USD, the CAD against the EUR, the MXN against the USD and the MXN against the EUR at reporting
date would have changed equity and profit or loss by the amounts shown below.

December 31, 2019
(x 1 million euro)

Trade payables
Foreign currency hedge
instruments
Effect Profit/(Loss) gross of tax
Foreign currency hedge
instruments
Effect OCI net of tax

10% strength
13.1
(0.9)

Trade payables
Foreign currency hedge
instruments
Effect Profit/(Loss) gross of tax
Foreign currency hedge
instruments
Effect OCI net of tax

December 31, 2018
(x 1 million euro)

Trade payables
Foreign currency hedge
instruments
Effect Profit/(Loss) gross of
tax
Foreign currency hedge
instruments
Effect OCI net of tax

10% strength
0.7

1.0

GBP/USD

10% weak
Profit/(loss)
(0.9)

10% strength
(1.2)

GBP/EUR

10% weak
Profit/(loss)
1.2

(1.4)

1.7

1.6

(1.9)

(0.7)

0.8
OCI debit/(credit)

0.4

(0.7)
OCI debit/(credit)

12.2

(15.1)
OCI debit/(credit)

2.3

(2.9)

3.4

(4.2)

(3.3)

4.0

2.3

(2.9)

3.4

(4.2)

(3.3)

4.0

10% strength
0.1

10% weak
Profit/(loss)
(0.1)

0.1

(0.1)

0.2

(0.2)
OCI debit/(credit)

December 31, 2019
(x 1 million euro)

EUR/USD

10% weak
Profit/(loss)
(16.1)

PLN/USD

10% strength
(0.3)
0.1
(0.2)

PLN/EUR

10% weak
Profit/(loss)
0.3

10% strength
(0.8)

(0.1)

-

0.2
OCI debit/(credit)

(0.8)

CAD/USD

10% weak
Profit/(loss)
0.8
-

0.8
OCI debit/(credit)

(0.3)

0.4

(0.2)

0.4

-

-

(0.3)

0.4

(0.2)

0.4

-

-

10% strength

10% weak
Profit/(loss)
1.5

EUR/USD

10% strength
14.9
(0.8)
14.1

10% weak
Profit/(loss)
(18.2)

GBP/USD

10% strength
1.3

10% weak
Profit/(loss)
(1.5)

GBP/EUR

(1.5)

1.0

(1.4)

1.7

1.7

(2.1)

(17.2)

(0.1)

0.2

0.2

(0.6)

OCI debit/(credit)

OCI debit/(credit)

OCI debit/(credit)

2.6

(3.1)

2.6

(3.1)

(3.6)

4.4

2.6

(3.1)

2.6

(3.1)

(3.6)

4.4
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December 31, 2018
(x 1 million euro)

Trade payables
Foreign currency hedge
instruments
Effect Profit/(Loss) gross of
tax
Foreign currency hedge
instruments
Effect OCI net of tax

PLN/USD

10% strength
-

10% weak
Profit/(loss)
-

PLN/EUR

10% strength
(0.3)

10% weak
Profit/(loss)
0.3

0.1

(0.1)

0.2

(0.2)

0.1

(0.1)

(0.1)

0.1

OCI debit/(credit)

CAD/USD

10% strength

10% weak
Profit/(loss)
0.9

(0.9)
-

-

(0.9)

OCI debit/(credit)

0.9
OCI debit/(credit)

(0.3)

0.4

(0.6)

1.3

-

-

(0.3)

0.4

(0.6)

1.3

-

-

The impact on CAD/EUR, MXN/USD and MXN/EUR is not material.

Interest rate risk
The Group is exposed to the effects of variable interest rates on interest-bearing long term liabilities, which is partly offset by cash held at
variable rates. On fixed interest receivables and liabilities, it is exposed to market value fluctuations. The Group manages its interest rate risk by
having a balanced portfolio of fixed and variable rate loans and borrowings. For certain variable interest rate long term liabilities, the Group has
entered into interest rate swap agreements through which the Group effectively pays fixed interest rates on these liabilities.
The Group applies cash flow hedge accounting to offset the profit or loss impact resulting from timing differences between variable interest rate
liabilities and the interest rate swap. Throughout the year as well as per year-end the cash flow hedge accounting relationships were effective.
The fair value of interest rate swaps per reporting date is EUR 26.3 million credit (2017-2018: EUR 10.5 million credit). The effective part of the
fair value changes of the interest rate swaps amounts to EUR 15.2 million loss (2017-2018: EUR 5.2 million loss) net of deferred taxes in Other
comprehensive income.
In the year no amounts were moved from the hedge reserve to financing costs. The amounts deferred in equity at year-end are expected to affect
financing costs within the coming seven years. All of the resulting fair value estimates are included in Level 2.

Profile
At the reporting date the interest rate profile of the Group’s interest-bearing financial instruments was as follows:

(x 1 million euro)

Carrying amount
Note

Variable rate instruments
Syndicated term loan
Mortgage loan
Non-current investments
Net cash as per December 31

5.10
5.10
5.4
5.8

Notional amount interest rate swaps per year-end (floating to fixed)
Net position including cash

December 31, 2019

December 31, 2018

2,149.5
17.7
(14.9)
(282.9)
1,869.4

1,981.9
19.3
(12.7)
(139.7)
1,848.8

1,840.2
29.2

1,796.4
52.4

As at balance sheet date, interest rates were fixed on approximately 98.4% (2017-2018: 97.2%) of the financial liability positions including the
cash position as per balance date. The Group policy is to hedge 80 to 100% of the forecasted net interest rate risk, including a forecasted cash
position. Per end of 2019 the forecasted position is in line with this policy.

Sensitivity analysis for fixed rate instruments
The Group does not account for any fixed rate financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, and the Group does not
designate derivatives (interest rate swaps) as hedging instruments under a fair value hedge accounting model. Therefore a change in interest
rates at the reporting date would not have affected profit or loss.
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Sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments
A change of 100 basis points in interest rates at the reporting date would have changed equity and profit or loss by the amounts shown in table
below. This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular foreign currency rates, remain constant.

December 31, 2019
(x 1 million euro)

Profit/(loss)

Net Interest (paid)/received on variable rate instruments
Change fair value interest rate swaps
Total

December 31, 2018
(x 1 million euro)

OCI Debit/(Credit)

100 basis points 100 basis points 100 basis points
increase
decrease
increase
(1.9)
(10.9)
(0.3)
0.3
(29.5)
(2.2)
(10.6)
(29.5)

Profit/(loss)

100 basis points
increase

Net Interest (paid)/received on variable rate
instruments
Change fair value interest rate swaps
Total

100 basis points
decrease
47.2
47.2

OCI Debit/(Credit)

100 basis points
decrease

100 basis points
increase

100 basis points
decrease

(6.9)

0.7

-

-

0.6
(6.3)

(0.6)
0.1

(36.2)
(36.2)

36.6
36.6

Price risk
The Group is exposed to commodity price risks. To manage these risks procurement operates within the framework of centrally specified
policies and guidelines and must act in conformance with the required internal control measures.
The Group contract positions are based on a thorough understanding of the raw material markets and in principle contracted sales are covered
back-to-back. The Group centralizes the procurement of raw materials, packaging materials and indirect spend for Europe and the US. Authority
levels of local management have been shifted towards the Group central procurement organization which is executing and monitoring the main
contracts and important purchase decisions. Commodities are only purchased locally after approval of the central purchasing department.
Contracts exceeding predefined limits must be authorized by the Executive Board. Existing contract positions are closely monitored and, when
necessary, corrective actions are evaluated and implemented.
To enable the Group to stay ahead of the current situation in the raw materials markets and maintain its gross margins, it implements pass-on
clauses into sales contracts with customers. In parallel, the quality of management information has been enhanced by the development of a
network enabling knowledge of markets, suppliers and conditions of raw materials to be shared at Group level. The Group hedges the raw
material aluminum through derivatives. The Group applies cash flow hedge accounting on aluminium forward contracts entered into during the
year to offset the profit and loss impact resulting from the volatility attributable to price fluctuations of aluminium. The Group policy is to hedge
80 to 100% of the forecasted required aluminium supply for the next year. Throughout the year as well as per year-end the cash flow hedge
accounting relationships were effective.
The fair value of this raw material derivative per reporting date is EUR 0.1 million credit (2017-2018: EUR 1.9 million credit). The effective part of
the fair value changes of the commodity forwards for which hedge accounting is applied amounts to EUR 0.1 million loss net of deferred taxes
in Other comprehensive income. The fair value change of commodity forwards for which hedge accounting is not aplied is recognized in profit
and loss.

3.2 Capital management

The policy of the Group is to maintain a sufficient capital base to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence, to sustain future
development of the business and to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.
For the purpose of the Group’s objective to maintain a sufficient capital base, the Group manages the Net debt ratio calculated as the Net debt
divided by the adjusted EBITDA. We emphasize that the EBITDA for the comparative period below includes nine months of Refresco rather than
twelve months due to the acquisition in March 2018.
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(x 1 million euro)
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings long term
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings short term
Non current lease liability
Current lease liability
Less: cash and cash equivalents
Net debt
Equity

Note

5.10
5.10
5.11
5.11
5.8

2019

2017-2018

2,684.8
3.1
319.4
66.4
(282.9)
2,790.8
805.6

2,509.4
90.3
(226.3)
2,373.4
846.8

139.9
288.0
427.9
20.2
448.1

44.2
142.7
186.9
91.9
278.8

Operating result (EBIT)
Depreciation, amortization and impairments
EBITDA
Exceptional cost adjustment
Adjusted EBITDA

The exceptional cost adjustment for the financial year relates to costs to realize synergies as result of the Cott acquisition, one-off costs relating
to restructuring and plant closures and costs for building and start-up of Le Quesnoy plant in France. These cost are excluded from the Adjusted
EBITDA and net debt ratio.
The Senior Facilities Loan agreement requires in relation to the revolving credit facility only, that this net debt ratio (net secured leverage ratio)
will not exceed 8.62 :1 in each relevant period. The actual net debt ratio in accordance to the financing documentation is 5.1 (2017-2018: 6.1).
The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments in light of changes in economic conditions and the requirements of the
financial covenants. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to
shareholders or issue new shares. No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes for managing capital during the reporting
period. There have been no breaches of the capital requirements during the year.

3.3 Determination of fair values

A number of the accounting policies and disclosures require the determination of fair value, for both financial and non-financial assets and
liabilities. Fair values have been determined for measurement and/or disclosure purposes based on the methods set out below. Where
applicable further information regarding the assumptions made in determining fair values is disclosed in the notes specific to that asset or
liability.

Property, plant and equipment

The fair value of property, plant and equipment recognized as a result of a business combination is based on market values. The market value
of property is the estimated amount for which a property would likely be exchanged on the date of valuation between a willing buyer and a
willing seller in an arm’s length transaction after proper marketing wherein the parties had each acted knowledgeably, prudently and without
compulsion. The market value of items of machinery and equipment and other fixed assets is based on the quoted market prices for similar
items.

Other intangible assets

The fair value of brands and sales channels acquired in a business combination is determined based on the relief of royalty method. The fair
value of other intangible assets is based on the discounted cash flows expected to be derived from the use and eventual sale of these assets.

Inventories

The fair value of inventories acquired in a business combination is determined based on the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of
business less the estimated costs of completion and sale and less a reasonable profit margin based on the effort required to complete and sell
the inventories.

Trade and other receivables

The fair value of trade and other receivables equal the carrying amount due to the short term nature.

Levels of Fair Value Measurement

The Group defines the following different levels of fair value:
•

Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1)
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•

Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (that is, as prices) or
indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (Level 2)

•

Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs) (Level 3)

Non-derivative financial liabilities

Fair value for disclosure purposes is based on their listed market price, if available. If a listed market price is not available, the fair value is
estimated by calculating the present value of future principal and interest cash flows, discounted at the market rate of interest at the reporting
date.

Fair values

The carrying amounts of other financial assets and liabilities approximate their fair value as they have variable interest rates and the impact of
discounting is therefore not significant.
The following table presents the Group’s financial assets and liabilities, measured at fair value as at balance sheet date.

December 31, 2019
(x 1 million euro)

Level 1

FX instruments (credit)
Commodity swaps (credit)
Interest rate swaps (credit)
Total

-

December 31, 2018
(x 1 million euro)

Level 1

FX instruments (debit)
Commodity swaps (credit)
Interest rate swaps (credit)
Total

-

Level 2

Level 3

(3.4)
(0.1)
(26.3)
(29.8)

-

Level 2

Total

(3.4)
(0.1)
(26.3)
(29.8)

Level 3

2.7
(1.9)
(10.5)
(9.7)

-

Total

2.7
(1.9)
(10.5)
(9.7)

Interest rates used for determining fair value

The interest rates used to discount estimated cash flows of derivative financial instruments, where applicable, are based on Eonia curve at the
reporting date.

3.4 Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities

The Group uses a cash pool structure to facilitate the central cash management function. The Group has the intention and the legal right to
settle cash on a net basis.

December 31, 2019
(x 1 million euro)
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Liabilities
Total

Gross carrying
amounts

286.4
(3.5)
282.9

Gross amounts
offset

Net amount
presented in
statement of
financial position

(3.5)
3.5
-
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December 31, 2018
(x 1 million euro)
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Liabilities
Total

Gross carrying
amounts

315.3
(89.0)
226.3

Gross amounts
offset

Net amount
presented in
statement of
financial position

(89.0)
89.0
-

226.3
226.3

Financial
instruments

Amounts available
to be offset in
bankruptcy or
default

Net Exposure

Collateral

-

-

226.3
226.3

For the financial assets and liabilities subject to enforceable master netting arrangements or similar arrangements above, each agreement
between the Group and the counterparty allows for net settlement of the relevant financial assets and liabilities when either elect to settle on a
net basis. In the absence of such an election, financial assets and liabilities will be settled on a gross basis; however, each party to the master
netting agreement will have the option to settle all such amounts on a net basis in the event of default of the other party.
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4

Notes to the consolidated income statement

4.1 Segment reporting

Corporate activities are in the table below separately disclosed to distinguish from the operating segments. These activities are related to
holding activities and do not generate revenues.

(x 1 million euro)

Note

2019

2017-2018

Refresco
North
Group
Europe AmericaCorporate
BV

North
Europe AmericaCorporate

Refresco
Group
BV

Consolidated income statement
Revenue
Other income
Raw materials and consumables used
Employee benefits expense
Depreciation, amortization and impairments
Other operating expenses
Operating profit

4.2 2,427.6
4.3
0.7
4.4 (1,336.4)
4.5 (297.6)
4.6 (182.2)
4.7 (526.2)
85.9

Net finance costs

4.8

(34.9)

(46.6)

(74.5) (156.0)

(13.6)

(40.5)

(51.3)

(105.4)

Profit/(loss) before income tax
Income tax (expense) / benefit
Profit/(loss) for the financial period

4.9

51.0
2.5
53.5

21.2
(2.5)
18.7

(88.4)
0.1
(88.2)

65.6
(26.2)
39.4

(56.0)
15.9
(40.1)

(70.8)
16.3
(54.5)

(61.2)
6.0
(55.2)

Total asset value1
Total liabilities2

1
2

- 3,896.7 1,957.6
1.3
25.4
- (2,167.2)(1,161.8)
(7.1) (540.9) (223.0)
(0.8) (288.0)
(90.5)
(5.9) (762.0) (428.5)
(13.8) 139.9
79.2

(16.1)
0.1
(16.0)

1,006.0
0.2
(605.6)
(154.7)
(52.2)
(209.2)
(15.5)

1,821.4 1,117.2 3,501.4 4,972.3 1,560.9
1,820.3 1,110.6 2,703.5 4,166.7 1,575.0

Additions and business combinations
Additions to property, plant and equipment, investment
property, and intangible assets
Additions to right-of-use assets
Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets
acquired through business combinations (excluding
Goodwill)
Right-of-use assets acquired through business
combination
Goodwill
Depreciation, amortization and impairments
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Depreciation of right-of-use assets
Amortization of intangible assets
Impairment on tangible fixed assets
Impairments on intangible assets
Depreciation, amortization and impairments

1,469.1
0.6
(830.8)
(236.2)
(105.0)
(229.9)
67.8

- 2,963.6
25.6
- (1,767.4)
(4.8) (382.5)
(142.7)
(14.7) (652.4)
(19.5)
44.2

856.6 3,465.1
852.6 2,608.2

4,579.5
3,732.7

89.3

82.4

0.3

172.0

81.5

36.4

0.6

118.5

93.8

6.2

0.3

100.3

-

-

-

-

38.2

4.0

-

42.2 1,180.2

534.4

-

1,714.6

5.2

8.5

9.7

-

18.2

5.3

18.9

-

-

18.9 1,084.1

583.4

-

1,667.5

5.1
5.2
5.3
5.1

103.2
41.1
32.2
5.7

60.1
27.1
17.8
-

0.1
0.7
-

-

182.2

105.0

0.8

38.2
12.2
2.0
52.4

104.4
36.3
2.0
142.7

5.2

163.4
68.9
50.0
5.7
288.0

66.2
24.1
90.4

-

The total asset value of Europe, North America and Corporate includes intercompany loans and reclassifications of EUR 1,467.7 million (2017-2018: EUR 1,303.1 million).
The total liabilities of Europe, North America and Corporate includes intercompany loans and reclassifications of EUR 1,467.7 million (2017-2018: EUR 1,303.1 million).

The total revenue of the country of domicile amounts to EUR 696.5 million (2017-2018: EUR 670.9 million). The total non-current assets of the
country of domicile amounts to EUR 1,965.9 million (2017-2018: EUR 1,927.6 million). The entity wide disclosures have been included in note
5.1, 5.2 and 5.3.
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4.2 Revenue from contracts with customers

The revenue by location of sales are set forth in the tables below.

(x 1 million euro)
Europe
North America
Total Group

Note

4.1

Retailer
Contract
brands manufacturing

1,714.2
1,117.6
2,831.8

713.6
351.3
1,064.9

Retailer
Contract
brands manufacturing

2019

1,408.3
760.6
2,168.9

2,427.8
1,468.9
3,896.7

549.3
245.4
794.7

2017-2018

1,957.6
1,006.0
2,963.6

In the context of IFRS 8.34, the company identified one single customer (Walmart) generating an annual revenue of EUR 538.5 million
(2017-2018: EUR 389.0 million) being 13.8% (2017-2018: 13.1%) of total revenue. Total revenue for Benelux was EUR 588.7 million
(2017-2018: EUR 483.9 million).
The liters by location of sales are set forth in the table below.

(x 1 liters million)
Europe
North America
Total Group

2019

2017-2018

6,985.3
4,060.2
11,045.5

5,581.9
3,031.1
8,613.0

Note

2019

2017-2018

4.1

1,521.9
630.2
15.1
2,167.2

1,245.8
508.9
12.7
1,767.4

Note

2019

2017-2018

5.12
4.1

436.2
88.8
13.9
2.0
540.9

316.1
56.9
9.2
0.3
382.5

4.3 Other income

Other income relates entirely to gains and/or losses on sale of property, plant and equipment.

4.4 Raw materials and consumables used
(x 1 million euro)
Raw materials and consumables
Packaging materials
Product tax

4.5 Employee benefits expense
(x 1 million euro)

Wages and salaries
Compulsory social security contributions
Pension contributions to defined contribution schemes
Pension costs of defined benefit schemes

During the year, the average number of fixed employees in the Group, in full-time equivalents (‘FTEs’), was 9,181 (2017-2018: 8,902), of which
8,254 (2017-2018: 8,005) were employed outside the Netherlands.

4.6 Depreciation, amortization and impairments
(x 1 million euro)

Note

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Depreciation of right-of-use assets
Amortization of intangible assets
Impairment on tangible fixed assets

5.1
5.2
5.3
5.1
4.1

2019

2017-2018

163.4
68.9
50.0
5.7
288.0

104.4
36.3
2.0
142.7

The impairment on tangible assets is related to land and buildings as a result of sale of Dachwig plant in Germany at price below its carrying
value.
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4.7 Other operating expenses
(x 1 million euro)

Note

Freight charges
Other cost of sales
Promotion costs
Temporary staff
Other personnel costs
Rent and leasing of machinery and equipment
Maintenance
Energy
Advice and legal costs
Housing costs, including rental of buildings
Storage costs
Other operating costs

4.1

2019

2017-2018

135.8
77.8
13.1
53.4
30.7
5.3
114.6
90.6
24.9
30.4
69.5
115.9
762.0

111.4
61.7
9.3
42.3
20.5
26.7
80.2
63.2
55.9
44.4
53.9
82.9
652.4

Advice and legal cost includes EUR 3.1 million (2017-2018: EUR 35.5 million) relating the business acquisitions as disclosed in note 6.1.
Housing costs and rent and leasing expense have decreased due to IFRS 16. Other operating costs includes EUR 1.1 million low value lease
expenses and EUR 7.5 million variable lease expenses.

4.8 Net finance costs
Net finance costs recognized in the income statement
(x 1 million euro)

Note

Interest income
Finance income

Interest expense on financial liabilities measured with effective interest method
Interest expense on lease liability
Cost of borrowings
Change in fair value of derivatives recognized in profit and loss
Hedge accounting ineffectiveness
Finance costs
Net finance costs

4.1

2019

2017-2018

0.8
0.8

0.4
0.4

(135.1)
(13.1)
(6.1)
1.1
(3.6)
(156.8)

(102.0)
(4.6)
0.8
(105.8)

(156.0)

(105.4)

The net change in fair value of derivative financial instruments of EUR 1.1 million (2017-2018: EUR 0.8 million gain) relates to changes in the
fair value of the interest rate swaps concluded by the Group to hedge the external financing with variable interest rates. The amount reflects the
change in fair value of interest rate swaps for which no hedge accounting is applied and/or the releases from other comprehensive income.
The hedge accounting ineffectiveness of EUR 3.6 million also relates to the interest rate swaps concluded by the Group to hedge the external
financing with variable interest rates. The ineffectiveness is due to the fact that hedged financing agreements include a floor on the interest rate
while no floor has been included in some interest rate swaps in combination with negative interest in the market.
The cost of borrowing relates to the financing costs which were capitalized in the aggregate amount and the effective interest method is
applied.

(x 1 million euro)

2019

2017-2018

Initial capitalized amount
Senior facilities agreement
Total

43.6
43.6

43.6
43.6

Capitalized amount
Financing costs capitalized as at January 1
Financing costs senior facilities agreement
Amortization
Financing costs capitalized as at December 31

39.0
1.8
(6.1)
34.7

43.6
(4.6)
39.0
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Finance income and costs recognized in other comprehensive income
(x 1 million euro)
Foreign currency translation differences for foreign operations
Effective portion of changes in fair value of cash flow hedges
Tax effect
Net finance income/(costs) recognized in other comprehensive income, net of tax

4.3
(13.3)
1.8
(7.2)

34.9
(7.0)
6.8
34.7

Recognized in:
Translation reserve
Hedging reserve
Net finance income/(costs) recognized in other comprehensive income, net of tax

2.8
(10.0)
(7.2)

39.9
(5.2)
34.7

2019

4.9 Income tax (expense) / benefit
(x 1 million euro)

Note

Current tax expense
Current income tax
Current income tax previous years
Other taxes
Withholding taxes
Deferred tax expenses
Deferred income tax
Deferred income tax previous years
Total income tax (expense) / benefit

4.1

Reconcilliation of effective tax rate
(x 1 million euro)

2019

Result before income tax

(16.1)

Income tax based on the Group's blended tax
rate
Non-deductible operational expenses
Non-deductible interest expenses
Investment allowances
Notional interest deduction
Non-deductible M&A related expenses
Participation related results
Tax rate change impact
(De)recognition (un)recognized deferred tax
assets
Other taxes
Prior period taxes
Movement uncertain tax provision
Other reconciling items
Total income tax (expense) / benefits

2019

2017-2018

2017-2018

(19.0)
5.7
(2.5)
(0.2)
(16.0)

(22.6)
0.3
(1.9)
(0.2)
(24.4)

9.6
6.5
16.1
0.1

28.4
2.0
30.4
6.0

2017-2018

%

%

(61.2)

2.6

16.4%

12.1

19.7%

(1.5)
(2.5)
0.2
0.5
(0.4)
1.7
4.4

(9.3%)
(15.3%)
1.2%
3.2%
(2.6%)
10.7%
27.4%

(1.0)
0.1
1.2
(6.6)
1.6
1.1

(1.6%)
0.0%
0.2%
2.0%
(10.8%)
2.6%
1.8%

(15.5)

(96.4%)

(2.3)

(3.8%)

(2.0)
12.1
0.6
(0.1)
0.1

(12.7%)
75.3%
3.9%
(0.9%)
0.6%

(1.8)
(1.7)
2.9
0.4
6.0

(2.9%)
(2.8%)
4.7%
0.7%
9.8%

The effective tax rate is 0.6%, which is lower than the blended Group tax rate of 16.4%. The effective tax rate is mainly impacted by the nonrecognized DTA’s, non-deductible interest expenses and non-deductible transaction costs related to acquisition for the year.
Furthermore, the non-deductible operational costs in all jurisdictions have a negative impact on the effective tax rate. In addition, other taxes
charged in France and Italy as well as the unrecognized deferred tax assets on tax credits (interest carryforward) resulted in a negative impact
on the effective tax rate. On the positive side, notional interest deduction, investment allowances in several jurisdictions, the rate change
substantially enacted in several jurisdictions and the decrease in uncertain tax provisions have lowered the effective tax rate. Finally, the
effective tax rate is positively impacted by the prior period taxes which are a result of difference between the initial provision and the actual tax
return filed.

Annual Report 2019

79

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

Income tax recognized in other comprehensive income
(x 1 million euro)

2019

Tax on currency translation adjustment
Tax on hedging reserve foreign currency and interest hedge instruments
Tax on actuarial gains and losses in OCI
Total income tax (expense)/benefit in other comprehensive income

2017-2018

(1.5)
4.4
2.9
5.8

5.0
1.0
(0.7)
5.3

Following the adoption of IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments, the company has considered the presentation of uncertain tax
positions in the Consolidated balance sheets. The current presentation under current income tax liabilities represents the correct manner of
recovery which is within one year.
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5

Notes to the consolidated balance sheet
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5.1 Property, plant and equipment
(x 1 million euro)
Cost
January 1, 2019
Adjustment IFRS 16
January 1, 2019 (After adj.)

Note

Acquired through business
combinations
Additions
Reclassifications
Transfer to assets held for sale
Disposals
Correction prior year
Effect of movements in exchange
rates
December 31, 2019

Land and
buildings

Machinery and
equipment

Other fixed assets

Under
construction

439.8
439.8

666.9
(6.1)
660.8

33.5
33.5

85.9
85.9

17.3

22.9

1.5

0.2

1.5
48.2
(2.5)
(20.3)
(12.8)

24.5
110.8
(19.5)
-

2.9
(35.1)
(11.2)
-

8.5

15.8

0.5

479.7

815.3

(7.9)

438.9

610.7

1.6
14.8
(0.5)
(17.1)

143.1
(123.9)
(0.6)
-

Total

1,226.1
(6.1)
1,220.0
41.9
172.0
(2.5)
(51.6)
(12.8)

0.9

25.7

105.6

1,392.7

33.5

51.5

1,134.6

16.2
48.4
(20.9)

1.8
(2.9)

96.4
(63.2)
-

116.0
(0.5)
(40.9)

October 20, 2017
Acquired through business
combinations
Additions
Reclassifications
Transfer to assets held for sale
Disposals
Effect of movements in exchange
rates
December 31, 2018

2.1

12.5

1.1

1.2

16.9

439.8

666.9

33.5

85.9

1,226.1

Depreciation and impairment
losses
January 1, 2019
Adjustment IFRS 16
January 1, 2019 (After adj.)

(17.9)
(17.9)

(66.5)
3.1
(63.4)

(3.0)
(3.0)

-

(87.4)
3.1
(84.3)

(26.2)
(1.8)
(17.7)
2.2
17.0

(132.7)
(3.2)
(0.2)
18.3

(4.5)
(0.7)
17.9
11.2

-

(163.4)
(5.7)
2.2
46.5

(1.1)

(6.6)

(0.2)

-

(7.9)

(45.5)

(187.8)

20.7

-

(212.6)

4.1/4.6

(15.1)

(84.3)

(5.0)

-

(104.4)

4.1/4.6

(2.0)
0.2
-

20.2

2.6

-

(2.0)
0.2
22.6

(1.0)

(2.4)

(0.6)

-

(4.0)

(17.9)

(66.5)

(3.0)

-

(87.4)

434.2
421.9

627.5
600.4

12.8
30.5

Depreciation for the year
Impairment
Reclassification
Transfer to assets held for sale
Disposals
Effect of movements in exchange
rates
December 31, 2019
October 20, 2017
Depreciation for the extended
financial period
Impairment
Transfer to assets held for sale
Disposals
Effect of movements in exchange
rates
December 31, 2018
Carrying amounts
December 31, 2019
December 31, 2018

4.1/4.6
4.1/4.6
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The move on the line item correction prior year concerns an adjustment in fair value step-up of property, plant and equipment in France related
to the PPA for the acquisition of Refresco Group as per March 29, 2018, which has been accounted for within 12 months as from acquisition the
date. Also refer to the adjustment in goodwill in note 5.3.

Impairment losses

Impairment in 2019 relates to the sale of the Dachwig plant in Germany which was sold at a price below its carrying value. Impairment in 2018

related to the announced closing of one plant in the US.

Collateral

Collateral on the land and buildings in Bridgwater in the UK is given for the mortgage loan for an amount of EUR 51.8 million (2017-2018:
EUR 51.1 million).

Reclassification

The reclassification relates to a transfer of amounts to the correct asset classes.

Property, plant and equipment under construction

Property, plant and equipment under construction relates mainly to expansion of production facilities in the Netherlands, France and North
America. After construction is complete, the assets are reclassified to the applicable property, plant and equipment category. The net balance of
reclassifications is related to assets under construction transferred to tangible fixed assets.

The disclosures for property, plant and equipment per unit
(x 1 million euro)

2019

2017-2018

122.7
120.1
129.0
92.8
99.4
189.2
52.9
806.1

126.7
136.3
130.6
70.2
105.9
171.2
56.2
797.1

374.0
1,180.1

341.6
1,138.7

Benelux
Germany
France
Iberia
Italy
UK
Other
Europe

North America
Total Group
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5.2 Right-of-use assets

Set out below are the carrying amounts of right-of-use assets recognised and the movements during the period:

(x 1 million euro)
January 1, 2019
Acquired through business
combinations
Additions
Lease incentives
Disposals
Other
Effect of movements in
exchange rates
December 31, 2019
Depreciation and impairment
losses
January 1, 2019
Depreciation for the year
Disposals
Reclassification
Effect of movements in
exchange rates
December 31, 2019

Note

Buildings &
Warehouses

Machines

Cars & lift trucks

Other

Total

210.7

87.1

27.0

4.9

329.7

17.5

0.6

0.1

-

18.2

75.2
(1.7)
(1.7)
(1.0)

16.1
(0.3)
(2.8)

8.5
(0.8)
-

0.2

0.4

-

299.2

101.1

34.8

5.1

440.2

(33.9)
0.4
-

(3.1)
(22.8)
0.3
0.3

(10.5)
0.6
-

(1.6)
0.1
-

(3.1)
(68.9)
1.4
0.3

(0.1)

(0.2)

0.0

0.0

(0.3)

(33.6)

(25.6)

(9.9)

(1.5)

(70.6)

265.6

75.5

24.9

3.6

369.6

4.1

4.1/4.6

Carrying amounts
December 31, 2019

0.5
(0.2)
-

100.3
(1.7)
(3.0)
(3.8)

(0.1)

0.5

The other movements amounting to EUR 3.8 million mainly concern purchase options exercised. Total cash out for leases as included in the
cash flow statement amounts to EUR 72.2 million and consists of EUR 12.9 million in Payments interest portion leases and EUR 59.3 million in
Payments principal portion leases. The amount of EUR 77.7 million is disclosed in note 5.11. The difference of EUR 5.5 million pertains to lease
incentives and other.
Disclosures on leases can be found in the following notes:
•

Note 4.6 Depreciation, amortization and impairments

•

Note 4.7 Other operating expenses

•

Note 4.8 Net finance costs

•

Note 5.11 Lease liability

Right-of-use assets per unit
(x 1 million euro)
Benelux
Germany
France
Iberia
Italy
UK
Other
Europe

41.3
22.5
54.8
8.9
21.3
70.7
3.0
222.5

North America
Corporate
Total Group

144.6
2.5
369.6

2019
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5.3 Intangible assets
(x 1 million euro)
Cost
January 1, 2019
Acquisitions through
business combinations
Additions
Disposals
Reclassifications
Corrections prior year
Effect of movements in
exchange rates
December 31, 2019
October 20, 2017
Acquisitions through
business combinations
Additions
Disposals
Reclassifications
Effect of movements in
exchange rates
December 31, 2018
Amortization and impairment
losses
January 1, 2019
Amortization for the year
Disposals
Reclassifications
Corrections prior year
Effect of movements in
exchange rates
December 31, 2019
October 20, 2017
Amortization for the extended
financial period
Disposals
Effect of movements in
exchange rates
December 31, 2018

Carrying amounts
December 31, 2019
December 31, 2018

Note

4.1/6.1

4.1

Goodwill

Brands and sales
channels

Other

Under
construction

Total

1,667.5

579.1

14.5

3.3

2,264.4

18.9

0.0

0.3

-

19.2

(0.9)

2.0
1.1

0.6
(0.2)
4.5
-

1.7
(4.5)
-

4.3
(0.2)
0.2

-

9.7

0.4

0.0

10.1

1,685.5

591.9

20.1

0.5

2,298.0

1,667.5

564.7

13.4

1.9

2,247.5

-

-

0.2
(0.6)
0.8

2.2
(0.8)

-

14.4

0.7

-

15.1

1,667.5

579.1

14.5

3.3

2,264.4

-

(33.4)
(44.2)
0.2

(3.3)
(5.8)
0.2
0.0
-

-

(36.7)
(50.0)
0.2
0.2

-

(0.8)

(0.2)

-

(1.0)

-

(78.2)

(9.1)

-

(87.3)

-

(32.4)

(3.9)

-

(36.3)

0.6

-

0.6

-

-

(1.0)

-

(36.7)

4.1/4.6

4.1/4.6

-

-

-

(1.0)

-

(33.4)

(3.3)

513.7
545.7

11.0
11.2

1,685.5
1,667.5

0.5
3.3

2.4
(0.6)
-

2,210.7
2,227.7

The reclassifications relates to assets which were classified as assets under construction in intangible fixed assets. Acquisitions through
business combination refer to acquisitions as disclosed in note 6.1. The corrections prior year are related to the PPA for the acquisition of
Refresco Group as per March 29, 2018 and have been accounted for within 12 months as from acquisition date.

Impairment testing for cash-generating units containing goodwill

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to the cash generating units of the Group. This is the lowest level at which goodwill
is monitored for internal management purposes within the Group.
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The aggregate carrying amounts of goodwill allocated to each unit are as follows:

(x 1 million euro)

2019

2017-2018

Benelux
France
Italy
UK
Finland
Europe

358.2
277.4
77.7
377.1
15.2
1,105.6

357.6
277.0
76.3
358.2
15.0
1,084.1

North America
Total Group

579.9
1,685.5

583.4
1,667.5

The increase in goodwill of UK mainly concerns the additional goodwill arising from the acquisition of Milton Keynes site amounting to
EUR 18.9 million (reference is made to note 6.1). The decrease of goodwill in North America mainly concerns an adjustment on the goodwill
which relates to a non-material error discovered and related to the purchase price allocation done for the acquisition of Cott's Traditional
business in 2018 (reference is made to note 6.1). This is partially offset by an increase of goodwill allocated related to thepurchase price
allocation for the acquisition of Refresco Group which has been accounted for within 12 months as from the acquisition date and the foreign
currency effect. Moves in goodwill allocated to other units relate topurchase price allocation for the acuisition of Refresco Group which has been
accounted for within 12 months as from the acquisition date. No goodwill is allocated to Iberia, Poland and Germany.
The recoverable amounts of the cash-generating units are based on value-in-use calculations. Value in-use was determined by discounting the
future pre-tax cash flows generated from the continuing use of the unit using a pre-tax discount rate and was based on the following key
assumptions:
•

Cash flows were projected based on the current operating results and the 3-year business plan covering the period 2020-2022, which is
approved by the Executive and Supervisory Board. Future cash flows beyond this period were extrapolated using a growth rate which is
based on the growth expectations of the local market. These growth expectations are retrieved from research by independent external
sources. The growth rates are in a range of 1.0% to 2.0% and are considered appropriate taking into account the expected retailer brands
market development. The company takes into account production efficiency improvements, waste reduction and the cost reduction
programs which are anticipated to contribute positively to the future cash flows. Management believes that the 3-year business plan
period is appropriate to the long term nature of the business.

•

A pre-tax discount rate is based on credit risk per country, a weighted average cost of capital applicable to the industry and the applicable
tax rate per cash generating unit.

Pre-tax discount rate (%)

2019

Benelux
France
Italy
UK
Finland
US

6.9
7.6
8.9
7.3
6.7
9.2

2017-2018

9.5
10.7
11.2
9.3
9.4
11.8

The values assigned to the key assumptions represent management’s assessment of future trends in the industry and are based on both
external and internal sources (historical data). The recoverable amounts of the units were determined to be higher than their carrying values for
all cash generating units.

Sensitivity analysis

A sensitivity analysis of a 100 basis points adverse change in key assumptions (lower growth rates or higher discount rates respectively) did not

result in a different outcome of the impairment test for the cash-generating units for which no impairment is recognized.

Other intangible assets per unit

The entity -wide disclosures for brands and sales channels, other and assets under construction are as follows:
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(x 1 million euro)
Benelux
Germany
France
Iberia
Italy
UK
Other
Europe

2019

2017-2018

129.6
0.5
88.5
10.6
86.5
9.8
325.5

141.4
1.0
97.1
0.1
9.6
90.2
10.7
350.1

North America
Corporate
Total Group

199.4
0.3
525.2

210.1
560.2

Note

2019

2017-2018

3.1

11.9
3.0
14.9

12.7
12.7

5.4 Non-current financial assets
(x 1 million euro)

Non-current investments
Deposits and other financial fixed assets
Lease receivables

The exposure to credit, currency and interest rate risks related to other investments is disclosed in note 3.1.1 and 3.1.3.

5.5 Deferred tax assets and liabilities

The deferred tax assets and liabilities are related to the following account balances

(x 1 million euro)
Property, plant and
equipment
Intangible assets
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Loans and borrowings
Derivatives
Employee benefits provision
Other provisions
Current liabilities
Tax loss carry forward
Deferred tax assets /
(liabilities)

Assets

Liabilities
2019

Net

2019

2017-2018

2017-2018

3.3

0.1

(158.1)

(205.1)

(154.8)

(205.0)

6.7
6.8
5.8
8.7
7.3
12.0
3.5
28.3
44.0

1.2
8.0
3.3
9.9
2.7
7.6
7.8
2.7
68.3

(59.7)
(0.2)
(0.1)
(1.2)
0.0
(0.1)
(4.3)
-

(27.4)
(1.4)
(0.2)
(0.1)
(1.4)
-

(53.0)
6.6
5.7
7.5
7.3
12.0
3.4
24.0
44.0

(26.2)
8.0
3.3
8.5
2.5
7.6
7.7
1.3
68.3

126.4

111.6

(223.7)

(235.6)

(97.3)

(124.0)

0.1
(97.4)

0.3
(124.3)

(97.3)

(124.0)

Deferred tax asset
Deferred tax liability
Net deferred income tax
assets / (liabilities)
Deferred other tax liability
Net deferred tax assets /
(liabilities)

2019

2017-2018

(1.6)
(98.9)

(124.0)

On the balance sheet deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when the deferred income taxes relate to the same fiscal authority.
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(x 1 million euro)
Property plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Loans and borrowings
Derivatives
Employee benefits provision
Other provisions
Current liabilities
Tax loss carry-forwards
Deferred tax assets / (liabilities)

(x 1 million euro)
Property plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Loans and borrowings
Derivatives
Employee benefits provision
Other provisions
Current liabilities
Tax loss carry-forwards
Deferred tax assets / (liabilities)

January 1,
2019

Reported in
profit and
loss account

October 20,
2017

Reported in
profit and
loss account

(205.0)
(26.2)
8.0
3.3
8.5
2.5
7.6
7.7
1.3
68.3
(124.0)

-

54.2
(25.4)
(1.5)
2.3
0.0
0.4
1.3
(0.2)
10.5
(25.5)
16.1

Reported in
equity / OCI

Acquired in
business
combinations

Effect of
movement in
exchange
rates

Other
movements

December 31,
2019

Reported in
equity / OCI

Acquired in
business
combinations

Effect of
movement in
exchange
rates

Other
movements

December 31,
2018

(12.2)
0.0
(0.9)
4.4
3.0
12.2
6.5

(27.7)
10.1
2.5
1.2
2.8
(0.2)
0.4
0.7
(16.4)
56.7
30.1

6.9
0.1
(1.3)
(0.1)
3.0
8.6

9.7
(0.5)
(4.2)
5.0

(173.1)
(34.1)
4.5
1.2
(1.2)
2.6
8.7
6.9
8.4
13.2
(162.9)

(1.8)
(0.9)
0.2
0.1
(0.1)
0.0
0.1
0.1
0.0
1.2
(1.1)

(4.2)
(2.2)
0.3
0.1
(0.2)
0.2
2.8
2.3
(0.9)

0.3
0.0
(0.1)
0.0
0.2

0.7
0.8
3.5
(3.9)
1.1

(154.8)
(53.0)
6.6
5.7
7.5
7.3
12.0
3.4
24.0
44.0
(97.3)

(205.0)
(26.2)
8.0
3.3
8.5
2.5
7.6
7.7
1.3
68.3
(124.0)

Tax losses carry-forwards

The Group recognizes deferred tax assets on interest and loss carry forwards to the extent future interest deduction headroom and taxable
profits are expected and can be offset with these available interest and losses carried forward. The total carry forwards (both interest and
losses) amount to EUR 262.9 million (2017-2018: EUR 258.7 million) as at balance sheet date, for which a deferred tax asset is recognized for
EUR 44.0 million (2017-2018: EUR 68.4 million). The deferred tax assets relating to interest and loss carry forwards expire in the following
years:

(x 1 million euro)

2020
2021
After 2021 but not unlimited
Unlimited
Total

Recognized

Unrecognized

2017-2018

8.2
35.8
44.0

1.5
0.9
3.9
14.8
21.1

20.1
49.5
69.6

44.0
21.1

68.4
1.2

2019

2017-2018

219.4
164.4
383.8

231.4
165.5
396.9

Recognized as deferred tax assets
Unrecognized
Unrecognized tax loss carry forwards relate to tax losses that we do not expect to be utilized in the near future.

5.6 Inventories
(x 1 million euro)

Stock of raw materials and consumables
Stock of finished goods

Inventory is shown net of a provision for obsolescence of EUR 34.8 million (2017-2018: EUR 45.1 million).
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5.7 Trade and other receivables
(x 1 million euro)

Trade receivables
Lease receivables
Other receivables, prepayments and accrued income
Other taxes and social security premiums

Note

2019

2017-2018

3.1

461.6
1.3
49.5
12.1
524.5

466.3
53.6
28.2
548.1

The exposure to credit and foreign currency risks related to trade and other receivables is disclosed in note 3.1.1 and 3.1.3. All receivables are
due within 1 year.

5.8 Cash and cash equivalents
(x 1 million euro)
Bank balances
Cash and cash equivalents

Bank overdrafts (included in loans and borrowings)
Cash and cash equivalents in the consolidated cash flow statement

Note

2019

2017-2018

3.2

282.9
282.9

226.3
226.3

5.10
3.1

282.9

(86.6)
139.7

The total restricted cash is EUR 34.7 million (2017-2018: EUR 5.6 million). This includes GBP 20 million reserved for acquisition of Milton
Keynes site on December 31, 2019. All other cash amounts are available for use by the Group.
The exposure to interest rate risk and the sensitivity analysis for financial assets and liabilities are disclosed in note 3.1.3.

5.9 Equity
Share capital

Share capital as at balance sheet date consists of 100 ordinary shares of one class with a nominal value of EUR 0.01 each.

Share premium

As at balance sheet date, the share premium consists of ordinary shares only.

(x 1 million euro)
Share premium as at opening balance
Increase share premium
Share premium as at December 31

2019

2017-2018

882.4
882.4

882.4
882.4

Other reserves

The other reserves consist of translation reserves, hedging reserves and actuarial gains and losses. The translation reserve comprises foreign
currency differences arising from the translation of the financial statements of foreign operations of the Group. The hedging reserve comprises
the effective portion of the cumulative net change in the fair value of cash flow hedging instruments where the hedged transaction has not yet
occurred. Actuarial gains and losses reserve comprises of movement in pension liability due to change in actuarial assumptions.
Within the other reserves the hedge reserve interest rate swaps, hedge reserve FX instruments, hedge reserve commodity swaps and currency
translation reserve are legal reserves.
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The movement of the other reserves is as follows:

(x 1 million euro)
January 1, 2019
Changes in cashflow hedge
Translation results
Employee benefits mutation
Other
OCI minority share
Tax
December 31, 2019
October 20, 2017
Changes in cashflow hedge
Translation results
Employee benefits mutation
Other
OCI minority share
Tax
December 31, 2018

Hedge
reserve
Interest rate
swaps

Hedge
reserve
commodity
swaps

Hedge
reserve FX
instruments

(5.2)
(13.3)
3.3
(15.2)

(9.2)
(4.3)
1.1
(12.4)

(7.0)
1.8
(5.2)

(8.4)
(0.8)
(9.2)

Actuarial
gains and
losses on
pensions

Currency
translation
reserve

0.1
0.1

39.7
4.3
0.0
(1.5)
42.5

-

34.9
(0.2)
5.0
39.7

Other

Total

1.4
(12.0)
0.3
2.9
(7.4)

(6.5)
(6.5)

20.2
(17.5)
4.3
(12.0)
0.3
5.8
1.1

1.5
0.6
(0.7)
1.4

(6.5)
(6.5)

(15.4)
34.9
1.5
(6.5)
0.4
5.3
20.2

Retained earnings

The move of EUR 1.9 million for the year concerns adjustments in fair value step-ups of inventory and property plant and equityment, as a result
of the completion of the PPA for the acquisition of Refresco Group as per March 29, 2018. This has been accounted for within 12 months as
from acquisition date. Also refer to the adjustment in goodwill as disclosed in note 5.3.

Non controlling interest

The non controlling interests relate to 49% of the shares in North East Retailer Brands LLC (US) and 10% of the shares in Refresco Deutschland

Holding GmbH (Germany).

5.10 Loans and borrowings

The interest-bearing loans and borrowings are recognized at amortized cost. The exposure to interest rate, foreign currency and liquidity risks is
disclosed in note 3.1. The movement of the capitalized finance costs is disclosed in note 4.8.
Non-current

(x 1 million euro)

Syndicated term loan
High Yield bonds
Shareholder loan
Mortgage loan
Other long term loans

Note

2019

2017-2018

3.1

2,149.5
445.0
108.0
14.6
2.4
2,719.5

1,981.9
445.0
100.0
16.5
3.0
2,546.4

(34.7)
2,684.8

(39.0)
2.0
2,509.4

3.1

Capitalized finance costs
Finance lease liabilities

3.2

The movement of the syndicated loan relate to the repayment of Term loans and Senior Notes, which together with the RCF is referred to as
Senior Facilities Agreement dated March 28, 2018. The Group entered into an additonal Senior Facility Agreement of EUR 150.0 million in July
2019. Shareholder loan consist of EUR 100.0 million face value and accumulated interest of EUR 8.0 million.
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The capitalized finance costs relate to transaction costs made for the refinancing in March 2018 for the acquisition of Refresco Group. As from
January 1, 2019, Finance lease liabilities are reported as part of lease liabilities accounted for in accordance with IFRS 16. Reference is made to
note 5.11.
The movement of the syndicated term loan, High Yield bonds and shareholder loan is as follows:

(x 1 million euro)
Opening balance
Business combinations
Proceeds
Repayments long term portion
Interest added to carrying amount
Reclassed to Short term
Translation results
December 31

2019

2,546.4
-

300.0
(156.1)
8.7
(3.4)
23.9

2017-2018

1,812.2
3,029.8
(2,326.1)
(1.7)
32.2

2,719.5

2,546.4

Note

2019

2017-2018

3.1

3.1
3.1

2.8
0.1
0.8
3.7

5.8

3.1

86.6
90.3

Current

(x 1 million euro)
Current portion of mortgage loan
Current portion of other loans
Current portion of finance lease liabilities

Bank overdrafts

The terms and conditions of the outstanding loans and notes are as follows:

(x 1 million euro)
Syndicated term loan
Syndicated term loan
Syndicated term loan
High Yield bonds
Shareholder loan
Capitalized finance costs
Mortgage loan
Other long term loans
Finance lease liabilities
Total interest-bearing
liabilities

Nominal
interest rate
%

Repayment

3M EURIBOR + 3.25%
3M LIBOR + 3.25%
3M LIBOR + 4.0%
6.5%
8.0%

2025
2025
2025
2026
2028

3M GBP LIBOR + 0.75%
1.037%
Various

2026
2024
Various

Currency

EUR
USD
GBP
EUR
EUR
EUR
GBP
EUR
Various

Face value
2019

Carrying
amount 2019

Face value
2017-2018

1,367.0
503.7
228.6
445.0
100.0
(43.6)
38.5
3.8
-

1,367.0
548.0
234.5
445.0
108.0
(34.7)
17.7
2.4
-

1,217.0
503.7
228.6
445.0
100.0
(43.6)
38.5
3.8
12.9

2,643.0

2,687.9

2,505.9

Carrying
amount
2017-2018

1,217.0
542.0
222.9
445.0
100.0
(39.0)
19.3
3.0
2.9

2,513.1

The face value of the syndicated term loan is EUR 2,099.3 million (2017-2018: EUR 1,943.8 million).

Mortgage loan

The Group has a mortgage loan from HSBC Bank Plc for construction of the production site in Bridgwater (UK). The real estate of the production
site in Bridgwater (UK) is pledged as collateral. A fixed quarterly payment of GBP 0.7 million consists of interest of 3 months GBP Libor plus
0.75% plus MLA costs and the remaining part is redemption. The final repayment date of the mortgage is 2036, but with current forward
interest rate the mortgage will be repaid in 2026.

5.11 Lease liability

Set out below are the carrying amounts of lease liabilities and the movements during the period:
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(x 1 million euro)

January 1, 2019
Additions
Asset return / termination of lease
Reclassification
Acquisitions through business combinations
Payment
Interest
Effect of movements in exchange rates
December 31, 2019

Note

2019

3.2

330.6
100.4
(1.5)
0.0
20.7
(77.7)
13.1
0.2
385.8

Non current lease liability
Current lease liability

319.4
66.4

Opening balance includes the lease liabilities previously reported under Finance leases. The maturity of the lease liability has been disclosed in
3.1.2. Total cash out for leases as included in the cash flow statement amounts to EUR 72.2 million and consists of EUR 12.9 million in
Payments interest portion leases and EUR 59.3 million in Payments principal portion leases. The difference of EUR 5.5 million is disclosed in
note 5.2 (lease incentives and other).
Disclosures on leases can be found in the following notes:
•

Note 4.6 Depreciation, amortization and impairments

•

Note 4.7 Other operating expenses

•

Note 4.8 Net finance costs

•

Note 5.2 Right-of-use assets

Lease liability per Unit
(x 1 million euro)
Benelux
Germany
France
Iberia
Italy
UK
Other
Europe

39.6
22.6
54.8
8.2
22.6
74.2
7.5
229.5

North America
Total Group

156.3
385.8

2019

Incremental borrowing rate

The weighted average incremental borrowing rate for the group is 3.7%.

5.12 Employee benefits provision

The Group contributes to a number of defined benefit plans that provide pension benefits to employees upon retirement in the Netherlands,
Belgium, Germany, Italy, UK and in US and jubilee plans in the Netherlands, Germany and France. The amount of the benefits depends on age,
salary and years of service. Furthermore, the Group has an indemnity plan in France.
The amounts recognized for defined benefit plans in the balance sheet are determined as follows:

Annual Report 2019

92

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

December 31, 2019
(x 1 million euro)
Present value of obligation
Fair value of plan assets
Deficit of funded plans
Present value of unfunded obligations
Present value of net obligations

December 31, 2018
(x 1 million euro)
Present value of obligation
Fair value of plan assets
Deficit of funded plans
Present value of unfunded obligations
Present value of net obligations

Pension plan
the
Netherlands

Pension plan
Germany

Pension plan
the
Netherlands

Pension plan
Germany

77.6
(77.1)
0.5
1.1
1.6

66.4
(66.0)
0.4
1.1
1.5

Pension plan
UK

26.5
(5.3)
21.2
15.6
36.8

70.7
(57.1)
13.6
13.6

Pension plan
UK

24.0
(5.3)
18.7
13.8
32.5

59.3
(50.9)
8.4
8.4

Pension plan
Belgium

Pension plan
US

2.2
(1.9)
0.3
0.3

Pension plan
Belgium

Other

5.7
(5.1)
0.6
0.6

Pension plan
US

1.9
(1.7)
0.2
0.2

9.2
9.2

Other

5.1
(4.5)
0.6
0.6

8.1
8.1

Total

182.7
(146.5)
36.2
25.9
62.1

Total

156.7
(128.4)
28.3
23.0
51.3

Plan assets can be detailed as follows:

(x 1 million euro)
Equity instruments
Debt instruments
Assets held by insurance companies
Derivatives
Investment funds
Cash and cash equivalents
Other

2019

2017-2018

11.9
15.3
10.8
2.6
12.4
3.9
89.6
146.5

10.8
13.5
10.0
1.6
11.7
3.5
77.3
128.4

The debt instruments are plan assets with a quoted market price. The pension plan assets do not include the company’s own shares or notes.
The category Other consists of the value of qualifying insurance policies.

Movements in the present value of the defined benefit obligations and plan assets
Note

(x 1 million euro)
Defined benefit obligations as at January 1, 2019

Defined Benefit
obligation

Plan assets

Total

179.7

(128.4)

51.3

0.9
4.2
5.1

(3.2)
0.1
(3.1)

0.9
1.0
0.1
2.0

Return on plan assets
(Gain)/loss from change in demographic assumptions
(Gain)/loss from change in financial assumptions
Experience (gains)/losses
Total remeasurements recognized in OCI

(0.4)
27.1
(0.4)
26.3

(14.3)
(14.3)

(14.3)
(0.4)
27.1
(0.4)
12.0

Benefits paid by the plan
Benefit payments from employer
Employer contributions
Effect of movements in exchange rates
Defined benefit obligations as at December 31, 2019

(4.5)
(1.5)
3.5
208.6

4.5
1.5
(3.9)
(2.8)
(146.5)

(3.9)
0.7
62.1

Current service costs
Interest expense/(income)
Administrative expenses
Cost recognized in income statement

4.5
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Note

(x 1 million euro)
Defined benefit obligations as at October 20, 2017
Current service costs
Interest expense/(income)
Past service cost and gains and losses on settlements
Administrative expenses
Cost recognized in income statement

Defined Benefit
obligation

4.5

Return on plan assets
(Gain)/loss from change in demographic assumptions
(Gain)/loss from change in financial assumptions
Experience (gains)/losses
Total remeasurements recognized in OCI
Benefits paid by the plan
Benefit payments from employer
Employer contributions
Effect of movements in exchange rates
Business combinations
Defined benefit obligations as at December 31, 2018

Plan assets

Total

0.7
3.1
(1.0)
2.8

(2.6)
0.1
(2.5)

0.7
0.5
(1.0)
0.1
0.3

(1.0)
(2.7)
(1.9)
(5.6)

4.1
4.1

4.1
(1.0)
(2.7)
(1.9)
(1.5)

(2.6)
(1.0)
(1.0)
187.1
179.7

2.6
1.0
(2.7)
0.9
(131.8)
(128.4)

(2.7)
(0.1)
55.3
51.3

As at the last valuation date, the present value of the defined benefit obligation was comprised of approximately EUR 22.7 million (2017-2018:
EUR 20.1 million) related to active employees, EUR 121.3 million (2017-2018: 99.5 million) related to deferred members and EUR 64.6 million
(2017-2018: EUR 60.1 million) related to members in retirement.
The amendments to IAS 19 had no impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Group as it did not have any plan amendments,
curtailments, or settlements during the year.

Actuarial assumptions

Principal actuarial assumptions at the reporting date (expressed as weighted averages for the main plans):

December 31, 2019

%

Netherlands Germany
1.3-1.4 1.0-1.4
1.8
1.8
2.5
2.5
n/a
1.8

Discount rate
Inflation
Salary growth rate
Pension growth rate

France
0.4-1.2
1.8
2.3-4.8
n/a

Italy
0.7
1.8
n/a
n/a

UK Belgium
2.1
0.7
2.0-3.4
1.8
n/a
2.8
1.8-4.4
n/a

US
2.8
2.0
n/a
n/a

December 31, 2018
%

Discount rate
Inflation
Salary growth rate
Pension growth rate

Netherlands
2.1
1.8
2.3-3.8
n/a

Germany
1.9
1.8
2.5
1.8

France
2.0
1.8
2.0-5.5
n/a

Italy
1.6
1.8
n/a
n/a

UK
2.8-2.9
2.0-2.5
n/a
3.0-3.3

Belgium
1.6
1.8
2.8
n/a

US
3.8
2.0
n/a
n/a

The assumptions regarding mortality experience are based on actuarial advice and latest available published statistics and mortality tables in
each territory. For the Netherlands this was AG Prognose table 2018, for Germany Heubeck 2018G, for France TF/TH0002, for Italy RG48, for the
UK 105% S2PXA CMI 2017, for Belgium MR-5/FR-5 and for the US RP-2014/MP2019.
The sensitivity of the defined benefit obligation to changes in the weighted principal assumptions is:
December 31, 2019

December 31, 2018

Impact on Defined benefit obligation
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Change in
assumption
%
+0.25
-0.25
+0.25
-0.25
+0.25
-0.25
Increase by 1 year
Decrease by 1 year

Discount rate
Pension growth rate
Salary growth rate
Life expectancy

December 31, 2019

December 31, 2018

(Debit/(Credit)

(Debit/(Credit)

x 1 million euro
9.0
(10.0)
(6.5)
1.9
(0.4)
0.4
(1.7)
2.1

x 1 million euro
7.6
(8.2)
(5.3)
1.9
(0.3)
0.3
(1.5)
1.5

The above sensitivity analyses are based on a change in an assumption while holding all other assumptions constant. In practice, this is
unlikely to occur, and changes in some of the assumptions may be correlated. When calculating the sensitivity of the defined benefit obligation
to significant actuarial assumptions the same method (present value of the defined benefit obligation calculated with the projected unit credit
method at the end of the reporting period) has been applied as when calculating the pension liability recognized within the statement of
financial position.
The Group expects that contributions to the defined benefit plans will be EUR 4.0 million for 2020 (EUR 3.7 million for 2019). The weighted
average duration of the defined benefit obligation is 17.8 years (2017-2018: 17.8 years).
Expected maturity analysis of undiscounted pension and other defined benefits:

(x 1 million euro)

Less than one year

Year 2

Pensions & other

6.2

6.1

Year 3 up to and
including year 5

19.9

Year 6 up to and
including year 10

37.6

Total

69.8

Through its defined benefit pension plans, the Group is exposed to a number of risks, the most significant of which are detailed below:
•

Asset volatility: The plan liabilities are calculated using a discount rate set with reference to corporate bond yields; if plan assets under
perform this yield, this will create a deficit. The plan in the UK holds investments in asset classes, such as equities, which have volatile
market values and while these assets are expected to provide real returns over the long term, the short term volatility can cause additional
funding to be required if deficits emerge.

•

Changes in bond yields: The plan’s liabilities are assessed using market yields on high quality corporate bonds to discount the liabilities.
As the plan holds assets such as equities the value of the assets and liabilities may not move in the same way. A decrease in corporate
bond yields will increase plan liabilities, although this will be partially offset by an increase in the value of the plans’ bond holdings.

•

Inflation risk: Some of the Group pension obligations are linked to inflation, and higher inflation will lead to higher liabilities (although in
most cases, caps on the level of inflationary increases are in place to protect the plan against extreme inflation or inflation increases are
only possible after excessive returns on assets).

•

Life expectancy: The majority of the plans’ obligations are to provide benefits for the life of the member, so increases in life expectancy will
result in an increase in the plans’ liabilities.

•

The Group operates unfunded pension and jubilee plans, where the company meets the benefit payment obligation as it falls due. Future
payments depend on salary developments, changes in life expectancy and turnover rates which might result in fluctuations in cash flows.

Multi-employer plan

The Group's employees participate in three multi-employer defined benefit plans: "Stichting Bedrijfstakpensioenfonds voor de Drankindustrie"

(an industry-wide plan in the Netherlands), Teamsters Canadian Pension Plan Local 1999 (in Canada) and Teamsters Negotiated Pension Plan
Local 688 (in US). These schemes are defined benefit but the Company accounts for the multi-employer plans as if they were defined
contribution. This is due to the fact that pension funds are not able to provide the Company with the required Company-specific information to
allow the assets and liabilities to be separately identified. Every company participating in the multi-employer plans contribute premium
calculated as a percentage of its total pensionable salaries. The Company's pension expense for the multi-employer plan for the fiscal period is
equal to the required contribution for that period. In case of a shortfall (or surplus) the Company has no obligation to pay (or receive) any
supplementary contributions other than possibly higher (lower) future premiums. The pension rights of each employee are based upon the
employee's salary during employment.
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5.13 Other provisions
(x 1 million euro)

Restructuring

Other

Total

January 1, 2019
Business Combinations
Non-cash consideration for strategic partnership, Spain
Provisions made during the year
Provisions used during the year
Effect of movements in exchange rates
December 31, 2019

6.5
0.2
0.6
(6.0)
0.1
1.4

15.3
1.2
24.6
4.1
(2.2)
0.3
43.3

21.8
1.4
24.6
4.7
(8.2)
0.4
44.7

Non-current
Current

1.4

33.9
9.4

33.9
10.8

Restructuring

Other

Total

10.3
5.5
(9.3)
6.5

25.2
(8.2)
(0.4)
(2.3)
(0.2)
1.2
15.3

35.5
(2.7)
(0.4)
(11.6)
(0.2)
1.2
21.8

0.3
6.2

13.7
1.6

14.0
7.8

(x 1 million euro)

October 20, 2017
Business combinations
Provisions made during the extended financial period
Provisions reclassed during the extended financial period
Provisions used during the extended financial period
Provisions reversed during the extended financial period
Effect of movements in exchange rates
December 31, 2018
Non-current
Current

The restructuring provision is mainly related to the closure and sale of Hamburg plant (Germany) and integration of the Cott entities. There are
no significant uncertainties about the amount or timing of outflow of resources.

5.14 Trade and other payables
(x 1 million euro)

Trade accounts payable
Other taxes and social security premiums payable
Other payables, accruals and deferred income

The exposure to liquidity and foreign currency risks on trade and other payables is disclosed in note 3.1.2 and 3.1.3.
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2019

2017-2018

510.8
41.6
262.0
814.4

556.8
50.8
289.4
897.0
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6

Supplementary notes

6.1 Acquisitions of subsidiaries and non-controlling interest
Acquisition of Cott's concentrate manufacturing business Columbus (Georgia, US)

On February 8, 2019, Refresco acquired Cott's concentrate manufacturing business in Columbus, Georgia, US, for a consideration paid of USD
52.4 million. Refresco holds 100% of the voting rights on the shares. This follows our successful acquisition of Cott's bottling business in 2018.
The acquired business includes a research and development facility as well as a beverage concentrate plant. The branded activities were an
additional part of the acquisition which we simultaneously divested for a consideration of USD 40.9 million (EUR 35.8 million) and sold to an
external party, providing continuity to the brand. In the cash flow statement, both the USD 52.4 million and USD 40.9 million are presented
separately in the cash flow statement because these were separate cash flow transactions.As part of this acquisition a pre-existing relationship
was settled representing a value of EUR 9.0 million.

Strategic partnership with PepsiCo in Spain

Refresco entered into a strategic partnership with PepsiCo for the production of part of their beverages volume in Spain. The agreement
includes a 10-year contract for manufacturing activities and the transfer of production at two of manufacturing sites in Spain, located in Seville
and in Tafalla. The two production sites are operated by Refresco Iberia as of November 1, 2019. The 10 year contract is not at market terms and
is considered as non-cash consideration with fair value of EUR 24.6 million.

Acquisition of Milton Keynes (UK) site from Coca-Cola European Partners

Refresco has entered into an agreement to acquire Coca-Cola European Partner’s (CCEP) Milton Keynes manufacturing site in the UK as per
December 31, 2019 for a consideration paid of GBP 25.0 million of which GBP 20.0 million is restricted cash per end of the year, paid on
January 2, 2020 and GBP 5.0 million is deferred to December 1, 2020. The acquisition includes a lease contract of CCEP’s warehouse site in
Northampton and contract manufacturing activities.

Goodwill arising on acquisition
(x 1 million euro)

Columbus,
Georgia; US

Acquisition price paid
Disinvestment of branded activities
Consideration paid in cash

Strategic
partnership, Spain

Milton Keynes, UK

-

-

-

29.3
29.3

(1.6)

-

-

8.3

-

29.3

45.7
(35.8)
9.9

Deferred Payment
Consideration to be paid in cash

-

Less: cash and cash equivalent balances
acquired
(Future) Net movement in cash

Total

45.7
(35.8)
9.9
29.3
29.3
(1.6)
37.6

The settlement of pre-existing relationship relates to a supply agreement signed as part of the acquisition of Cott's Traditional Business in
2018. This favorable agreement was overlooked in 2018 resulting in an immaterial adjustment of approximately EUR 10.0 million in the current
financial statements. Refer to note 5.3 intangible assets for additional information.
The following table summarizes the consideration paid for the acquisitions and the fair value of assets and liabilities acquired at the
acquisition dates (provisional purchase price allocation). If estimates of fair values of assets and liabilities will change materially because
additional information becomes available within 12 months after the acquisitions, the Group will adjust the carrying amounts and adjust the
corresponding goodwill.
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(x 1 million euro)

Columbus,
Georgia; US

Strategic
partnership, Spain

Milton Keynes, UK

November 1,
2019

December 31,
2019

3.7
9.7
0.3

22.2
1.6
-

16.0
6.9
-

41.9
18.2
0.3

Current assets
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Receivables

15.6
3.0
9.4

1.9
1.1
-

0.4
-

17.8
4.1
9.4

Non-current liabilities
Lease Liabilities
Deferred tax liability

(9.3)
-

(0.3)
-

(8.3)
(1.4)

(17.9)
(1.4)

(0.4)
(12.1)
(2.4)
(0.2)

(0.3)
(1.6)
-

(1.9)
(1.2)

(2.6)
(13.7)
(2.4)
(1.4)

February 8,
2019

Values as per
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Right-of-use assets
Intangible assets

Current liabilities
Lease Liabilities
Trade and other payables
Payables
Provisions
Minority interest
Fair value of identifiable net assets acquired

Total

-

-

-

-

17.3

24.6

10.4

52.3

The values of assets, liabilities, and contingent liabilities recognized on acquisition date are their estimated fair values, if applicable, translated
into the respective functional currency of the Group at exchange rates at the dates of acquisitions. The goodwill recognized is expected to be
deductible for income tax. The transaction costs related to the acquisitions are EUR 8.3 million (2017-2018: EUR 79.1 million).

(x 1 million euro)
(Future) Net movement in cash
Non-cash consideration
Settlement pre-existing relationship
Less: fair value of identifiable net assets
acquired
Goodwill arising on acquisition

Columbus,
Georgia; US

Strategic
partnership, Spain

Milton Keynes, UK

Total

24.6
-

29.3
-

37.6
24.6
9.0

17.3

24.6

10.4

52.3

0.0

0.0

18.9

18.9

8.3
9.0

Impact of acquisition on the results of the Group

The results of Columbus are consolidated in the results of Refresco as of February 8, 2019. The revenue for the year ended December 31, 2019
includes EUR 57.9 million in respect of Columbus. The result of the Group for the year ended December 31, 2019 includes a gain of
EUR 0.8 million in respect of Columbus.
The results of the acquired business of Milton Keynes in UK and the strategic partnership in Spain are consolidated in the results of Refresco as
of November 1, 2019 and December 31, 2019, respectively. The revenue and profit for the year ended December 31, 2019 include no
considerable value in respect with the two business combinations. The impact for the full year cannot be disclosed because it is impractical.

6.2 Commitments and contingent liabilities
Operating lease and rental obligations
(x 1 million euro)
Less than one year
Between one and five years
More than five years
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2019

2017-2018

-

72.7
193.8
127.8
394.3

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

The Group leases office buildings, warehouses, machinery and equipment and cars. The lease arrangements do not contain any contingent rent
or any restrictions related to other financing activities of the Group. In 2019 the operating leases are accounted for in accordance with IFRS 16
standard therefore all rental obligations are accounted for as lease liabilities except for low-value leases due to the application of the low-value
lease exemption. Reference is made to note 5.11.

Purchase and investment commitments
(x 1 million euro)

Less than one year

One to five years

35.5
495.2
530.7

28.8
28.8

Less than one year

One to five years

51.8
512.7
564.5

14.7
14.7

Property, plant and equipment
Raw materials, packaging and utilities

(x 1 million euro)
Property, plant and equipment
Raw materials, packaging and utilities

More than five
years

Total 2019

-

35.5
524.0
559.5

More than five
years

Total 2018

-

51.8
527.4
579.2

Contingent liabilities

The total restricted cash is disclosed in note 5.8.
The Group has several facilities for issuing letters of credit and local overdraft facilities for cash pool purposes. As at balance sheet date, there
was EUR 6.4 million (2017-2018: EUR 1.8 million) in open letters of credit.
The Company forms a fiscal unity for income tax purposes with Refresco Group B.V., Sunshine Mid B.V., Refresco Holding B.V., Refresco Europe
B.V., Refresco Benelux B.V., DIS B.V and Refresco Americas B.V. The Company also forms a fiscal unity for VAT purposes with Refresco Group
B.V., Sunshine Mid B.V., Refresco Holding B.V. and Refresco Europe B.V. In accordance with the standard conditions. The Company and the
subsidiaries that are part of the fiscal unity are jointly and individually liable for taxation payable by the fiscal unity.
A limited number of claims have been filed against the Company and Group companies, which the Company disputes. Although the outcome of
these disputes cannot be predicted with any certainty, it is expected – partly on the basis of legal advice – that these will not have any
significant impact on the Company’s financial position.

6.3 Related parties
Identification of related parties

Sunshine Equity B.V. and the subsidiaries included in note 3.1 of the company financial statements are considered to be related parties. Other
identified related parties are senior management of the Group, members of Executive Board and members of the Supervisory Board. The
transactions with these related parties relate primarily to the shareholding and remuneration. Okil Holding 2 B.V. is the management company
of the Executive Board members.

Personnel compensation and transactions with Executive and Supervisory Board Members
Executive Board personnel compensation and transactions
In accordance with the terms of the plan, members of the Executive Board retire at age 67.
Compensation of the Executive Board and Executive Committee members was EUR 6.8 million (2018: EUR 4.7 million) which is as follows:
- Short-term employee benefits - EUR 5.5 million (2018: EUR 4.3 million)
- Post-employment benefits EUR 0.5 million (2018: EUR 0.2 million)
- Other long-term benefits EUR 0.8 million (2018: EUR 0.2 million)
- Termination benefits EUR 0.0 million (2018: EUR 0.0 million)
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- Share-based payments EUR 0.0 million (2018: EUR 0.0 million)
The compensation in 2018 concerns a period of 9 months, April 1 to December 31. Mr. Coert Michielsen was appointed as a member of the
Executive Committee effective April 1, 2019.
As of January 13, 2020, Mr. Dieter Schulz joined Refresco's Executive Committee as COO Europe. The roles and responsibilities of Executive
Board and Executive Committee are presented on page 33.

Supervisory Board compensation and transactions
The remuneration for Supervisory Board members was EUR 0.3 million (2017-2018: EUR 0.2 million).

Transactions with related parties
(x 1 million euro)

Transaction value
2019

Increase of shareholders' equity/financing
BCI
Shareholder loan
Interest on Shareholder loan
Payable to Shareholder
Total

Balance
outstanding
December 31,
2019

Transaction value

Balance
outstanding

2018

December 31, 2018

8.0
6.5
2.2
16.6

0.2
108.0
6.5
2.2
116.8

0.2
100.0
6.0
3.0
109.2

0.2
100.0
6.0
3.0
109.2

-

-

15.2
15.2

-

Receivable
Okil Holding 2 B.V.
Total

Transactions underlying outstanding balances with these related parties are priced on an arm’s length basis and the balances are to be settled
in cash within six months of the reporting date. None of the balances are secured.

6.4 Subsequent events
Acquisition of AZPACK

On January 2, 2020, Refresco announced the acquisition of AZPACK (Arizona Production & Packaging) in Tempe, Arizona, USA, for a
consideration payment of USD 110.0 million. Refresco obtained all the shares outstanding. AZPACK is known for its expertise in manufacturing
complex niche products for branded beverage companies. The acquisition will enable us to service customers better in the Southwestern US
and expand our contract manufacturing business in the important growth categories of energy drinks, sports drinks and value-added waters.
The preliminary accounting for the business combination is expected after the financial statements are issued. Therefore the disclosure of fair
value of assets and liabilities acquired at the acquisition date and goodwill arising from acquisitions has not yet been included in the financial
statements 2019.

Intention to acquire Britvic's juice bottling facilities in France

Refresco has announced the intention to acquire Britvic’s three juice bottling facilities in France, for a consideration to be paid of
EUR 23.5 million. The prospective acquisition is another step forward in our strategy to grow the contract manufacturing side of our business.
Included in the transaction, which is subject to employee consultation and the approval of the French competition authority, are Britvic’s three
bottling facilities in La-Roche-sur-Foron, Château-Thébaud and Nissan-lez-Enserune, related retailer brands business, the Fruité brand and a
long-term contract manufacturing agreement with Britvic for manufacturing their brands Pressade and Fruit Shoot.

Additional financing

On November 15, 2019, Refresco announced the placement of an additional USD 150.0 million add-on to the existing USD Term Loan B in
Refresco Holding B.V.. The funding was completed early January 2020.
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7

Pro-forma financial information

Refresco Group has been consolidated by Sunshine Top B.V. as from acquisition date March 29, 2018. Sunshine Top B.V. has been renamed to
Refresco Group B.V. as per October 2, 2019. To facilitate the comparability of the consolidated income statements, the following pro forma
financial information has been prepared.

7.1 Consolidated income statement - pro forma
Audited
2019

(x 1 million euro)
Revenue
Other income
Raw materials and consumables used
Employee benefits expense
Depreciation, amortization and impairments
Other operating expenses
Operating profit

Unaudited
20181

Audited
20182

Pro forma

3,896.7
1.3
(2,167.2)
(540.9)
(288.0)
(762.0)
139.9

3,737.1
25.7
(2,232.9)
(493.2)
(173.9)
(834.7)
28.1

2,963.6
25.6
(1,767.4)
(382.5)
(142.7)
(652.4)
44.2

0.8
(156.8)
(156.0)

0.4
(160.8)
(160.4)

0.4
(105.8)
(105.4)

Profit/(loss) before income tax
Income tax (expense) / benefit
Profit/(loss)

(16.1)
0.1
(16.0)

(132.3)
25.7
(106.6)

(61.2)
6.0
(55.2)

Profit/(loss) attributable to:
Owners of the Company
Non-controlling interest
Profit/(loss)

(23.3)
7.3
(16.0)

(115.1)
8.5
(106.6)

(62.7)
7.5
(55.2)

Finance income
Finance expense
Net finance costs

1

2

This column includes the unaudited consolidated income statement of Sunshine Top B.V. for the extended period October 20, 2017 till December 31, 2018, including 12 months of
Refresco Group. The results of the acquisition of Cott's bottling activities by Refresco Group are included as from January 30, 2018.
This column includes the audited consolidated income statement of Sunshine Top B.V. for the extended period October 20, 2017 till December 31, 2018
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For the financial period ended December 31

(x 1 million euro)

Note

Profit/(loss) before income tax
Share in results from participation interest after taxation

3.1

Profit/(loss)
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2019

2017-2018

0.0

0.1

(23.3)

(62.8)

(23.3)

(62.7)

Company balance sheet
As at December 31

(Before appropriation of result)

December 31,
2019

December 31, 2018

798.8
108.0
906.8

839.7
100.0
0.3
940.0

6.8
6.8

6.2
0.1
6.3

Total assets

913.6

946.3

Equity
Issued share capital
Share premium
Legal reserves
Retained earnings
Result for the financial period
Total equity attributable to equity holders of the company

882.4
1.1
(60.8)
(23.3)
799.4

882.4
20.2
(62.7)
839.9

108.0
108.0

100.0
100.0

6.2
0.0
6.2

6.1
0.3
6.4

913.6

946.3

(x 1 million euro)

Note

Assets
Financial fixed assets
Loans to group companies
Deferred income tax
Total non-current assets

3.1
3.2

Receivables from group companies
Cash and cash equivalents
Total current assets

3.3

Liabilities
Loans and borrowings
Total non-current liabilities

3.4

Trade and other payables
Current income tax liabilities
Total current liabilities
Total equity and liabilities
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1

General

2

Significant accounting policies

The financial statements of Refresco Group B.V. or ‘the Company’ are included in the consolidated financial statements of the Group.

The Company makes use of the option provided in section 2:362 (8) of the Dutch Civil Code Title 9, Book 2, under which the principles for the
recognition and measurement of assets and liabilities and for determination of the result of the Company financial statements are the same as
those applied for the consolidated financial statements (hereinafter referred to as principles for recognition and measurement). In these
separate financial statements investments in subsidiaries are accounted for using the equity method. The consolidated financial statements
are prepared according to the standards laid down by the International Accounting Standards Board and adopted by the European Union. These
principles are set out in the consolidated financial statements.
Participating interests over which control is exercised are carried on the basis of net asset value. The share in the result of participating
interests represents the Company’s share in the result of these participating interests. To the extent that they are deemed to be unrealized,
results are not recognized on transactions between the Company and its participating interests and mutually between participating interests
themselves. The Company makes use of the option to eliminate intercompany expected credit losses against the book value of loans and
receivables to Group companies, instead of elimination against the investments in group companies.

3

Notes to the company balance sheet and income statement

3.1 Financial fixed assets

Financial fixed assets consist of participating interests in Group companies. The movements in the participating interests in Group companies
were as follows:

(x 1 million euro)

2019

January 1
Share premium contribution
Share in result of participating interests
Reserves
Other
December 31

839.7
(23.3)
(19.1)
1.5
798.8

For details on the category Other, a reference is made to note 5.9 of the consolidated financial statements.
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2017-2018

882.3
(62.8)
20.2
839.7
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Refresco Group B.V. owns directly or indirectly the following subsidiaries as at balance sheet date:

Company

Statutory seat

Consolidated companies
Sunshine Holding B.V. (merged into Sunshine Top B.V., and renamed to
Refresco Group B.V.)
Sunshine Mid B.V.
Sunshine Investments B.V. (merged into Refresco Holding B.V.)
Refresco Holding B.V.
Refresco Europe B.V.
Refresco Americas B.V.
Refresco Benelux B.V.
Refresco N.V.
DIS B.V. (merged into Refresco Benelux B.V.)
Refresco Iberia S.A.
Verwaltungsgesellschaft EMIG mbH
Refresco Deutschland Services & IT GmbH & Co KG
Refresco Deutschland Holding GmbH
Refresco Hamburg GmbH
EMIG GmbH
Refresco Deutschland GmbH
Logico GmbH & Co KG
Refresco Finland Holding O.Y.
Refresco Finland O.Y.
Ferskur France S.A.S.
Refresco France S.A.S.
Pride Foods Ltd.
Quantock Properties Ltd.
Refresco Beverages UK Ltd.
Gerber Emig Group Ltd.
Yorkshire Spring Mineral Water Holdings Ltd.
Yorkshire Spring Mineral Water Company Ltd.
Refresco Financing UK 001 Ltd.
Refresco Financing UK 002 Ltd.
Refresco Drinks UK Ltd. (previous Cott Beverages Ltd.)
Refresco Nelson (Holdings) Ltd.
Refresco Developments Ltd.
Refresco Private Label Ltd.
Cott Retail Brands Netherlands B.V.
Refresco (Nelson) Ltd.
Cooke Bros Holdings Ltd.
Mr. Freeze (Europe) Ltd.
Cooke Bros (Tattenhall) Ltd.
Refresco Ventures Ltd.
Calypso Soft Drinks Ltd.
Jay Juice Ltd.
TT Calco Ltd.
Tip Top Soft Drinks Ltd.

Annual Report 2019

Amsterdam (The
Netherlands)
Amsterdam (The
Netherlands)
Amsterdam (The
Netherlands)
Rotterdam (The
Netherlands)
Rotterdam (The
Netherlands)
Rotterdam (The
Netherlands)
Maarheeze (The
Netherlands)
Ninove (Belgium)
Sittard (The
Netherlands)
Valencia (Spain)
Rellingen
(Germany)
Mönchengladbach
(Germany)
Mönchengladbach
(Germany)
Mönchengladbach
(Germany)
Mönchengladbach
(Germany)
Mönchengladbach
(Germany)
Mönchengladbach
(Germany)
Kuopio (Finland)
Kuopio (Finland)
Marges (France)
Marges (France)
Bridgwater (UK)
Bridgwater (UK)
Bridgwater (UK)
Bridgwater (UK)
Bridgwater (UK)
Bridgwater (UK)
Bridgwater (UK)
Bridgwater (UK)
Kegworth (UK)
Kegworth (UK)
Kegworth (UK)
Kegworth (UK)
Kegworth (UK)
Kegworth (UK)
Kegworth (UK)
Kegworth (UK)
Kegworth (UK)
Kegworth (UK)
Kegworth (UK)
Kegworth (UK)
Kegworth (UK)
Kegworth (UK)
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Note

2019

Ownership interest
2018

Merged

100%

100%

100%

1

Merged

100%

1

100%

100%

1

100%

100%

1

100%

100%

1

100%

100%

100%

100%

1

Merged

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

90%

90%

90%

90%

90%

90%

90%

90%

90%

90%

100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
Liquidated
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%

100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%

1
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Company

Statutory seat

Consolidated companies
Refresco Poland Sp. z o.o.
Refresco Sp. z o.o.
Refresco Italy S.p.A.
Spumador S.p.A.
Recoaro S.p.A. (merged into Refresco Italy SpA)
Refresco US Holding Inc.
Northeast Retailer Brands LLC
Refresco US Inc.
Refresco Beverages US Inc.
Cliffstar LLC
Refresco Beverages LLC
Pri-Pak Inc. (merged into Refresco Beverages US Inc.)
Refresco Canada Inc.
RG Refresco Group Holding SA de CV
RG Refresco Embotelladora Mexico SA de CV
Servicios Gerenciales de Mexico SA de CV (Merged into RG Refresco
Group Holding SA de CV)
Non- consolidated companies

Note

2019

Ownership interest
2018

Kety (Poland)
Kety (Poland)
Cadorago (Italy)
Cadorago (Italy)
Cadorago (Italy)
Tampa, Florida
(US)
Tampa, Florida
(US)
Tampa, Florida
(US)
Tampa, Florida
(US)
Tampa, Florida
(US)
Tampa, Florida
(US)
Tampa, Florida
(US)
Mississauga,
Ontario
(Canada)
Puebla (Mexico)
Ciudad de
Mexico (Mexico)

100%
100%
100%
100%
Merged

100%
100%
100%
100%
100%

100%

100%

51%

51%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

n/a

Merged

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

Puebla (Mexico)

Merged

100%

2

40%

40%

2

20%

20%

2019

2017-2018

100.0
8.0
108.0

100.0
100.0

Calvörde
(Germany)
Cadorago (Italy)

Entsorgungsgesellschaft mbH Neues Land
Genprobio SrL

1) Refresco Group B.V. has issued a 403 liability statement for these companies.
2) The Non-consolidated companies are not material for the financial statements of Refresco Group B.V.

3.2 Loans to Group companies
(x 1 million euro)
January 1
Accumulation by interest
Loans granted
December 31

The loans granted are in euro. Interest charged is based on interest costs of the shareholder loan, as disclosed in note 3.4, with a markup for
handling fee. The interest is accumulated. The maturity is March 26, 2028.

3.3 Equity

For details on equity, a reference is made to note 5.9 of the consolidated financial statements.

3.4 Loans and borrowings
(x 1 million euro)

Non-current liabilities
Shareholder loan

The repayment of the shareholder loan is in euro, the nominal interest rate is 8.0% and maturity is March 26, 2028.
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2019

2017-2018

108.0
108.0

100.0
100.0

Notes to the company financial statements

3.5 Remuneration

For the remuneration to the Executive Board a reference is made to note 6.3 of the consolidated financial statements. The Company does not
employ personnel.

3.6 Independent auditor's fees

With reference to Section 2.382a(1) and (2) of the Dutch Civil Code, the following fees for the financial year have been charged by Ernst & Young
Accountants LLP (EY LLP) and their network inside and outside the Netherlands to the Company, its subsidiaries and other consolidated
entities:

(x 1 million euro)
Statutory audit of financial
statements
Other audit services

EY LLP

2019

Network

Total

EY LLP

Network

2017-2018

Total

(0.6)

(1.6)

(2.2)

(0.5)

(1.3)

(1.8)

(0.6)

(0.2)
(1.8)

(0.2)
(2.4)

0.0
(0.5)

0.0
(1.3)

0.0
(1.8)

3.7 Proposal for appropriation of result

The General Meeting has the authority to allocate the profits determined by adoption of the annual accounts. It is proposed to lower retained
earnings for the net loss incurred for the financial year 2019.
Rotterdam, March 11, 2020

Executive Board and executive committee members
J.H.W. Roelofs – Chief Executive Officer
A.C. Duijzer – Chief Financial Officer
B. Goist – Chief Operating Officer North America
D. Schulz – Chief Operating Officer Europe
V. D. J. Delozière – Chief Commercial Officer
C. M. L. Michielsen – Chief Procurement Officer

Supervisory Board

M.Y. Brown

F.J.M.P. Stévenin
J.A. Pittman
J.F. Remedios
E. Guimaraes
L. Bach
R.J. Golden
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Statutory provision with respect to appropriation of result
The General Meeting has the authority to allocate the profits determined by adoption of the annual accounts.
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Independent auditor’s report
Report on the audit of the financial statements 2019
included in the annual report

Our understanding of the business

Our opinion

Refresco Group B.V. is an independent bottler for retailers and A-

We have audited the financial statements for the year 2019 of
Refresco Group B.V., based in Rotterdam, The Netherlands. The
financial statements include the consolidated financial statements
and the company financial statements.

group audit approach accordingly.

risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether

The accompanying consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the financial position of Refresco Group B.V. as at
31 December 2019 and of its result and its cash flows for 2019 in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as
adopted by the European Union (EU-IFRS) and with Part 9 of Book
2 of the Dutch Civil Code

•

brands. The group is structured in components and we tailored our

We start by determining materiality and identifying and assessing the

In our opinion:
•

Our audit approach

The accompanying company financial statements give a true and
fair view of the financial position of Refresco Group B.V. as at
31 December 2019 and of its result for 2019 in accordance with
Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code

The consolidated financial statements comprise:
•

The consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2019

•

The following statements for 2019: the consolidated income

due to fraud, non-compliance with laws and regulations or error in
order to design audit procedures responsive to those risks, and to
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

Materiality
Materiality
Benchmark

1.0 per cent of consolidated gross margin (2018: 1.5

applied

per cent).

Explanation

Based on our professional judgment we have
considered earnings-based

statement, the consolidated statements of other comprehensive

measures, such as gross margin, as an appropriate

income, changes in equity and cash flows
•

€ 15 million (2018: € 18 million)

benchmark to determine materiality. We believe gross

The notes comprising a summary of the significant accounting

margin is a suitable basis, as gross margin is an

policies and other explanatory information

important measure of the company’s performance.

The company financial statements comprise:
•

The company balance sheet as at 31 December 2019

•

The company income statement for 2019

•

The notes comprising a summary of the accounting policies and
other explanatory information

We have also taken into account misstatements and/or possible
misstatements that in our opinion are material for the users of the
financial statements for qualitative reasons.
We agreed with the Supervisory Board that misstatements in excess of

Basis for our opinion

€ 750,000, which are identified during the audit, would be reported to

Dutch Standards on Auditing. Our responsibilities under those

reported on qualitative grounds.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Dutch law, including the
standards are further described in the Our responsibilities for the

them, as well as smaller misstatements that in our view must be

audit of the financial statements section of our report.

Our focus on fraud and non-compliance with laws and regulations

We are independent of Refresco Group B.V. in accordance with the

Our responsibility

“Wet toezicht accountantsorganisaties” (Wta, Audit firms supervision
act), the “Verordening inzake de onafhankelijkheid van accountants
bij assurance-opdrachten” (ViO, Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants, a regulation with respect to independence) and other
relevant independence regulations in the Netherlands. Furthermore
we have complied with the “Verordening gedrags- en beroepsregels

Although we are not responsible for preventing fraud or noncompliance and cannot be expected to detect non-compliance with all
laws and regulations, it is our responsibility to obtain reasonable
assurance that the financial statements, taken as a whole, are free
from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error.

accountants” (VGBA, Dutch Code of Ethics).

Non-compliance with laws and regulations may result in fines,

We believe the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and

material effect on the financial statements.

litigation or other consequences for the company that may have a

appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Our audit response related to fraud risks

In order to identify and assess the risks of material misstatements of
the financial statements due to fraud, we obtained an understanding
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of the entity and its environment, including the entity’s internal

report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such

control relevant to the audit and in order to design audit procedures

disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.

that are appropriate in the circumstances. As in all of our audits, we
addressed the risk of management override of internal control. We do

Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the

not audit internal control per se for the purpose of expressing an

date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may

opinion on the effectiveness of the company’s internal control.

cause a company to cease to continue as a going concern.

We considered available information and made enquiries of relevant

Scope of the group audit

executives, directors (including internal audit, legal, compliance and

Refresco Group B.V. is at the head of a group of entities. The financial

regional directors) and the Supervisory Board. As part of our process

information of this group is included in the consolidated financial

of identifying fraud risks, we evaluated fraud risk factors with respect

statements of Refresco Group B.V.

to financial reporting fraud and the misappropriation of assets.
Because we are ultimately responsible for the opinion, we are also
In our risk assessment we considered the fraud risk regarding revenue

responsible for directing, supervising and performing the group audit.

recognition, including rebates, discounts & delivery terms.

In this respect we have determined the nature and extent of the audit
procedures to be carried out for group entities. Decisive were the size

We evaluated the design and the implementation of internal controls

and/or the risk profile of the group entities or operations. On this

that mitigate fraud risks. In addition, we performed procedures to

basis, we selected group entities for which an audit or review had to

evaluate key accounting estimates for management bias in particular

be carried out on the complete set of financial information or specific

relating to important judgment areas and significant accounting

items.

estimates as disclosed in Note 2.21 (Use of estimates and judgments)
to the financial statements. We have also used data analysis to

Upon request of the Company, our group audit included all

identify and address high-risk journal entries.

components making up the Refresco Group. We have performed the
audit procedures on the Dutch holding entities ourselves. For the

We incorporated elements of unpredictability in our audit. We

audit work in the other components we used other EY network firms.

considered the outcome of our other audit procedures and evaluated
whether any findings were indicative of fraud or non-compliance. If so,

Based on our assessment of the complete set of financial information

we reevaluate our assessment of fraud risk and its resulting impact on

for each component, we obtained a 100% coverage over the group

our audit procedures.

total assets, 100% of revenues and 99% of net profit.

Our audit response related to risks of non-compliance with laws
and regulations

The group audit team provided detailed instructions to all component

We assessed factors related to the risks of non-compliance with laws

risks of material misstatement, and set out the information required

and regulations that could reasonably be expected to have a material

to be reported back to the group audit team. Based on our risk

effect on the financial statements from our general industry

assessment, we visited component locations in the United States,

experience, through discussions with the management board, reading

United Kingdom and the Netherlands. We had meetings with the

minutes, inspection of internal audit and compliance reports and

component auditors and local management on the audit findings and

performing substantive tests of details of classes of transactions,

financial reporting. We interacted with all component teams where

account balances or disclosures.

appropriate during various stages of the audit and were responsible

auditors, that covered significant audit areas including the relevant

for the scope and direction of the audit process. Any further work
We also inspected lawyers’ letters and correspondence with

deemed necessary by the group audit team was subsequently

regulatory authorities and remained alert to any indication of

performed. The group audit team performed audit procedures with

(suspected) non-compliance throughout the audit. Finally we

respect to certain accounts on the consolidated level, such as the

obtained written representations that all known instances of non-

accounting treatment of acquisitions, implementation of IFRS 16

compliance with laws and regulations have been disclosed to us.

leases and valuation of goodwill.

Going concern

By performing the procedures mentioned above at group entities,
together with additional procedures at group level, we have been able

In order to identify and assess the risks of going concern and to

to obtain sufficient and appropriate audit evidence about the group’s

conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going

financial information to provide an opinion about the consolidated

concern basis of accounting, we consider based on the audit evidence

financial statements.

obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the company’s ability to

Teaming, use of specialists and internal audit

continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
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We ensured that the audit teams both at group and at component

•

levels included the appropriate skills and competences which are

the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related

needed for the audit Refresco Group B.V. We included specialists in
the areas of IT audit, treasury and income tax and have made use of

disclosures made by management
•

Evaluating the overall presentation, structure and content of the

•

Evaluating whether the financial statements represent the

our own experts in the areas of valuations of purchase price
allocation, goodwill and actuaries.

Evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and

financial statements, including the disclosures
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair

General audit procedures

presentation

Our audit further included among others:
•

Performing audit procedures responsive to the risks identified,
and obtaining audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion

Our key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the financial statements. We
have communicated the key audit matters to the Supervisory Board. The key audit matters are not a comprehensive reflection of all matters
discussed.
Following the implementation of IFRS 16, a new key audit matter ’Valuation of Right-of-Use assets and lease liabilities due to IFRS 16’ has been
defined.
These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do
not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
Key audit matter

Our audit approach

Key observations

Measurement of Revenues
Refer to note 2.4 (Revenue from contracts with customers) and note 4.2 (Revenue)
Refresco Group B.V. has sales agreements In our audit, we have applied a mix of control-based audit procedures

We did not identify

with clients which differentiate between

and substantive audit procedures on the revenue and revenue related evidence of material

contract manufacturing and private label

accounts such as cost of goods sold, inventory and rebate accruals.

misstatement in the

businesses. One of the main differences

These procedures, among others, consist of a detailed assessment of

revenue recognized in the

are the delivery terms and applicable

sales contracts, credit notes, detailed data analytical reviews, cut off

year.

rebates. As revenue is recognized based

testing in order to verify that revenue has been recorded in the correct

on these delivery terms and rebates we

year and detailed testing of revenue related rebate accruals. We also

consider this a key audit matter.

tested manual journal entries around year-end to ensure that revenue
journal entries were approved and supported by underlying
documentation.

Valuation of Goodwill
Refer to note 2.11 (Intangible assets; business combinations and goodwill), note 2.13 (Impairment of non-financial assets), note 2.21 (Use of
estimates and judgments; estimated goodwill and impairment of goodwill) and note 5.3 (Intangible assets)
Refresco Group B.V. has a significant

As part of our audit procedures we focused on the assumptions and

Based on our work, we

amount of goodwill on its balance sheet

methodologies used by the Company to evaluate whether the

concur with the Company

amounting to €1,7 billion as per

Company is able to prepare reliable estimates. Given the complexity

that no impairment of

31 December 2019. In accordance with

of the goodwill impairment calculation, we have used an EY valuation

goodwill is required.

EU-IFRS, Refresco Group B.V. is required to specialist to assist us in evaluating the methodology applied and the
perform a goodwill impairment test on an assumptions used.

We consider

annual basis. The goodwill is allocated to

management’s key

six Cash Generating Units (CGUs). Based

The Company uses assumptions with respect to Weighted Average

assumptions,

on the annual goodwill test management Cost of Capital, future market and economic conditions such as

methodologies and

concluded that there is no impairment.

prepared estimates to be

expected inflation rates, economic growth rates, volumes, gross

Annual Report 2019

111

Independent auditor’s report

Other information

Key audit matter

Our audit approach

Key observations

our audit because the assessment

data, the valuation model and the Weighted Average Cost of Capital

range and we assessed

process is complex and requires

we have, among others, compared the data with external data such as the disclosures in the

management judgment, and is based on

expected inflation rates, external market growth expectations and by

assumptions that are affected by

analyzing sensitivities in the Company’s valuation model. With regard being appropriate.

expected future market conditions.

to the sensitivities we specifically focused on the available headroom

These impairment tests are significant to

margin and expenses. In order to assess the reasonability of input

within the acceptable

financial statements as

present in the CGUs and whether a reasonable possible change in
assumptions, such as the discount rate and the growth rate could
cause the carrying amount to exceed its recoverable amount.
Accounting treatment acquisitions
Refer to note 2.11 (Intangible assets; Business combinations and goodwill), note 2.21 (Use of estimates and judgments; Estimated goodwill
and impairment of goodwill), note 5.3 (Intangible assets) and note 6.1 (Acquisition of subsidiaries and non-controlling interest)
In 2019 Refresco Group B.V. completed

We evaluated management’s process and methodology applied

We concur with the

the acquisitions of Cott’s concentrate

related to the purchase price allocation. Given the complexity around

purchase price allocation

business in the US, Milton Keynes in the

this topic, we have used an EY valuation specialist to assist us in

as performed by

UK and two manufacturing sites in Iberia

evaluating the assumptions and methodology.

management. We consider

(PepsiCo). As of 31 December 2019, the

management’s key

Company completed the preliminary

We have tested the allocation against the applicable IFRS standards

assumptions and

acquisition accounting for these

and purchase agreements and assessed whether the correct

estimates used to

acquisitions.

accounting treatment has been applied.

determine the fair values

We focused on these transactions

We have audited the identified fair values of the assets and liabilities

acquired to be within an

because the purchase price allocation

acquired and assessed the valuation assumptions such as discount

acceptable range. We

involves significant management

and growth rates. In addition, we have tested the supporting

assessed the accounting

of assets and liabilities

judgment in determining the assumptions calculations for mathematical accuracy.

for the other elements and

that underlie the initial acquisition

the disclosures in the

accounting and the useful lives

In addition, we have assessed the valuation and accounting of other

associated with the acquired tangible and elements of the transactions.

appropriate.

intangible assets.
We also evaluated the adequacy of the disclosure (note 6.1) of this
acquisition in the financial statements.
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Valuation of Right-of-Use assets and lease liabilities due to IFRS 16
Refer to note 2.20 (New standards and interpretations; IFRS 16), note 5.2 (Right-of-Use assets) and note 5.11 (Lease liability)Accounting
treatment acquisitions
IFRS 16 is effective for annual reporting

We have evaluated the internal control

We consider the right of use

environment and assessed the existence of

assets and lease liabilities to be

periods beginning on or after 1 January

implemented controls.

correctly stated. We assessed the

2019. As a result of this standard leases

We evaluated the completeness and accuracy of

5.11) in the financial statements

the data used to calculate the transition

to be appropriate.

disclosures (note 2.20, 5.2 and

are now being recognized as right of use

adjustments, which included an assessment of
the reasonableness of estimates with respect to

assets with an offset in lease liabilities.

the lease term and the incremental borrowing
rate. We also determined the accuracy of the

The calculation of the amounts being

lease calculations by the lease accounting tool
applied by the Company.

recognized involves complex and
We sampled various items from the opening and
judgmental assumptions (including: Incremental

closing balances, which we reconciled to the

Borrowing Rates, lease term determinations, contract

supporting documentation and recalculated the

termination options, accounting choices). Due to the

initial application adjustment.

implementation of IFRS 16 in 2019 we consider this
topic to be a Key Audit

Furthermore, we reviewed the completeness of
the population of leases by among others an

Matter.

expense analysis on lease costs, review of
contracts entered into or extended in 2020 and a
lease commitment reconciliation.
We also evaluated the adequacy of the
accounting policies applied and described in the
financial statements in note 2.20, 5.2 and 5.11.

Report on other information included in the annual
report
In addition to the financial statements and our auditor’s report

thereon, the annual report contains other information that consists of:
•

The Executive Board report

•

Supervisory Board report

•

Other information as required by Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch

other information:
Is consistent with the financial statements and does not contain
material misstatements
•

statements.

information, including the management board report in accordance
with Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code, other information
required by Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code.

Additional information

Based on the following procedures performed, we conclude that the
•

less than the scope of those performed in our audit of the financial

Management is responsible for the preparation of the other

Civil Code
•

Standard 720. The scope of the procedures performed is substantially

Contains the information as required by Part 9 of Book 2 of the
Dutch Civil Code

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements
Engagement

We were engaged by the Supervisory Board as auditor of Refresco
Group B.V., as of the audit for the year 2014 and have operated as
statutory auditor ever since that date.

We have read the other information. Based on our knowledge and
understanding obtained through our audit of the financial statements
or otherwise, we have considered whether the other information
contains material misstatements. By performing these procedures, we
comply with the requirements of Part 9 of Book 2 and the Dutch
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Description of responsibilities for the financial
statements
Responsibilities of management and the supervisory board for the
financial statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation
of the financial statements in accordance with EU-IFRS and Part 9 of
Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code. Furthermore, management is
responsible for such internal control as management determines is
necessary to enable the preparation of the financial statements that

From the matters communicated with the Supervisory Board, we
determine the key audit matters: those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the financial statements. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, not communicating the matter is in the public
interest.
Rotterdam, 11 March 2020

are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Ernst & Young Accountants LLP

As part of the preparation of the financial statements, management is

Signed by I.H.G. Hengefeld

responsible for assessing the company’s ability to continue as a going
concern. Based on the financial reporting frameworks mentioned,
management should prepare the financial statements using the going
concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to
liquidate the company or to cease operations, or has no realistic
alternative but to do so. Management should disclose events and
circumstances that may cast significant doubt on the company’s
ability to continue as a going concern in the financial statements.
The Supervisory Board is responsible for overseeing the company’s
financial reporting process.

Our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
Our objective is to plan and perform the audit engagement in a

manner that allows us to obtain sufficient and appropriate audit
evidence for our opinion.
Our audit has been performed with a high, but not absolute, level of
assurance, which means we may not detect all material errors and
fraud during our audit.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these financial statements. The materiality affects the nature,
timing and extent of our audit procedures and the evaluation of the
effect of identified misstatements on our opinion.
We have exercised professional judgment and have maintained
professional skepticism throughout the audit, in accordance with
Dutch Standards on Auditing, ethical requirements and independence
requirements. Our audit approach section above includes an
informative summary of our responsibilities and the work performed
as the basis for our opinion.
Communication
We communicate with the Supervisory Board regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant findings in internal control
that we identify during our audit.
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Ten years of Refresco

(x 1 million euro)

20191

20182

2017

2016

2015

2014

2013

2012

2011

2010

Income statements
Revenue

3,896.7 3,737.1 2,268.8 2,107.4 2,016.4 2,036.9 1,587.6 1,538.3 1,523.4 1,223.9

Gross profit margin

1,730.8 1,529.9

992.3

916.0

868.6

850.4

616.8

579.8

574.6

493.4

Gross profit margin %

44.4%

40.9%

43.7%

43.5%

43.1%

41.7%

38.9%

37.7%

37.7%

40.3%

Adjusted EBITDA

448.1

323.3

213.9

222.0

216.2

208.2

139.7

115.5

111.0

125.0

Adjusted EBITDA %

11.5%

8.7%

9.4%

10.5%

10.7%

10.2%

8.8%

7.5%

7.3%

10.2%

EBITDA

427.9

202.0

191.2

216.9

195.0

194.6

24.4

35.1

25.7

61.2

Adjusted EBIT

160.1

149.5

117.6

134.4

131.7

120.4

53.4

43.1

37.5

71.0

Profit / (loss) after income tax

(16.0) (106.6)

53.4

81.5

41.8

38.7

(28.9)

(18.2)

(25.9)

8.8

16.4

70.0

86.4

77.8

46.7

1,180.1 1,138.7

623.7

632.0

526.4

523.5

525.4

391.4

412.0

351.7

306.4

224.8

216.8

206.6

235.4

245.8

152.6

141.1

124.9

2,097.0 1,700.3

644.0

667.1

556.2

560.8

621.3

443.6

469.9

395.4

Adjusted net profit / (loss)

(0.8)

Balance sheets
Property, plant and equipment
Primary working capital

3

Capital employed excluding Goodwill

334.6

Other indicators
Volume in liters (*1,000)
Gross profit margin per liter
Employees in fte’s (year-end)
Return on capital employed based on adjusted
EBIT %
Working capital days
Investments

11,045.510,888.0 7,104.2 6,462.3 6,095.5 5,968.9 5,054.0 4,943.9 4,956.6 3,804.2
15.7

14.0

14.0

14.2

14.2

2
3

12.2

11.7

11.6

13.0

9,202.2 9,114.0 5,097.0 4,917.0 3,934.0 4,011.0 4,704.0 3,009.0 3,092.0 2,750.0
3.8%

2.0%

8.4%

10.9%

11.5%

11.3%

5.6%

6.0%

5.4%

10.2%

31.3

29.9

36.2

37.5

37.4

42.2

37.2

36.2

33.8

37.3

176.3

133.7

84.6

87.7

80.8

82.9

47.8

43.6

41.6

48.2

Figures for 2010-2019 comply with IFRS as adopted by the European Union.
1

14.2

This column includes the figures of Refresco Group B.V. (previous Sunshine Top B.V.)
This column includes the pro forma figures of Sunshine Top B.V., including 12 months of Refresco Group
Primary working capital is comprised of inventories and trade receivables balances less trade accounts payable
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Ten years of Refresco

Additional information

Contact us
HEAD OFFICE

ITALY

REFRESCO GROUP B.V.

Via alla Fonte, 13

Spumador SpA

www.refresco.com

22071 Cadorago

Fascinatio Boulevard 270

Caslino al Piano (CO)

P.O. Box 8665

Italy

3009 AR Rotterdam

T +39 031 886 111

The Netherlands

E info.italy@refresco.com

T +31 10 440 5100
E info@refresco.com

NORTH AMERICA

BENELUX

8112 Woodland Center Blvd.

Refresco Benelux B.V.

Tampa, FL 33614

Oranje Nassaulaan 44

USA

6026 BX Maarheeze

T +1 813 313 800

The Netherlands

E info.us@refresco.com

Refresco North America

T +31 495 596 111
E info.benelux@refresco.com

POLAND

FINLAND

ul. Fabryczna 8

Refresco Finland OY

32-650 Kêty

Suurahontie 1

Poland

70460 Kuopio

T +48 33 845 11 56

Refresco Sp. z o.o.

Finland

UNITED KINGDOM

T +358 17 5858190
E refresco.finland@refresco.com

Refresco Beverages UK Limited

FRANCE

Kegworth, Derby

Refresco France S.A.S.

DE74 2FJ

2885, Route de Pagnons

United Kingdom

26260 Margès

T +44 1509 674915

France

E info.uk@refresco.com

Side Ley

T +33 475 45 4444
E info.france@refresco.com

GERMANY

Refresco Deutschland GmbH
Speicker Straße 2-8
41061 Mönchengladbach
Germany
T +49 21 61 29 410
E info.germany@refresco.com

IBERIA

Refresco Iberia S.A.
Ctra. N-332, Km 206. 9
46780 Oliva (Valencia)
Spain
T +34 96 285 0200
E info@refrescoiberia.com
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our manufacturing locations

benelux

united States

•

Bodegraven

•

Hoensbroek

•

Maarheeze

•

Ninove

•

Sittard

•

Carlisle, OH

•

Columbus, GA

•

Concordville, PA

•

Dunkirk, NY

•

Fontana, CA

•

•

Fort Gibson, OK

•

Erftstadt

•

Fort Worth, TX

•

Grünsfeld

•

Greendale, IN

•

Herrath

•

Greer, SC

•

Joplin, MO

•

Lakeland, FL

•

North East, PA

•

San Antonio, TX

•

San Bernardino, CA

•

Sikeston, MO

•

Springville, UT

•

St. Louis, MO

•

Tampa, FL

•

Tempe, AZ *

•

Walla Walla, WA

•

Wharton, NJ

•

Wilson, NC

germany

france

Calgary, AB

•

Mississauga, ON

•

Pointe-Claire, QC

•

Surrey, BC

•

Le Quesnoy

•

Margès

•

Nuits St. Georges

•

St. Alban

united kingdom

canada

•

Calvörde

•

Bondgate

•

Bridgwater

•

Kegworth

•

Macduff

•

Milton Keynes

•

Nelson

•

Wrexham

iberia

•

Alcolea

•

Marcilla

•

Oliva

•

Sevilla

mexico

•

Tafalla

*as of January 2, 2020

•

Caslino al Piano

•

Recoaro Terme

•

San Carlo Spinone

•

Sulmona

•

Quarona Sesia

•

Puebla, MX

italy

poland
•

Kety

•

Kozietuly

•

Slemien

finland
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Adjusted EBITDA

Operating profit before depreciation, amortization and impairments

Group structure

(=EBITDA), excluding exceptional items related to acquisitions,

Refresco Group B.V.

refinancing and other one-off items.

Adjusted net profit

Net profit excluding the effects of certain exceptional items. Such

Sunshine Mid B.V.

Senior Notes

Refresco Holding B.V.

Term Loan B Facility and
Revolving Credit Facility

adjustments relate primarily to substantial one-off restructurings,
costs relating to acquisitions or disposals, refinancing and related tax

Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries

effects.

Subsidiaries

Capital employed excluding goodwill

Capital employed excluding goodwill is calculated as the total nonEmployee benefits provision.

Forward-looking statements

EBITDA

are deemed to be ‘forward-looking’. The Company’s prospects, plans,

current assets excluding goodwill plus the working capital minus the

Certain statements in this document are not historical facts and are or

Operating profit before depreciation, amortization and impairments.

financial position and business strategy, and statements pertaining to

Great Place to Work

and results of operations, may constitute forward-looking statements.

employee engagement.

the use of forward-looking terminology including, but not limited to;

Gross profit margin per liter

‘will’,‘could’, ‘may’, ‘might’, ‘believe’ or ‘continue’ or the negatives of

This is a methodology process adopted by businesses to measure

the capital resources, future expenditure for development projects
In addition, forward looking statements generally can be identified by
‘may’, ‘expect’, ‘intend’, ‘estimate’, ‘anticipate’, ‘plan’, ‘foresee’,

Gross profit margin per liter produced divided by volume. The gross
margin used for calculation includes freight charges and other cost of

these terms or variations of them or similar terminology. Although the
Company believes that the expectations reflected in these forward-

sales.

looking statements are reasonable, it can give no assurance that

Net debt

statements involve a number of risks, uncertainties and other facts

and cash equivalents.

expressed or implied in these forward-looking statements because

Operating cash flow

not occur in the future and may be beyond the Company’s ability to

as operating income excluding depreciation and amortization,

future performances.

these expectations will prove to be correct. These forward-looking

Defined as long-term borrowings plus short term borrowings less cash

that may cause actual results to be materially different from those
they relate to events and depend on circumstances that may or may

We use operational cash flow to monitor cash generation. It is defined
adjusted for the change in operating working capital and capital

control or predict. Forward- looking statements are not guarantees of

expenditures.

Factors, risk and uncertainties that could cause actual outcomes and

Operating income

not limited to, the following: risks relating to changes in political,

relevant exceptional items.

Group’s products and demand for the Group’s customers’ products;

Refresco

relationship with, and conditions affecting, the Group’s customers;

collectively referred to as Refresco or the Company or the Group.

relating to global economic conditions and the global economic

Volume

this document.

results to be materially different from those projected include, but are

Operating income is defined in accordance with IFRS and includes the

economic and social conditions; future prices and demand for the
future expansion plans and capital expenditures; the Group’s

In this Annual report Refresco Group B.V. and its subsidiaries are

Volume is defined as number of liters sold.

competition; weather conditions or catastrophic damage; and risks
environment. Forward-looking statements speak only as of the date of

The Company expressly disclaims any obligation or undertaking to

Non-IFRS measures are provided because they are closely tracked by
management to evaluate Refresco’s operating performance and to
make financial, strategic and operating decisions.

release, publicly or otherwise, any updates or revisions to any
forward- looking statement contained in this report to reflect any
change in its expectations or any change in events, conditions,
assumptions or circumstances on which any such statement is based
unless so required by applicable law.
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Glossary and forward-looking statements

Refresco Group
www.refresco.com
Fascinatio Boulevard 270
p.o. Box 8665
3009 ar Rotterdam
The Netherlands
t +31 10 440 5100
info@refresco.com

